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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements
Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
 

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

  
June 30,

2024   
December 31,

2023  
  (Unaudited)     
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 43,915   $ 55,516  
Short-term investments – available-for-sale   898,348    306,563  
Prepaid clinical trial and preclinical study costs   3,323   2,624 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   138    2,522 

Total current assets   945,724    367,225  
Right-of-use assets   977    1,126 
Deferred financing costs   105    106  
Deposits   33    33  

Total assets  $ 946,839   $ 368,490  
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 11,090   $ 7,512 
Other accrued liabilities   13,669    11,299  
Lease liability, current   334    324  

Total current liabilities   25,093    19,135  
Lease liability, net of current portion   766    936  

Total long-term liabilities   766    936  
Total liabilities   25,859    20,071  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)       
Stockholders’ equity:       

Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value: 10,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023; no shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2024 and December 
31, 2023   —    —  
Common stock, $0.00001 par value: 300,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2024 
and December 31, 2023; 110,796,200 shares issued and outstanding at  June 30, 2024 
and 100,113,770 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023   1    1  
Treasury stock at cost, no shares at June 30, 2024 and 2,193,251 shares at December 
31, 2023   —    (6,795)
Additional paid-in capital   1,350,801    733,546  
Accumulated deficit   (427,550 )   (377,944 )

Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (2,272)   (389 )
Total stockholders’ equity   920,980    348,419  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 946,839   $ 368,490  

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
 

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

  
Three Months Ended   

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
  2024   2023   2024   2023  
Revenues  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —  
Operating expenses:             

Research and development   23,769    13,917    47,872    24,925  
General and administrative   10,285    9,823   20,255    19,352  

Total operating expenses   34,054    23,740    68,127    44,277  
Loss from operations   (34,054 )   (23,740 )   (68,127 )   (44,277 )
Other income (expense):             

Amortization of financing costs   (18)   (32)   (46)   (60)
Interest income, net   11,820    4,547   18,565    5,581 
Realized gain on investments, net   2    —    2    —  

Total other income, net   11,804    4,515   18,521    5,521 
Net loss   (22,250 )   (19,225 )   (49,606 )   (38,756 )
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:             

Unrealized gain (loss) on securities   (699 )   (417 )   (1,824)   84  
Foreign currency translation gain (loss)   26    (5 )   (59 )   (22)

Comprehensive loss  $ (22,923 )  $ (19,647 )  $ (51,489 )  $ (38,694 )
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.20 )  $ (0.19 )  $ (0.46 )  $ (0.44 )
Weighted-average shares used to compute basic
   and diluted net loss per share   110,390    99,010    106,924    88,738  

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
 

(In thousands, except share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
  Three-Month Period Ended June 30, 2024  

  Common Stock   

Additiona
l

Paid-In   
Accumul

ated   

Accumul
ated 

Other
Compreh

ensive   
Treasury 

Stock     

  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   
Income 
(Loss)   Amount   Total  

Balance at March 31, 2024   
110,228,

869   $ 1   $
1,340,78

9   $ (405,300 )  $ (1,599)  $ —   $ 933,891  
Employee stock-based compensation, net   —    —    7,082   —    —    —    7,082 
Issuance of common stock under employee stock 
plans   567,331    —    2,930   —    —    —    2,930 
Unrealized loss on investments   —    —    —    —    (699 )   —    (699 )
Unrealized currency translation gain   —    —    —    —    26    —    26  
Net loss   —    —    —    (22,250 )   —    —    (22,250 )

Balance at June 30, 2024   
110,796,

200   $ 1   $
1,350,80

1   $ (427,550 )  $ (2,272)  $ —   $ 920,980  

 
  Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2024  

  Common Stock   

Additiona
l

Paid-In   
Accumul

ated   

Accumul
ated 

Other
Compreh

ensive   
Treasury 

Stock     
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Loss   Amount   Total  

Balance at December 31, 2023   
100,113,

770   $ 1   $ 733,546   $ (377,944 )  $ (389 )  $ (6,795)  $ 348,419  
Employee stock-based compensation, net   —    —    15,063    —    —    —    15,063  
Shares withheld related to employee tax withholding   (833,711 )   —    (42,101 )   —    —    —    (42,101 )
Issuance of common stock under employee stock 
plans   

2,648,18
8    —    7,291   —    —    —    7,291 

Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs   
8,867,95

3    —    637,002    —    —    6,795   643,797  
Unrealized loss on investments   —    —    —    —    (1,824)   —    (1,824)
Unrealized currency translation loss   —    —    —    —    (59)   —    (59)
Net loss   —    —    —    (49,606 )   —    —    (49,606 )

Balance at June 30, 2024   
110,796,

200   $ 1   $
1,350,80

1   $ (427,550 )  $ (2,272)  $ -   $ 920,980  

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
 

(In thousands, except share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
  Three-Month Period Ended June 30, 2023  

  Common Stock   

Additiona
l

Paid-In   
Accumul

ated   

Accumul
ated 

Other
Compreh

ensive   
Treasury 

Stock     
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Loss   Amount   Total  

Balance at March 31, 2023   
79,319,0

81   $ 1   $ 453,057   $ (311,580 )  $ (618 )  $ (6,795)  $ 134,065  
Employee stock-based compensation, net  —    —    4,620   —    —    —    4,620 
Shares withheld related to employee tax withholding   (307,781 )   —    (5,408)   —    —    —    (5,408)
Issuance of common stock under employee stock 
plans   

1,189,22
8    —    2,615   —    —    —    2,615 

Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs   
19,828,3

00    —    269,870    —    —    —    269,870  
Unrealized loss on investments   —    —    —    —    (417 )   —    (417 )
Unrealized currency translation loss   —    —    —    —    (5 )   —    (5 )
Net loss   —    —    —    (19,225 )   —    —    (19,225 )

Balance at June 30, 2023
 

 
100,028,

828
  

$ 1
  

$ 724,754
  

$ (330,805
)  

$ (1,040
)  

$ (6,795
)  

$ 386,115
 

 
  Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2023  

  Common Stock   

Additiona
l

Paid-In   
Accumul

ated   

Accumul
ated 

Other
Compreh

ensive   
Treasury 

Stock     

  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   
Income 
(Loss)   Amount   Total  

Balance at December 31, 2022   
78,257,2

58   $ 1   $ 445,267   $ (292,049 )  $ (1,102)  $ (6,795)  $ 145,322  
Employee stock-based compensation, net   —    —    8,189   —    —    —    8,189 
Shares withheld related to employee tax withholding   (509,686 )   —    (7,121)   —    —    —    (7,121)
Issuance of common stock under employee stock 
plans   

2,274,75
2    —    6,580   —    —    —    6,580 

Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs   
20,006,5

04    —    271,839    —    —    —    271,839  
Unrealized gain on investments   —    —    —    —    84    —    84  

Unrealized currency translation loss   —    —    —    —    (22)   —    (22)
Net loss   —    —    —    (38,756 )   —    —    (38,756 )

Balance at June 30, 2023   
100,028,

828   $ 1   $ 724,754   $ (330,805 )  $ (1,040)  $ (6,795)  $ 386,115  

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,
  2024   2023   
Cash flows from operating activities        
Net loss  $ (49,606 )  $ (38,756 )  
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
   activities        

Amortization of investment premiums   (8,257)   (2,355)  
Amortization of financing costs   46    60   
Stock-based compensation   15,063    8,189  
Amortization of right-of-use assets   149    145   
Realized gain on investment   2    —   
Interest expense related to operating lease liability   18    23   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,669   5,093  
Accrued interest, net of interest receivable on maturity of investments   498    176   
Accounts payable   3,577   (2,919)  
Accrued expenses   2,372   (5,561)  
Lease liability   (178 )   (173 )  

Net cash used in operating activities   (34,647 )   (36,078 )  
Cash flows from investing activities        
Purchases of investments   (826,423 )   (301,371 )  
Proceeds from maturities of investments   240,572    99,086   
Net cash used in investing activities   (585,851 )   (202,285 )  
Cash flows from financing activities        
Public offering, net of offering costs   597,094    269,833   
Value of shares withheld related to employee tax withholding   (42,101 )   (7,121)  
Proceeds from option exercises and Employee Stock Purchase Plan common stock 
issuance   7,291   6,581  
ATM offering, net of fees   46,658    1,969  
Net cash provided by financing activities   608,942    271,262   
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (11,556 )   32,899   
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period   55,516    36,632   
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   (45)   (12)  
Cash and cash equivalents end of period  $ 43,915   $ 69,519   
        
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing
   transactions        
Unpaid deferred public offering and other financing costs  $ 75   $ 34   

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company

Viking Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiary (the “Company”), is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on 
the development of novel therapies for metabolic and endocrine disorders. In June of 2021, the Company formed an Australian subsidiary, Viking 
Therapeutics, PTY LTD, so as to be able to take advantage of certain research and development reimbursements available to local Australian based 
research and development companies that choose to do research in Australia.

The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on September 24, 2012 and its principal executive offices are located in San 
Diego, California, with a subsidiary located in Adelaide, Australia.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“GAAP”). The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2024, consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, and consolidated statements of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 are unaudited. 
These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by 
GAAP for complete financial statements. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 
statements and the accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2023 contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by the Company with 
the SEC on February 7, 2024. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual 
consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to 
state fairly the Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2024, the results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
the unaudited consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 and the unaudited 
consolidated statements of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. The December 31, 2023 consolidated balance sheet included 
herein was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements, but it does not include all disclosures or notes required by GAAP for complete 
consolidated financial statements.

The financial data and other information disclosed in these notes to the consolidated financial statements related to the three and six months ended June 
30, 2024 and 2023 are unaudited. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for an entire year.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Significant estimates made in preparing these consolidated financial statements relate to 
accounting for an operating lease and certain commitments. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Investments Available-for-Sale

Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The 
amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. The amortization of premiums and 
accretion of discounts is included in interest income. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary, if any, on 
available-for-sale securities are included in other income (expense). The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and 
dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in interest income.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and 
marketable securities. The Company maintains deposits in federally insured depository institutions in excess of federally insured limits. Management 
believes that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial position of the depository institutions in which those deposits are 
held. Additionally, the Company has established guidelines regarding approved investments and maturities of investments, which are designed to 
maintain safety and liquidity.

Prepaid Clinical Trial and Preclinical Study Costs

Prepaid clinical trial and preclinical study costs represent advance payments by the Company for future clinical trial and preclinical study services to be 
performed by the clinical research organization and other research organizations. Such amounts are recognized as research and development expense 
as the related clinical trial and preclinical study services are performed.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, and lease liability 
obligations are included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the 
lease term and lease liability obligations represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized 
at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As the Company’s leases typically do not provide an 
implicit rate, the Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present 
value of lease payments. The Company uses the implicit rate when readily determinable. The ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and 
excludes lease incentives and lease direct costs. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably 
certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Please refer to Note 4 for 
additional information.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent legal, accounting and other direct costs related to the Company’s efforts to raise capital through a public or private 
sale of the Company’s common stock. Costs related to the public sale of the Company’s common stock are deferred until the completion of the applicable 
offering, at which time such costs are reclassified to additional paid-in-capital as a reduction of the proceeds. Costs related to the private sale of the 
Company’s common stock are deferred until the completion of the applicable offering, at which time such costs are amortized over the term of the 
applicable purchase agreement.

Revenue Recognition

The Company has not recorded any revenues since its inception. However, in the future, the Company may enter into collaborative research and 
licensing agreements, under which the Company could be eligible for payments made in the form of upfront license fees, research funding, cost 
reimbursement, contingent event-based payments and/or royalties.

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers and all related amendments (“ASC 606” or “the revenue standard”). ASC 606 is a single comprehensive model for entities to 
use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-
specific guidance. The revenue standard is based on the principle that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve this 
core principle, ASC 606 provides that an entity should apply the following steps: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (2) identify the performance 
obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract and (5) 
recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The revenue standard also requires additional disclosure about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, and costs to obtain or fulfill contracts. The Company will apply 
ASC 606 prospectively to all contracts.

Research and Development Expenses

All costs of research and development are expensed in the period incurred. Research and development costs primarily consist of fees paid to contract 
research organizations ("CROs") and clinical trial sites, employee and consultant related expenses, which include salaries, benefits and stock-based 
compensation for research and development personnel, external research and development expenses incurred pursuant to agreements with third-party 
manufacturing organizations, facilities costs, travel costs, dues and subscriptions, depreciation and materials used in preclinical studies, clinical trials and 
research and development.
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The Company estimates its preclinical study and clinical trial expenses based on the services it received pursuant to contracts with research institutions 
and CROs that conduct and manage preclinical studies and clinical trials on the Company’s behalf. Clinical trial-related contracts vary significantly in 
length, and may be for a fixed amount based on milestones or deliverables, a variable amount based on actual costs incurred, capped at a certain limit, 
or a combination of these elements. The Company accrues service fees based on work performed, which relies on estimates of total costs incurred 
based on milestones achieved, patient enrollment and other events. The majority of the Company’s service providers invoice the Company in arrears, 
and to the extent that amounts invoiced differ from its estimates of expenses incurred, the Company accrues for additional costs. The financial terms of 
these agreements vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven expenses and payment flows. Preclinical study and clinical trial expenses 
include:

•fees paid to CROs, consultants and laboratories in connection with preclinical studies;

•fees paid to CROs, clinical trial sites, investigators and consultants in connection with clinical trials; and

•fees paid to contract manufacturers and service providers in connection with the production, testing and packaging of active pharmaceutical 
ingredients and drug materials for preclinical studies and clinical trials.

Payments under some of these agreements depend on factors such as the milestones accomplished, including enrollment of certain numbers of patients, 
site initiation and the completion of clinical trial milestones. To date, the Company has not experienced any events requiring it to make material 
adjustments to its accruals for service fees. If the Company does not identify costs that it has begun to incur or if it underestimates or overestimates the 
level of services performed or the costs of these services, its actual expenses could differ from its estimates, which could materially affect its results of 
operations. Adjustments to the Company’s accruals are recorded as changes in estimates become evident. Furthermore, based on amounts invoiced to 
the Company by its service providers, the Company may also record payments made to those providers as prepaid expenses that will be recognized as 
expense in future periods as services are rendered.

Related to the Company’s Australian subsidiary, Viking Therapeutics, PTY LTD, the Company is eligible under the AusIndustry Research and Tax 
Development Tax Incentive Program to receive, and has received, cash payments from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). The tax incentive is 
available to the Company on the basis of specific criteria with which the Company must comply related to research and development expenditures in 
Australia. As there is no specific GAAP guidance related to how to record this research and development tax incentive, the Company looked to 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 20 and determined that it will recognize these research and development tax incentives as contra research and 
development expense once received. The amounts are determined based on a cost-reimbursement basis, and the incentive is related to the Company’s 
research and development expenditures and is due regardless of whether any Australian tax is owed.

Patent Costs

Costs related to filing and pursuing patent applications are expensed as incurred to general and administrative expense, as recoverability of such 
expenditures is uncertain.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company generally uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation cost to reporting periods over each optionee’s requisite service period, 
which is generally the vesting period, and estimates the fair value of stock-based awards or restricted stock units to employees and directors using the 
Black-Scholes option-valuation model (the “Black-Scholes model”). The Black-Scholes model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including 
volatility, the expected term and the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, among other inputs. For restricted stock and 
restricted stock unit awards, the Company generally uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation cost to reporting periods over the holder’s 
requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period, and uses the fair value at grant date to value the awards. For restricted stock that vests 
upon the satisfaction of certain performance conditions, the Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense when it becomes probable that the 
performance conditions will be met. At the grant date, the Company determines the grant date fair value, as a publicly traded company, using the intrinsic 
value, or the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. At the point where the criteria are deemed probable of being met, the 
Company records stock-based compensation with a cumulative catch-up expense in the period first recognized and then on a straight-line basis over the 
remaining period for which the performance criteria are expected to be completed.

For the Company’s 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2014 ESPP”) and 2024 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2024 ESPP”), the Company 
generally recognizes compensation expense for the fair value of the purchase options, as measured on the grant date, and uses the graded vesting 
method to allocate this compensation cost to each purchase period within the related two-year offering period. As the 2014 ESPP previously allowed, and 
2024 ESPP currently allows, for up to one increase in contributions during each purchase period, if an employee elected to increase his or her 
contributions, the Company treated this as an accounting 
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modification. The pre- and post-modification values were calculated on the date of the modification, and the incremental expense is then amortized over 
the remaining purchase periods.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for its income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary 
differences between the basis used for financial reporting and income tax reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided based on the enacted 
tax rates in effect at the time such temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more 
likely than not that the Company will not realize those tax assets through future operations.

FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740-10, Income Taxes, clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to 
be recognized. Income tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial 
reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are 
derecognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.

Foreign Currency

The financial statements of the Company’s foreign subsidiary whose functional currency is the local currency are translated into U.S. dollars for 
consolidation as follows: assets and liabilities at the exchange rate as of the balance sheet date, stockholders’ equity at the historical rates of exchange, 
and income and expense amounts at the average exchange rate for the period. Translation adjustments resulting from the translation of the subsidiaries’ 
accounts are included in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” as equity in the consolidated balance sheet. Transactions denominated in currencies 
other than the applicable functional currency are converted to the functional currency at the exchange rate on the transaction date. At period end, 
monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the functional currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities are remeasured at historical exchange rates. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included within 
“Comprehensive loss” in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. For the three months ended June 30, 2024, foreign currency 
transaction gain amounted to $26,000. For the three months ended June 30, 2023, foreign currency transaction loss amounted to $5,000. For the six 
months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, foreign currency transaction loss amounted to $59,000 and $22,000, respectively.

Comprehensive Loss

The Company’s comprehensive loss consists of net loss and foreign currency translation adjustments arising from the consolidation of the Company’s 
foreign subsidiary.

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss 
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the 
treasury-stock method. For purposes of this calculation, the Company currently does not have any deemed common share equivalents; therefore, its 
basic and diluted net loss per share calculations are the same.
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The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share (in thousands, except share and per share data):

 

  
Three Months Ended June 

30,   Six Months Ended June 30,   
  2024   2023   2024   2023   
Numerator:              

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (22,250 )  $ (19,225 )  $ (49,606 )  $ (38,756 )  
              

Denominator:              

Weighted-average common shares outstanding   
110,573,26

6    99,192,805    
107,106,83

3    88,920,929   
Less: Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase   (183,095 )   (183,095 )   (183,095 )   (183,095 )  

Denominator for basic and diluted net loss per share   
110,390,17

1    99,009,710    
106,923,73

8    88,737,834   
              

Net loss per share:              
Basic and diluted  $ (0.20 )  $ (0.19 )  $ (0.46 )  $ (0.44 )  

 

Potentially dilutive securities that are not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect is anti-dilutive are as follows (in 
common equivalent shares):

 
  As of June 30,  
  2024   2023  
Restricted stock units   2,829,187    2,855,656  
Common stock subject to repurchase   183,095    183,095  
Common stock options   5,115,678    5,161,107  
   8,127,960    8,199,858  

 

Segments

The Company operates in only one segment. Management uses cash flows as the primary measure to manage its business and does not segment its 
business for internal reporting or decision-making purposes.

 

2. Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company’s investment strategy is focused on capital preservation. The Company invests in instruments that meet the credit quality standards 
outlined in the Company’s investment policy. This policy also limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issue or type of instrument. As of each of 
June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company’s investments were in government money market funds, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, 
corporate debt securities and government debt securities. There were no sales of available-for-sale securities during the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2024 or during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Investments classified as available-for-sale as of June 30, 2024 consisted of the following (in thousands):

 

As of June 30, 2024  
Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized
Gains    

Gross
Unrealized
Losses    

Aggregate
Estimated
Fair Value  

Commercial paper   $ 22,286   $ —   $ —   $ 22,286  
Corporate debt securities    647,326    9    (1,554)   645,781  
Government debt securities    230,655    —    (374 )   230,281  
  $ 900,267   $ 9   $ (1,928)  $ 898,348  
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(1)Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included as a component of comprehensive loss. At June 30, 2024, there were 5 
securities in an unrealized gain position and there were 312 securities in an unrealized loss position. The unrealized gains were less than $6,000 
individually and $8,000 in the aggregate. The unrealized losses were less than $57,000 individually and $1.9 million in the aggregate. The Company 
does not intend to sell these investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell these investments before recovery of 
their amortized cost basis, which may be at maturity. The Company reviews its investments to identify and evaluate investments that have an indication 
of possible other-than-temporary impairment. Factors considered in determining whether a loss is other-than-temporary include the length of time and 
extent to which fair value has been less than the cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, and the Company’s intent 
and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value.

(2)At June 30, 2024, none of these securities were classified as cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, and $165.2 
million of the corporate debt securities were scheduled to mature outside of one year at the time of purchase.

Investments classified as available-for-sale as of December 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):

 

As of December 31, 2023  
Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized
Gains    

Gross
Unrealized
Losses    

Aggregate
Estimated
Fair Value  

Commercial paper   $ 24,226   $ —   $ —   $ 24,226  
Corporate debt securities    168,564    148    (128 )   168,584  
Government debt securities    113,871    8    (126 )   113,753  
  $ 306,661   $ 156   $ (254 )  $ 306,563  

 

(1)Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included as a component of comprehensive loss. At December 31, 2023, there were 
49 securities in an unrealized gain position and 115 securities in an unrealized loss position. The unrealized gains were less than $37,000 individually 
and $158,000 in the aggregate. The unrealized losses were less than $23,000 individually and $258,000 in the aggregate. None of these securities have 
been in a continuous unrealized loss or unrealized gain position for more than 12 months. The Company does not intend to sell these investments and it 
is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell these investments before recovery of their amortized cost basis, which may be at 
maturity. The Company reviews its investments to identify and evaluate investments that have an indication of possible other-than-temporary impairment. 
Factors considered in determining whether a loss is other-than-temporary include the length of time and extent to which fair value has been less than the 
cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of 
time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value.

(2)At December 31, 2023, none of these securities were classified as cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and none 
of the corporate debt securities were scheduled to mature outside of one year at the time of purchase.

 

3. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments and accounts payable. The carrying amounts reported in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the short-term 
maturity of those instruments. Fair value measurements are classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 —Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially 
the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 —Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 
liabilities.
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As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, all of the Company’s financial assets that were subject to fair value measurements were valued using 
observable inputs. The Company’s financial assets valued based on Level 1 inputs consist of money market funds. The Company’s financial assets 
valued based on Level 2 inputs consist of certificates of deposit, commercial paper, corporate debt securities and government debt securities, which 
consist of investments in highly rated investment-grade corporations.

The Company’s investment strategy is focused on capital preservation. The Company invests in instruments that meet the credit quality standards 
outlined in the Company’s investment policy. This policy also limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issue or type of instrument. As of June 30, 
2024, the Company’s investments were in government money market funds, commercial paper, corporate debt securities and government debt 
securities.

The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are presented below (in thousands):

 
     Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2024  
  Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Financial assets carried at fair value:             

Cash equivalents:  $ 29,045   $ 24,856   $ 4,189  $ —  
Short-term investments             

Commercial paper, available-for-sale   22,286    —    22,286    —  
Corporate debt securities, available-for-sale   645,781    —    645,781    —  
Government debt securities, available-for-sale   230,281    —    230,281    —  

Total financial assets  $ 927,393  $
24,856

  $ 902,537   $ —  

 

     
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 

2023  
  Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Financial assets carried at fair value:             

Cash equivalents:  $ 40,479   $ 16,411   $ 24,068   $ —  
Short-term investments             

Commercial paper, available-for-sale   24,226    —    24,226    —  
Corporate debt securities, available-for-sale   168,584    —    168,584    —  
Government debt securities, available-for-sale   113,753    —    113,753    —  

Total financial assets  $ 347,042  $ 16,411   $ 330,631   $ —  
 

4. Operating Leases – ROU Assets and Lease Liability Obligations

The Company has only one operating lease (the “Office Lease”), which is for office space under a lease that commenced on March 1, 2022 and expires 
on July 31, 2027 (the “Term”). Below is a summary of the Company’s ROU assets and lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in 
thousands, except for years and %):
  June 30, 2024    December 31, 2023   
         
Right-of-use assets  $ 977    $ 1,126  
         
Lease liability obligations, current  $ 334    $ 324   
Lease liability obligations, less current portion   766     936   
Total lease liability obligations  $ 1,100   $ 1,260  
         
Weighted-average remaining lease term  3.08  years    3.58  years   
         
Weighted-average discount rate   3.00  %   3.00  %

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company recognized $85,000 and $171,000 in operating lease expenses, respectively, 
which are included in operating expenses in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
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During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $85,000 and $171,000 in operating lease expenses, respectively, 
which are included in operating expenses in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Approximate future minimum lease payments for the Company’s ROU assets over the remaining lease period as of June 30, 2024 are as follows (in 
thousands):
     
Remainder of 2024  $ 180   
2025   368   
2026   379   
2027   227   
Total minimum lease payments  $ 1,154  
Less: amount representing interest  $ (54)  
Total lease liability obligations  $ 1,100  

The Office Lease provides the Company with an option to extend the term of the Office Lease for a period of five years beyond the Term. If the option is 
exercised, the renewal term will be upon the same terms and conditions as the original Term, except that the base rent will be equal to the prevailing 
market rate as determined pursuant to the terms of the Office Lease. The option to extend the Term was not recognized as part of the Company’s lease 
liability and right-of-use assets.

5. Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.00001 par value per share, with no shares of preferred stock 
outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The Company’s Board of Directors is authorized to designate the terms and conditions of any 
preferred stock the Company may issue without further action by the stockholders of the Company.

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 300,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.00001 par value per share.

In February 2014, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with one of its founders. The agreement provided for the purchase of 
1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price per share of $0.01 in exchange for future services to be rendered to the Company as 
measured by certain performance criteria. The shares were subject to a repurchase option and were to vest in two tranches of 500,000 shares each, 
upon achievement of the performance target or upon a triggering event as defined.

The Company determined that the fair value of the unrecognized expense was $168,000 at February 20, 2014, the grant date. In May 2015, the 
Company repurchased 633,810 of these shares at a purchase price of $0.00001 per share. In connection with the repurchase, the Company entered into 
an amendment to the stock purchase agreement to provide that the remaining 366,190 shares would continue to vest in two tranches of 183,095 shares 
each, upon achievement of the performance target or upon a triggering event as defined. The pro rata grant date fair value of the unrecognized expense 
is $62,000. In October 2015, a triggering event became probable of occurrence and was deemed achieved in October 2016 and 183,095 shares vested 
at that time; therefore, the Company recorded $31,000 of stock-based compensation expense through December 31, 2016. No similar expense was 
recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2024 or 2023. The Company will continue to reassess at each reporting period whether it is probable 
that the performance target will be achieved, and if and when it is deemed probable, the Company will begin to record compensation expense using the 
fair value to determine stock-based compensation expense in its financial statements over the period the Company estimates the performance target will 
actually be achieved.

On July 28, 2021, the Company entered into an At-The-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement (the “ATM Agreement”), with Stifel, Nicolaus & 
Company, Incorporated, Truist Securities, Inc. and H.C. Wainwright & Co. LLC (collectively, the “Agents”), pursuant to which the Company could offer 
and sell, from time to time, through or to the Agents, as sales agent or principal (the “ATM Offering”), shares of the Company’s common stock (the “ATM 
Shares”). Any ATM Shares offered and sold in the ATM Offering were to be issued pursuant to a universal Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 
(File No. 333-258231) (the “2021 Shelf Registration Statement”) and the 424(b) prospectus supplement relating to the ATM Offering dated August 11, 
2021. From its inception through the expiration of the 2021 Shelf Registration Statement in July 2023, 1,587,404 shares of the Company’s common stock 
were sold pursuant to the ATM Offering for aggregate net proceeds to the Company of approximately $13.6 million.

On March 10, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program effective March 18, 2022, whereby the Company could 
purchase up to $50.0 million in shares of its common stock over a period of up to two years (the “Repurchase 
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Program”). The Repurchase Program was to be carried out at the discretion of a committee of the Company’s Board of Directors through open market 
purchases, one or more Rule 10b5-1 trading plans, block trades and in privately negotiated transactions. Through March 18, 2024, the termination date 
of the Repurchase Program, an aggregate of 729,034 shares of the Company’s common stock were repurchased by the Company under the 
Repurchase Program. Shares repurchased by the Company under the Repurchase Program were held in treasury and reissued by the Company as part 
of the March 2024 Offering (as defined below).

On April 3, 2023, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of its common stock (the “April 2023 Offering”) pursuant to the 2021 Shelf 
Registration Statement. In the April 2023 Offering, the Company sold an aggregate of 19,828,300 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of 
$14.50 per share, which included the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase 2,586,300 additional shares of common stock. Upon 
the closing of the April 2023 Offering, the Company received net proceeds of $270.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and 
other offering expenses. 

On July 26, 2023, the Company filed an automatic universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-273460) as a well-known seasoned 
issuer as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which became effective upon filing (the “2023 Shelf Registration 
Statement”). The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement allows the Company to offer an indeterminate amount of securities, including equity securities, debt 
securities, warrants, rights, units and depositary shares, from time to time as described in the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement. The specific terms of 
any offering under the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement will be established at the time of such offering. The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement will 
expire on July 26, 2026.

On July 26, 2023, the Company entered into an Amendment No. 1 to At-The-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement (the “ATM Agreement 
Amendment”) with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, Truist Securities, Inc., H.C. Wainwright & Co. LLC and BTIG, LLC. Pursuant to the ATM 
Agreement Amendment, BTIG, LLC was added as a sales agent for the ATM Offering and the ATM Agreement was amended to provide that the ATM 
Offering could be conducted off of registration statements on Form S-3 subsequently filed by the Company. Any ATM Shares offered and sold in the ATM 
Offering will now be issued pursuant to the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement and the prospectus relating to the ATM Offering, dated July 26, 2023, that 
was included in the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement (the “ATM Prospectus”). The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement will expire on July 26, 2026. From 
the date of the ATM Prospectus through June 30, 2024, 1,426,303 shares of the Company’s common stock were sold pursuant to the ATM Offering and, 
as of June 30, 2024, the Company may sell shares of its common stock for remaining gross proceeds of up to $151.9 million from time to time pursuant to 
the ATM Prospectus.

On March 4, 2024, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of its common stock (the “March 2024 Offering”) pursuant to the 2023 Shelf 
Registration Statement. In the March 2024 Offering, the Company sold an aggregate of 7,441,650 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of 
$85.00 per share, which included the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase 970,650 additional shares of common stock. Of the 
shares sold, 2,193,251 were issued out of the Company’s treasury shares. Upon the closing of the March 2024 Offering, the Company received net 
proceeds of $597.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses.

During the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company issued 166,816 and 95,357 shares of its common stock pursuant to the 2014 ESPP, 
respectively.

6. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company generally uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation cost to reporting periods over each optionee’s requisite service period, 
which is generally the vesting period, and estimates the fair value of stock-based awards or restricted stock units to employees and directors using the 
Black-Scholes option-valuation model. The Black-Scholes model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including volatility, the expected term and 
the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, among other inputs. For restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards, the 
Company generally uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation cost to reporting periods over the holder’s requisite service period, which is 
generally the vesting period, and uses the fair value at grant date to value the awards. For restricted stock that vests upon the satisfaction of certain 
performance conditions, the Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense when it becomes probable that the performance conditions will be 
met. At the grant date, the Company determines the grant date fair value, as a publicly traded company, using the intrinsic value, or the closing price of 
its common stock on the date of grant. At the point where the criteria are deemed probable of being met, the Company records stock-based 
compensation with a cumulative catch-up expense in the period first recognized and then on a straight-line basis over the remaining period for which the 
performance criteria are expected to be completed.

For the 2014 ESPP and 2024 ESPP, the Company generally recognizes compensation expense for the fair value of the purchase options, as measured 
on the grant date, and uses the graded vesting method to allocate this compensation cost to each purchase period within the related two-year offering 
period. As the 2014 ESPP previously allowed, and the 2024 ESPP currently allows, for up to one increase in contributions during each purchase period, 
then as an employee elects to increase their contributions, the Company treats this as an accounting modification. The pre- and post-modification values 
are calculated on the date of the modification, and the incremental expense is then amortized over the remaining purchase periods.

13



 

2014 Plan. The Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) provided that the compensation committee of the Company’s Board of Directors 
(the “Compensation Committee”) could grant or issue stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted stock units and unrestricted 
shares, deferred share units, performance and cash-settled awards and dividend equivalent rights to participants under the 2014 Plan. Initially, a total of 
1,527,770 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provided that the number of 
shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan would, unless otherwise determined by the Company’s Board of Directors or the Compensation 
Committee, be automatically increased on January 1 of each year commencing on January 1, 2016 and ended on (and including) January 1, 2024, in an 
amount equal to 3.5% of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year. The 
shares of common stock deliverable pursuant to awards under the 2014 Plan are authorized but unissued shares of the Company’s common stock, or 
shares of the Company’s common stock that the Company otherwise holds in treasury or in trust. The 2014 Plan provided that any shares of the 
Company’s common stock underlying awards that are settled in cash or otherwise expire, or are forfeited, terminated or cancelled (including pursuant to 
an exchange program established by the Compensation Committee) prior to the issuance of stock would again be available for issuance under the 2014 
Plan. In addition, shares of the Company’s common stock that are withheld (or not issued) in payment of the exercise price or taxes relating to an award, 
and shares of the Company’s common stock equal to the number surrendered in payment of any exercise price or withholding taxes relating to an award, 
would again be available for issuance under the 2014 Plan. As of December 31, 2023, there were 5,939,750 shares of the Company’s common stock 
available for issuance and, effective January 1, 2024, an additional 3,503,981 shares of the Company’s common stock were added to the number of 
shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan in accordance with the terms of the 2014 Plan.

2024 Plan. On May 21, 2024, the Company’s stockholders approved the Viking Therapeutics, Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2024 Plan”), which 
replaces the 2014 Plan. No further awards have been or will be made under the 2014 Plan since May 21, 2024. The number of shares of common stock 
initially authorized for issuance pursuant to the 2024 Plan is equal to (a) 12,000,000 shares of common stock, plus (b) up to a maximum of 7,674,614 
shares of common stock subject to outstanding stock options or other equity awards previously granted under the 2014 Plan that will become available 
for future issuance under the 2024 Plan to the extent that, after May 21, 2024, any such equity award terminates or expires prior to exercise or 
settlement, is not issued because the award is settled in cash, is forfeited because of the failure to vest or is reacquired or withheld (or not issued) to 
satisfy a tax withholding obligation or the purchase or exercise price.

2014 ESPP. Initially, a total of 458,331 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2014 ESPP. The 2014 ESPP 
provided that the number of shares available for issuance under the 2014 ESPP would, unless otherwise determined by the Company’s Board of 
Directors or the Compensation Committee, be automatically increased on January 1 of each year commencing on January 1, 2016 and ended on (and 
including) January 1, 2024, in an amount equal to 1% of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 31 of the 
preceding calendar year. The shares of common stock available for purchase pursuant to the 2014 ESPP were authorized but unissued shares of the 
Company’s common stock, shares of the Company’s common stock that the Company otherwise held in treasury or shares of the Company’s common 
stock that were purchased on the open market in arms’ length transactions in accordance with applicable securities laws. Shares of the Company’s 
common stock were offered for purchase under the 2014 ESPP as determined by the Compensation Committee through a series of successive offerings 
that each had a term of 24 months and consisted of four consecutive purchase periods of six months each. As of December 31, 2023, there were 
4,251,444 shares of the Company’s common stock available for issuance and, effective January 1, 2024, an additional 1,001,137 shares of the 
Company’s common stock were added to the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 ESPP in accordance with the terms of the 2014 
ESPP. On May 20, 2024, 166,816 shares of the Company’s common stock were purchased by participants of the 2014 ESPP. 
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2024 ESPP. On May 21, 2024, the Company’s stockholders approved the Viking Therapeutics, Inc. 2024 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2024 
ESPP”), which replaces the 2014 ESPP. No further shares have been or will be issued to participants under the 2014 ESPP since May 21, 2024. The 
maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued under the 2024 ESPP will not exceed 5,500,000 shares for issuance 
pursuant to purchases under the 2024 ESPP. The shares of common stock available for purchase pursuant to the 2024 ESPP are authorized but 
unissued shares of the Company’s common stock, shares of the Company’s common stock that the Company otherwise held in treasury or shares of the 
Company’s common stock that are purchased on the open market in arms’ length transactions in accordance with applicable securities laws. Shares of 
the Company’s common stock will be offered for purchase under the 2024 ESPP as determined by the Compensation Committee through a series of 
successive offerings that each had a term of 24 months and consisted of four consecutive purchase periods of six months each. Prior to the 
commencement of any future offering under the 2024 ESPP, the Compensation Committee may determine that the current offering shall end, may 
commence a new offering on the first day after the end of such terminal purchase period (or any desired later date), and may decide that future offerings 
will consist of one or more consecutive purchase periods, each to be of such duration as determined by the Compensation Committee; however, no 
offering will exceed 27 months and no purchase period will exceed one year. Each employee of the Company who (1) is an employee on the first date of 
any offering under the 2024 ESPP, (2) is customarily scheduled to work for more than 20 hours per week and more than five months per calendar year, 
and (3) meets such other criteria as may be determined by the Compensation Committee (consistent with Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended), is eligible to participate in the 2024 ESPP for each purchase period within such offering. The purchase price per share of the 
Company’s common stock under the 2024 ESPP may not be less than, and will initially be equal to, the lesser of: (1) 85% of the fair market value per 
share of the Company’s common stock on the first day of the offering, or (2) 85% of the fair market value per share of the Company’s common stock on 
the date the purchase right is exercised, which will be the last day of the applicable purchase period. 

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized the following stock-based compensation expense (in 
thousands):

 

  
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30,   
For the Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
  2024   2023   2024   2023  
Stock-based compensation expense by type of award:             
Stock options  $ 2,253  $ 1,624  $ 4,681  $ 2,991 
Restricted stock and restricted stock units   4,383   2,472   9,439   4,552 
Employee stock purchase plan   446    524    943    646  
Total stock-based compensation expense included
   in expenses  $ 7,082  $ 4,620  $ 15,063   $ 8,189 
Stock-based compensation expense by line item:             
Research and development expenses  $ 1,894  $ 1,498  $ 4,047  $ 2,426 
General and administrative expenses   5,189   3,122   11,017    5,763 
Total stock-based compensation expense included
   in expenses  $ 7,082  $ 4,620  $ 15,063   $ 8,189 

 

The following table sets forth the Company’s unrecognized stock-based compensation expense by type of award and the weighted-average period over 
which that expense is expected to be recognized (in thousands, except for years):

 
  As of June 30, 2024  

  

Unrecognized
Expense,

Net of
Estimated
Forfeitures   

Weighted-
average

Recognition
Period

(in years)  
       
Type of award:       
Stock options  $ 19,175    2.82  
Restricted stock and restricted stock units  $ 21,635    1.73  
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The following table is a summary of restricted stock activity during the six months ended June 30, 2024:

 

  
Shares of 

Restricted Stock   

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2023   183,095   $ 0.17  
Granted   —   $ —  
Vested   —   $ —  
Forfeited   —   $ —  
Repurchased   —   $ —  

Unvested at June 30, 2024   183,095   $ 0.17  

 

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity during the six months ended June 30, 2024:

 

  

Shares Subject to 
Restricted Stock 

Units   

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2023   2,855,656   $ 7.32  
Granted   1,310,533   $ 17.40  
Vested   (1,259,168 )  $ 7.27  
Forfeited   —   $ —  
Cancelled   (77,834 )  $ 7.77  

Unvested at June 30, 2024   2,829,187   $ 12.00  

 

The Company issues performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSU awards”). These awards are issued to certain of its employees and the shares 
subject to these PRSU awards will vest upon the Company achieving certain milestones over a four-year period, with any then-unvested portion of the 
PRSU awards to be cancelled on the four-year anniversary of the applicable grant date. At the grant date, the Company determines the grant date fair 
value, as a publicly traded company, using the intrinsic value, or the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. At the point 
where the criteria are deemed probable of being met, the Company records stock-based compensation with a cumulative catch-up expense in the period 
first recognized and then on a straight-line basis over the remaining period for which the performance criteria are expected to be completed.

In January 2020, the Company issued 244,000 PRSU awards to several of its employees, which are reflected in the above table summarizing restricted 
stock unit activity. The shares subject to these PRSU awards vested upon the Company achieving certain milestones, with 100% of the shares subject to 
the PRSU awards vesting upon the achievement of three of the milestones over a four-year period, with any then-unvested portion of the PRSU awards 
to be cancelled on the four-year anniversary of the grant date. As of January 4, 2024, the date of cancellation, 77,834 PRSU awards were cancelled, 
10,500 PRSU awards had been forfeited, and two of the milestones had been met, resulting in the Company recording cumulative stock-based 
compensation expense of $1.2 million.

In January 2021, the Company issued 205,500 PRSU awards to several of its employees, which are reflected in the above table summarizing restricted 
stock unit activity. The shares subject to these PRSU awards shall vest upon the Company achieving certain milestones, with 100% of the shares subject 
to the PRSU awards vesting upon the achievement of three of the milestones over a four-year period and 133.3% of the shares subject to the PRSU 
awards vesting upon the achievement of all four milestones over a four-year period, with any then-unvested portion of the PRSU awards to be cancelled 
on the four-year anniversary of the grant date. As of June 30, 2024, 10,000 PRSU awards had been forfeited, one of the four milestones had been met 
and one of the four milestones were deemed probable of achievement, resulting in the Company recording cumulative stock-based compensation 
expense of $700,000 through June 30, 2024 and stock-based compensation expense of $(239,000) during the six months ended June 30, 2024.

In January 2022, the Company issued 657,000 PRSU awards to several of its employees, which are reflected in the above table summarizing restricted 
stock unit activity. The shares subject to these PRSU awards shall vest upon the Company achieving certain milestones, with 100% of the shares subject 
to the PRSU awards vesting upon the achievement of three of the milestones over a four-
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year period and 133.3% of the shares subject to the PRSU awards vesting upon the achievement of all four milestones over a four-year period, with any 
then-unvested portion of the PRSU awards to be cancelled on the four-year anniversary of the grant date. As of June 30, 2024, no PRSU awards had 
been forfeited, three of the four milestones had been met and the remaining one was deemed improbable of achievement, resulting in the Company 
recording cumulative stock-based compensation expense of $3.2 million through June 30, 2024 and stock-based compensation expense of $(709,000) 
during the six months ended June 30, 2024.

In January 2023, the Company issued 920,000 PRSU awards to several of its employees, which are reflected in the above table summarizing restricted 
stock unit activity. The shares subject to these PRSU awards shall vest upon the Company achieving certain milestones, with 100% of the shares subject 
to the PRSU awards vesting upon the achievement of three of the milestones over a four-year period and 133.3% of the shares subject to the PRSU 
awards vesting upon the achievement of all four milestones over a four-year period, with any then-unvested portion of the PRSU awards to be cancelled 
on the four-year anniversary of the grant date. As of June 30, 2024, no PRSU awards had been forfeited, two of the four milestones had been met and 
the remaining two were deemed probable of achievement, resulting in the Company recording cumulative stock-based compensation expense of $7.5 
million through June 30, 2024 and stock-based compensation expense of $2.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024.

In January 2024, the Company issued 677,500 PRSU awards to several of its employees, which are reflected in the above table summarizing restricted 
stock unit activity. The shares subject to these PRSU awards shall vest upon the Company achieving certain milestones, with 100% of the shares subject 
to the PRSU awards vesting upon the achievement of three of the milestones over a four-year period and 133.3% of the shares subject to the PRSU 
awards vesting upon the achievement of all four milestones over a four-year period, with any then-unvested portion of the PRSU awards to be cancelled 
on the four-year anniversary of the grant date. As of June 30, 2024, no PRSU awards had been forfeited and all of the milestones were deemed probable 
of achievement, resulting in the Company recording stock-based compensation expense of $5.6 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024.

The following table summarizes stock option activity during the six months ended June 30, 2024:

 

  

Shares 
Subject to 

Stock 
Options   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in 
years)   

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value  
Options outstanding at December 31, 2023   5,248,682   $ 6.79    7.10    62,210,000  

Granted   1,089,200   $ 18.42        
Exercised   (1,222,204 )  $ 5.64        
Forfeited   —   $ —        
Cancelled   —   $ —        

Options outstanding at June 30, 2024   5,115,678   $ 9.54    7.52    222,822,641  
Options exercisable at June 30, 2024   2,260,658   $ 6.88    6.14    104,387,353  

The Company received $7.3 million and $6.6 million in cash proceeds from option exercises and ESPP common stock issuance during the six months 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Compensation cost for stock options granted to employees is based on the estimated grant date fair value and is recognized ratably over the vesting 
period of the applicable option. The estimated per share weighted average fair value of stock options granted to employees during the six months ended 
June 30, 2024 was $13.44.

As stock-based compensation expense recognized is based on options ultimately expected to vest, the fair value of each employee option grant during 
the six months ended June 30, 2024 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted average 
assumptions:

 
  Six Months Ended June 30, 2024   
Expected volatility   83.0  %
Expected term (in years)   6.13   
Risk-free interest rate   3.88  %
Expected dividend yield  0  %

 
17



 

Expected Volatility. The expected volatility rate used to value stock option grants is based on the volatility of the Company’s historical share prices.

Expected Term. The Company elected to utilize the “simplified” method for “plain vanilla” options to value stock option grants. Under this approach, the 
weighted-average expected life is presumed to be the average of the vesting term and the contractual term of the option.

Risk-free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate assumption was based on zero-coupon U.S. Treasury instruments that had terms consistent with the 
expected term of the Company’s stock option grants.

Expected Dividend Yield. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends and does not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future.

Forfeitures are accounted for as actual forfeitures occur.

Since the Company had a net operating loss carryforward as of June 30, 2024, no excess tax benefits for the tax deductions related to stock-based 
awards were recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

On November 15, 2021, the Company entered into the Office Lease with One Pacific Heights LLC. The Office Lease is for approximately 7,940 rentable 
square feet of space located at 9920 Pacific Heights Blvd, Suite 350, San Diego, California 92121 (the “Premises”). The Premises are now the 
Company’s corporate headquarters.

Monthly base rent payments due under the Office Lease for the Premises are $28,187, subject to annual increases of 3.0% during the Term. Under the 
Office Lease, the Company is responsible for certain charges for common area maintenance and other costs, including utility expenses and the Office 
Lease provides for abatement of rent during certain periods and escalating rent payments throughout the Term.

The Office Lease provides the Company with an option to extend the term of the Office Lease for a period of five years beyond the Term. If the option is 
exercised, the renewal term will be upon the same terms and conditions as the original Term, except that the base rent will be equal to the prevailing 
market rate as determined pursuant to the terms of the Office Lease.

8. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated all subsequent events through the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the SEC, to ensure that this 
filing includes appropriate disclosure of events both recognized in the consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2024, and events which occurred 
subsequent to June 30, 2024, but were not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has determined that there were no 
subsequent events which required recognition, adjustment to or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” as defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in connection with the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve 
risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially and adversely 
from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements include estimates of our expenses, future 
revenue, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing; statements regarding our ability to develop, acquire and advance drug candidates 
into, and successfully complete, clinical trials and preclinical studies; statements concerning new product candidates; risks and uncertainties associated 
with our research and development activities, including our clinical trials and preclinical studies; our expectations regarding the potential market size and 
the size of the patient populations for our drug candidates, if approved for commercial use, and our ability to serve such markets; statements regarding 
our ability to maintain and establish collaborations or obtain additional funding; statements regarding developments and projections relating to our 
competitors and our industry and other matters that do not relate strictly to historical facts or statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. 
These statements are often identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may” or “will,” 
the negative versions of these terms and similar expressions or variations. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our 
management based on information currently available to management. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other 
factors that could cause actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially and adversely from future results expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below, and those 
discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our other Securities and Exchange 
Commission, or SEC, filings. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We 
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of such statements.

Throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Viking,” “we,” “us” and “our” in this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q refer to Viking Therapeutics, Inc. and its subsidiary.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the development of novel, first-in-class or best-in-class therapies for metabolic and 
endocrine disorders.

In January 2022, we announced the initiation of a Phase 1 single ascending dose, or SAD, and multiple ascending dose, or MAD, clinical trial of VK2735, 
a novel dual agonist of the glucagon-like peptide 1, or GLP-1, and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, or GIP, receptors. VK2735 is in 
development for the potential treatment of various metabolic disorders.

On March 28, 2023, we announced the completion of the Phase 1 trial. The study was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, SAD and MAD 
study in healthy adults. The primary objectives of the study included evaluation of the safety and tolerability of single and multiple doses of VK2735 
delivered subcutaneously and the identification of VK2735 doses suitable for further clinical development. Study investigators also evaluated the 
pharmacokinetics of single and multiple doses of VK2735. Based upon the results from this Phase 1 study, in September 2023, we initiated the 
VENTURE study, a Phase 2 clinical trial of VK2735 in patients with obesity.

The Phase 2 VENTURE study is a randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled study to evaluate the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and weight 
loss efficacy of VK2735, administered subcutaneously, once weekly. The 13-week study will enroll adults who are obese (BMI >= 30 kg/m2) or adults who 
are overweight (BMI >= 27kg/m2) with at least one weight-related co-morbidity condition. The primary endpoint of the study is the percent change in body 
weight from baseline to week 13, with secondary and exploratory endpoints evaluating a range of additional safety and efficacy measures. In October 
2023, we announced completion of patient enrollment in the Phase 2 VENTURE study and on February 27, 2024, we announced that patients receiving 
weekly doses of VK2735 demonstrated statistically significant reductions in mean body weight after 13 weeks, ranging up to 14.7% from baseline. 
Patients receiving VK2735 also demonstrated statistically significant reductions in mean body weight relative to placebo, ranging up to 13.1%.

On March 28, 2023, we announced the initiation of a Phase 1 clinical study to evaluate a novel oral formulation of VK2735. The study, which is an 
extension of our recently completed Phase 1 evaluation of subcutaneously administered VK2735, is evaluating daily oral doses for 28 days. On March 
26, 2024, we announced that the 28-day MAD study results highlighted positive signs of clinical activity following treatment with oral VK2735. Cohorts 
receiving VK2735 demonstrated dose-dependent reductions in mean body weight from baseline, ranging up to 5.3%. Cohorts receiving VK2735 also 
demonstrated reductions in mean body weight relative to placebo, ranging up to 3.3%. Based on these Phase 1 results, we plan to initiate a Phase 2 trial 
with the oral formulation of VK2735 in obesity later in 2024.
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Our most advanced clinical program's drug candidate, VK2809, is an orally available, tissue and receptor-subtype selective agonist of the thyroid 
hormone receptor beta, or TRß. In November 2019, we initiated the VOYAGE study, a Phase 2b clinical trial of VK2809 in patients with biopsy-confirmed 
non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASH.

The VOYAGE study is a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter trial designed to assess the efficacy, safety and tolerability of VK2809 
in patients with biopsy-confirmed NASH and fibrosis ranging from stages F1 to F3. The primary endpoint of the study will evaluate the relative change in 
liver fat content, as assessed by magnetic resonance imaging, proton density fat fraction, or MRI-PDFF, from baseline to week 12 in subjects treated with 
VK2809 as compared to placebo. Secondary objectives include evaluation of histologic changes assessed by hepatic biopsy after 52 weeks of dosing.

In January 2023, we announced completion of patient enrollment in the VOYAGE study and in May 2023 we reported that the VOYAGE study 
successfully achieved its primary endpoint, with patients receiving VK2809 experiencing statistically significant reductions in liver fat content from 
baseline to Week 12 as compared to placebo. Results from the biopsy after 52 weeks of dosing are expected to be available in the first half of 2024.

In June 2024, we announced positive 52-week histologic data from the VOYAGE study with up to 75% of patients treated with VK2809 achieving NASH 
resolution with no worsening of fibrosis as compared to 29% for placebo (p=0.0001), up to 57% of VK2809-treated patients achieving ≥1-stage 
improvement in fibrosis with no worsening of NASH as compared to 34% for placebo (p<0.05) and up to 48% of VK2809-treated patients achieving both 
resolution of NASH and a ≥1-stage improvement in fibrosis as compared to 20% for placebo (p=0.01). Adverse events, including GI-related adverse 
events were similar among VK2809-treated patients vs. placebo at week 52 and consistent with prior data reported at week 12.

VK2809 has been evaluated in eight completed clinical studies, which enrolled more than 400 subjects. No serious adverse events, or SAEs, have been 
observed in subjects receiving VK2809 in these completed studies, and overall tolerability remains encouraging. In addition, the compound has been 
evaluated in chronic toxicity studies of up to 12 months in duration.

We are also developing VK0214, which is also an orally available, tissue and receptor-subtype selective agonist of TRß for X-linked 
adrenoleukodystrophy, or X-ALD, a rare X-linked, inherited neurological disorder characterized by a breakdown in the protective barriers surrounding 
brain and nerve cells. The disease, for which there is no approved treatment, is caused by mutations in a peroxisomal transporter of very long chain fatty 
acids, or VLCFA, known as ABCD1. As a result, transporter function is impaired and patients are unable to efficiently metabolize VLCFA. The TRß 
receptor is known to regulate expression of an alternative VLCFA transporter, known as ABCD2. Various preclinical models have demonstrated that 
increased expression of ABCD2 can lead to normalization of VLCFA metabolism. Preliminary data suggest that VK0214 stimulates ABCD2 expression in 
an in vitro model and reduces VLCFA levels in an in vivo model of X-ALD.

In June 2021, we initiated a Phase 1b clinical trial of VK0214 in patients with X-ALD. This trial is a multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-
controlled study in adult male patients with the adrenomyeloneuropathy, or AMN, form of X-ALD. The study is initially targeting enrollment across three 
cohorts: placebo, VK0214 20 mg daily, and VK0214 40 mg daily. Pending a blinded review of preliminary safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetic data, 
additional dosing cohorts may be pursued. Results from Phase 1b study are expected mid-year in 2024. 

The primary objective of the study is to evaluate the safety and tolerability of VK0214 administered once-daily over a 28-day dosing period. Secondary 
and exploratory objectives include an evaluation of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of VK0214 following 28 days of dosing in this 
population.

Other clinical programs include VK5211, an orally available, non-steroidal selective androgen receptor modulator, or SARM. In November 2017, we 
announced positive top-line results from a Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trial in 108 patients recovering from non-elective hip fracture surgery. Top-
line data showed that the trial achieved its primary endpoint, demonstrating statistically significant, dose dependent increases in lean body mass, less 
head, following treatment with VK5211 as compared to placebo. The study also achieved certain secondary endpoints, demonstrating statistically 
significant increases in appendicular lean body mass and total lean body mass for all doses of VK5211, compared to placebo. VK5211 demonstrated 
encouraging safety and tolerability in this study, with no drug-related SAEs reported. Our intent is to continue to pursue partnering or licensing 
opportunities for VK5211 prior to conducting additional clinical studies.

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on September 24, 2012. Since our incorporation, we have devoted most of our efforts 
towards conducting certain clinical trials and preclinical studies related to our VK2735, VK2809, VK0214, VK5211 and the dual amylin and calcitonin 
receptor agonist programs and towards raising capital and building infrastructure. We obtained exclusive worldwide rights to VK2809, VK0214 and 
VK5211 and certain other assets pursuant to an exclusive license agreement with Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, or Ligand. The terms of this 
license agreement are detailed in the Master License Agreement with Ligand, which we entered into on May 21, 2014, as amended, or the Master 
License Agreement. A summary of the Master 
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License Agreement can be found under the heading “Agreements with Ligand—Master License Agreement” under Part I, “Item 1. Business” of our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 7, 2024.

Financial Operations Overview

Revenues

To date, we have not generated any revenue. We do not expect to receive any revenue from any drug candidates that we develop unless and 
until we obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialize, our drug candidates or enter into collaborative agreements with third parties.

Research and Development Expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred $63.8 million in research and development expense primarily related to our efforts in conducting 
the VK2735 Phase 2 VENTURE clinical trial, the VK2735 Phase 1 clinical trial, VK2809 Phase 2b VOYAGE clinical trial and the VK0214 Phase 1b 
clinical trial. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, we incurred $47.9 million to research and development expense primarily related to our efforts 
in continuing our Phase 1 SAD and MAD clinical trial of VK2735 for the treatment of various metabolic disorders, our efforts in preparing for the 
commencement of a Phase 3 clinical trial for subcutaneous VK2735 in obesity later this year, our efforts in concluding the VK2809 Phase 2b VOYAGE 
clinical trial and our efforts related to our Phase 1b clinical trial of VK0214 in patients with X-ALD. We expect that our ongoing research and development 
expenses will consist of costs incurred for the development of our drug candidates, including, but not limited to:

•employee- and consultant-related expenses, which will include salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation, and certain consultant fees and 
travel expenses;

•expenses incurred under agreements with investigative sites and CROs, which will conduct a substantial portion of our research and 
development activities, including studies in obesity, NASH and X-ALD, on our behalf;

•payments to third-party manufacturers, which will produce our active pharmaceutical ingredients and finished drug products;

•license fees paid to third parties for use of their intellectual property; and

•facilities, depreciation and other allocated expenses, which will include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and 
equipment, depreciation of leasehold improvements, equipment and laboratory and other supplies.

We expense all research and development costs as incurred.

The process of conducting the necessary clinical research to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time-consuming and the successful development 
of our drug candidates is highly uncertain. Our future research and development expenses will depend on the clinical success of each of our drug 
candidates, as well as ongoing assessments of the commercial potential of such drug candidates. In addition, we cannot forecast with any degree of 
certainty which drug candidates may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what degree such 
arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements. We expect to incur increased research and development expenses in the 
future as we continue our efforts towards advancing our VK2735, VK2809, and VK0214 programs and seek to advance our additional programs.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses have generally increased year-over-year as we have hired additional employees, issued additional equity 
awards, which has resulted in increased stock-based compensation expense, implemented certain systems to increase efficiency, and incurred additional 
costs for insurance, legal and accounting related to operating as a public company. We expect that our general and administrative expenses will continue 
to increase in the future in order to support our expected increase in research and development activities, including increased salaries and other related 
costs, stock-based compensation and consulting fees for executive, finance, accounting and business development functions. We also expect general 
and administrative expenses to increase as a result of additional costs associated with being a public company, including expenses related to continued 
compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, additional insurance expenses, investor relations activities and 
other administration and professional services. Other significant costs are expected to include legal fees relating to patent and corporate matters, facility 
costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses, and fees for accounting and other consulting services.
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Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) includes interest income earned from our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have 
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. On 
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments related to our preclinical, nonclinical and clinical development costs and drug manufacturing 
costs, which we consider to be critical accounting estimates. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe 
are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 and Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Research and Development Expenses

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except % 
change).

 

  
Three Months Ended June 

30,   
$

Change   
%

Change  
  2024   2023        
Research and development expenses  $ 23,769   $ 13,917   $ 9,852   70.8%

The increase in research and development expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 was 
primarily due to increased expenses related to manufacturing for our drug candidates, clinical studies, pre-clinical studies, salaries and benefits and 
stock-based compensation.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except % 
change).

 

  
Three Months Ended June 

30,   
$

Change   
%

Change  
  2024   2023        
General and administrative expenses  $ 10,285   $ 9,823  $ 462    4.7 %

The increase in general and administrative expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 was 
primarily due to increased expenses related to stock-based compensation and services provided by third-party consultants, partially offset by a decrease 
in expenses related to legal and patent services.

Other income (expense)
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The following table summarizes our other income (expense) for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except % change).

 

  
Three Months Ended June 

30,   
$

Change   
%

Change  
  2024   2023        
Other income (expense)  $ 11,804   $ 4,515  $ 7,289   161.4%

Other income (expense) recognized during the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 consisted primarily of interest income, partially offset by 
expense relating to the amortization of certain financing costs.

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Research and Development Expenses

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except % 
change).

 

  Six Months Ended June 30,   
$

Change   
%

Change  
  2024   2023        
Research and development expenses  $ 47,872   $ 24,925   $ 22,947    92.1%

The increase in research and development expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 was primarily 
due to increased expenses related to manufacturing for our drug candidates, clinical studies, pre-clinical studies, stock-based compensation, salaries and 
benefits, services provided by third-party consultants and regulatory services.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except % 
change).

 

  Six Months Ended June 30,   
$

Change   
%

Change  
  2024   2023        
General and administrative expenses  $ 20,255   $ 19,352   $ 903    4.7 %

The increase in general and administrative expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 was primarily 
due to increased expenses related to stock-based compensation, salaries and benefits and services provided by third-party consultants, partially offset by 
a decrease in expenses related to legal and patent services.

Other income (expense)

The following table summarizes our other income (expense) for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except % change).

  Six Months Ended June 30,   
$

Change   
%

Change  
  2024   2023        
Other income (expense)  $ 18,521   $ 5,521  $ 13,000    235.5%

Other income (expense) recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 consisted primarily of interest income, partially offset by 
expense relating to the amortization of certain financing costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations and have not generated any revenues since our inception. As of June 30, 2024, we 
had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $942.3 million. As such, we believe our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will 
be sufficient to fund our operations through at least September 30, 2025, which is more than one year after the date of our filing of this Form 10-Q.
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Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which to date have consisted of the cost to obtain the license of intellectual property from Ligand, 
certain research and development expenses related to furthering the development of VK2735, VK2809, VK0214 and VK5211, and general and 
administrative expenses. Since we have not generated any revenues to date, we have incurred operating losses since our inception. Cash used to fund 
operating expenses is impacted by the timing of payment of these expenses, as reflected in the change in our outstanding accounts payable and accrued 
expenses.

On July 28, 2021, we entered into an At-The-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement, or the ATM Agreement, with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, 
Incorporated, Truist Securities, Inc. and H.C. Wainwright & Co. LLC, collectively, the Agents, pursuant to which we could offer and sell, from time to time, 
through or to the Agents, as sales agent or principal, or the ATM Offering, shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $125.0 
million, or the ATM Shares. Any ATM Shares offered and sold in the ATM Offering were to be issued pursuant to a universal Shelf Registration Statement 
on Form S-3 (File No. 333-258231), or the 2021 Shelf Registration Statement, and the 424(b) prospectus supplement relating to the ATM Offering dated 
August 11, 2021. From its inception through the expiration of the 2021 Shelf Registration Statement in July 2023, 1,587,404 shares of our common stock 
were sold pursuant to the ATM Offering for aggregate net proceeds to us of approximately $13.6 million.

On April 3, 2023, we completed an underwritten public offering of our common stock, or the April 2023 Offering, pursuant to the 2021 Shelf Registration 
Statement. In the April 2023 Offering, we sold an aggregate of 19,828,300 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $14.50 per share, 
which included the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase 2,586,300 additional shares of common stock. Upon the closing of the 
April 2023 Offering, we received gross proceeds of $287.5 million.

On March 10, 2022, our board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program, or the Repurchase Program, effective March 18, 2022, whereby we 
could purchase up to $50.0 million in shares of our common stock over a period of up to two years. The Repurchase Program was carried out at the 
discretion of a committee of our board of directors through open market purchases, one or more Rule 10b5-1 trading plans, block trades and in privately 
negotiated transactions. Through March 18, 2024, the termination date of the Repurchase Program, we repurchased an aggregate of 729,034 shares of 
our common stock under the Repurchase Program. Shares repurchased by us under the Repurchase Program were held in treasury and reissued by us 
as part of the March 2024 Offering (as defined below). 

On July 26, 2023, we filed an automatic universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-273460) as a well-known seasoned issuer as 
defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which became effective upon filing, or the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement. The 
2023 Shelf Registration Statement allows us to offer an indeterminate amount of securities, including equity securities, debt securities, warrants, rights, 
units and depositary shares, from time to time as described in the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement. The specific terms of any offering under the 2023 
Shelf Registration Statement will be established at the time of such offering. The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement will expire on July 26, 2026.

On July 26, 2023, we entered into an Amendment No. 1 to At-The-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement, or the ATM Agreement Amendment, with 
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, Truist Securities, Inc., H.C. Wainwright & Co. LLC and BTIG, LLC. Pursuant to the ATM Agreement 
Amendment, BTIG, LLC was added as a sales agent for the ATM Offering and the ATM Agreement was amended to provide that the ATM Offering could 
be conducted off of registration statements on Form S-3 subsequently filed by us. Any ATM Shares offered and sold in the ATM Offering will now be 
issued pursuant to the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement and the prospectus relating to the ATM Offering, dated July 26, 2023, that was included in the 
2023 Shelf Registration Statement, or the ATM Prospectus. The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement will expire on July 26, 2026. From the date of the 
ATM Prospectus through June 30, 2024, 1,426,303 shares of our common stock were sold pursuant to the ATM Offering and, as of June 30, 2024, we 
may sell shares of our common stock for remaining gross proceeds of up to $151.9 million from time to time pursuant to the ATM Prospectus.

On March 4, 2024, we completed an underwritten public offering of our common stock, or the March 2024 Offering, pursuant to the 2023 Shelf 
Registration Statement. In the March 2024 Offering, we sold an aggregate of 7,441,650 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $85.00 
per share, which included the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase 970,650 additional shares of common stock. Upon the 
closing of the March 2024 Offering, we received net proceeds of $597.1 million.

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated below (in thousands):

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2024   2023  
Cash used in operating activities  $ (34,647 )  $ (36,078 )
Cash used in investing activities  $ (585,851 )  $ (202,285 )
Cash provided by financing activities  $ 608,942   $ 271,262  
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Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, cash used in operating activities of $34.6 million primarily reflected our net losses for the period, adjusted by 
non-cash charges such as stock-based compensation, amortization of investment premiums, accrued expenses, prepaid expenses and other assets, 
amortization of right-of-use assets, amortization of financing costs, and interest expense related to operating lease liabilities as well as changes in our 
working capital accounts, primarily consisting of an increase in accrued interest, net of interest received on maturity of investments, partially offset by a 
decrease in amortization of investment premiums and decreases in accounts payable and lease liability.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, cash used in operating activities of $36.1 million primarily reflected our net losses for the period, adjusted by 
non-cash charges such as stock-based compensation, amortization of investment premiums, amortization of right-of-use assets, amortization of financing 
costs, and interest expense related to operating lease liabilities as well as changes in our working capital accounts, primarily consisting of an increase in 
accrued interest, net of interest received on maturity of investments, partially offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets and decreases in 
accounts payable, accrued expenses and lease liability.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, cash used in investing activities of $585.9 million resulted primarily from the purchase of investments of 
$826.4 million, partially offset by the proceeds of maturities of investments of $240.6 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, cash used in investing activities of $202.3 million resulted primarily from the purchase of investments of 
$301.4 million, partially offset by the proceeds of maturities of investments of $99.1 million.

Cash Provided by Financing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, cash provided by financing activities was $608.9 million, which consisted primarily of proceeds from the 
issuance of common stock, net of discount, of $597.1 million in the March 2024 Offering, proceeds from certain option exercises and 2014 ESPP 
common stock issuance of $7.3 million and proceeds from the ATM Offering, net of fees, of $46.7 million, partially offset by value of shares withheld to 
cover taxes of $42.1 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, cash provided by financing activities was $271.3 million, which consisted primarily of proceeds from the 
issuance of common stock, net of discount, of $269.8 million in the April 2023 Offering, proceeds from certain option exercises and 2014 ESPP common 
stock issuance of $6.6 million and proceeds from the ATM Offering, net of fees of $2.0 million, partially offset by value of shares withheld to cover taxes of 
$7.1 million.

Future Funding Requirements

As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and based upon our current operating plan, we believe that we have sufficient capital to fund our 
operating and capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. We anticipate, however, that we will continue to generate losses for the foreseeable 
future, and we expect the losses to increase materially as we continue the development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our drug candidates, and 
seek to commercialize any drugs for which we receive regulatory approval. We will need to raise additional capital to fund our operations and complete 
our ongoing and planned clinical trials. We expect to finance future cash needs through public or private equity or debt offerings, however, funding may 
not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may 
be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our drug development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market drug 
candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

•the scope, rate of progress, results and costs of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other related activities;

•our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such 
agreements;

•the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for any of our current or future drug candidates;

•the number and characteristics of the drug candidates we seek to develop or commercialize;

•the cost of manufacturing clinical supplies, and establishing commercial supplies, of our drug candidates;
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•the cost of commercialization activities if any of our current or future drug candidates are approved for sale, including marketing, 
sales and distribution costs;

•the expenses needed to attract and retain skilled personnel;

•the costs associated with being a public company;

•the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our drug candidates, should any of our drug candidates receive 
marketing approval; and

•the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing possible patent claims, including litigation 
costs and the outcome of any such litigation.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Financial Instruments

As part of our investment portfolio, we own financial instruments that are sensitive to market risks. The investment portfolio is used to preserve our capital, 
provide adequate liquidity and earn returns commensurate with our risk appetite. We invest in instruments that meet the credit quality standards outlined 
in our investment policy, which also limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issue or type of instrument. These instruments principally include 
securities issued by the U.S. government and its agencies, investment-grade corporate bonds and commercial paper, and money market funds. These 
investments are denominated in U.S. Dollars and none are held for trading purposes.

All of our interest-bearing securities are subject to interest rate risk and could change in value if interest rates fluctuate. Substantially all of our investment 
portfolio consists of marketable securities with active secondary or resale markets to help ensure portfolio liquidity, and we have implemented guidelines 
limiting the term-to-maturity of our investment instruments. Since we account for these securities as available-for-sale, no gains or losses are realized due 
to changes in the fair value of our investments unless we sell our investments prior to maturity or incur a credit loss. Due to the conservative nature of 
these instruments, we do not believe that the fair value of our investments has a material exposure to interest rate risk.

While we are exposed to global interest rate fluctuations, our investment portfolio is most affected by fluctuations in U.S. interest rates, which affect the 
interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Interest income generated from the Company's cash, cash equivalents, and 
short-term investments – available-for-sale will vary with the general level of interest rates.

 
(in thousands)  June 30, 2024   December 31, 2023  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 43,915   $ 55,516  
Short-term investments – available-for-sale  $ 898,348   $ 306,563  
Total  $ 942,263   $ 362,079  

Based on the above balances at June 30, 2024, if short-term interest rates increased or decreased by 10%, or 54 basis points, for the remainder of the 
year, annual interest income, including interest earned on short-term investments – available-for-sale, would increase or decrease by approximately $3.7 
million.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or 
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time 
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Our disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to 
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its 
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. As required by Rule 13a-15(b) or Rule 15d-15(b) promulgated by 
the SEC under the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under 
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the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of 
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on 
the foregoing, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the 
end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2024 that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be party to lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We are not presently a party to any legal proceedings, the outcome of 
which, if determined adversely to us, would individually or in the aggregate be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, 
operating results or financial condition.

In December 2022, we filed suit against Ascletis Bioscience Co., Ltd., Gannex Pharma Co., Ltd., Ascletis Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., Ascletis Pharma Inc., 
and Jinzi Jason Wu, or the Ascletis Defendants, in the Southern District of California, San Diego division, alleging, among other things: (1) violation of the 
Defend Trade Secrets Act; (2) violation of the California Uniform Trade Secrets Act; (3) breach of contract; (4) breach of the implied covenant of good 
faith and fair dealing; and (5) tortious interference with contract. In a related action, we also filed suit against the same Ascletis Defendants in the 
International Trade Commission for unlawful and unfair methods of competition. These legal proceedings arise at least in part from the misappropriation 
of our trade secrets. We intend to vigorously pursue all of our legal remedies in these litigations, but there is no guarantee that we will be successful in 
these efforts.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all 
of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, before making a decision to invest in our common stock. The risks and uncertainties 
described below may not be the only ones we face. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risk factors marked with an asterisk (*) below include a change from or an update to the risk factors included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 7, 2024.

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address all of the 
risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below under the 
heading “Risk Factors” and should be carefully considered, together with other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our other filings 
with the SEC before making an investment decision regarding our common stock.

Risk Factor Summary

•We are a clinical-stage company, have a limited operating history and are expected to incur significant operating losses during the next stages of 
our corporate development. 

•We are substantially dependent on technologies we licensed from Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, or Ligand, and if we lose the license to 
such technologies or our master license agreement with Ligand, or the Master License Agreement, is terminated for any reason, our ability to 
develop existing and new drug candidates would be harmed, and our business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially 
and adversely affected. 

•We are dependent on the success of one or more of our current drug candidates and we cannot be certain that any of them will receive regulatory 
approval or be commercialized.

•If development of our drug candidates does not produce favorable results, we and our collaborators, if any, may be unable to commercialize these 
products. 

•Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could result in increased costs to us and delay our ability to establish strategic 
collaborations. 

•We intend to rely on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials and perform other tasks for us. If these third parties do not 
successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines, or comply with regulatory requirements, we may not be able to obtain 
regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug candidates and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be substantially 
harmed. 

•If our competitors have drug candidates that are approved faster, are marketed more effectively, are better tolerated, have a more favorable 
safety profile or are demonstrated to be more effective than ours, our commercial opportunity may be reduced or eliminated.

28



 

•Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business and financial condition. 

•We may not be successful in obtaining or maintaining necessary rights to our drug candidates through acquisitions and in-licenses.

•If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we in-license intellectual property and other rights from third parties or 
otherwise experience disruptions to our business relationships with our licensors, we could lose intellectual property rights that are important to our 
business.

Risks Relating to Our Business

*We are a clinical-stage company, have a limited operating history and are expected to incur significant operating losses during the next 
stages of our corporate development.

We are a clinical-stage company. Since our incorporation in September 2012, our operations have been limited to raising capital, building infrastructure, 
obtaining the worldwide rights to certain technology from Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, or Ligand, and planning, preparing and conducting 
preclinical studies and clinical trials of our drug candidates, including VK2735 subcutaneous, VK2809, VK5211 and VK0612, which are currently in Phase 
2 clinical development, VK2735, for which we continue to conduct an oral Phase 1 SAD/MAD clinical trial, and VK0214, currently in a Phase 1b clinical 
trial, as well as the diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1, or DGAT-1, erythropoietin receptor, or EPOR, and our dual amylin and calcitonin receptor agonist, or 
DACRA, programs, which are each currently in preclinical development. We have not yet demonstrated an ability to obtain marketing approval for any of 
our drug candidates or successfully overcome the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in the biopharmaceutical industry. We 
also have not generated any revenue to date, and we continue to incur significant research and development and other expenses. As of June 30, 2024, 
we had an accumulated deficit of $427.6 million. For the foreseeable future, we expect to continue to incur losses, which will increase significantly from 
historical levels as we expand our drug development activities, seek potential partnering opportunities and/or regulatory approvals for our drug candidates 
and begin to commercialize them if they are approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, 
or comparable foreign authorities. Even if we succeed in partnering or developing and commercializing one or more drug candidates, we may never 
become profitable. If we fail to achieve or maintain profitability, it would adversely affect the value of our common stock.

We are substantially dependent on technologies we licensed from Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, or Ligand, and if we lose the license 
to such technologies or our master license agreement with Ligand, or the Master License Agreement, is terminated for any reason, our ability 
to develop existing and new drug candidates would be harmed, and our business, financial condition and results of operations would be 
materially and adversely affected.

Our business is substantially dependent upon technology licensed from Ligand. Pursuant to the Master License Agreement, we have been granted 
exclusive worldwide rights to VK2809, VK0214, VK5211, VK0612 and preclinical programs for metabolic disorders and anemia. Selective androgen 
receptor modulators, such as the one used in our VK5211 program, are key compounds used by us in the development and commercialization of our 
drug candidates. Most of the intellectual property related to our drug candidates is currently owned by Ligand, and we have the rights to use such 
intellectual property pursuant to the Master License Agreement. Therefore, our ability to develop and commercialize our drug candidates depends entirely 
on the effectiveness and continuation of the Master License Agreement. If we lose the right to license any of these key compounds, our ability to develop 
existing and new drug candidates would be harmed.

Ligand has the right to terminate the Master License Agreement under certain circumstances, including, but not limited to: (1) in the event of our 
insolvency or bankruptcy, (2) if we do not pay an undisputed amount owing under the Master License Agreement when due and fail to cure such default 
within a specified period of time, or (3) if we default on certain of our material obligations and fail to cure the default within a specified period of time.

*We are dependent on the success of one or more of our current drug candidates and we cannot be certain that any of them will receive 
regulatory approval or be commercialized.

We have spent significant time, money and effort on the licensing and development of our core metabolic and endocrine disease assets, VK2735, 
VK2809, VK0214, VK5211, VK0612 and our earlier-stage assets, our DGAT-1, EPOR and DACRA programs. To date, no pivotal clinical trials designed 
to provide clinically and statistically significant proof of efficacy, or to provide sufficient evidence of safety to justify approval, have been completed with 
any of our drug candidates. All of our drug candidates will require additional development, including clinical trials as well as further preclinical studies to 
evaluate their toxicology, carcinogenicity and pharmacokinetics and optimize their formulation, and regulatory clearances before they can be 
commercialized. Positive results obtained during early development do not necessarily mean later development will succeed or that regulatory 
clearances will be obtained. Our drug development efforts may not lead to commercial drugs, either because our drug candidates fail to be safe and 
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effective or because we have inadequate financial or other resources to advance our drug candidates through the clinical development and approval 
processes. If any of our drug candidates fail to demonstrate safety or efficacy at any time or during any phase of development, we would experience 
potentially significant delays in, or be required to abandon, development of the drug candidate.

We do not anticipate that any of our current drug candidates will be eligible to receive regulatory approval from the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign 
authorities and begin commercialization for a number of years, if ever. Even if we ultimately receive regulatory approval for any of these drug candidates, 
we or our potential future partners, if any, may be unable to commercialize them successfully for a variety of reasons. These include, for example, the 
availability of alternative treatments, lack of cost-effectiveness, the cost of manufacturing the product on a commercial scale and competition with other 
drugs. The success of our drug candidates may also be limited by the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects. If we fail to commercialize one 
or more of our current drug candidates, we may be unable to generate sufficient revenues to attain or maintain profitability, and our financial condition and 
stock price may decline.

*If development of our drug candidates does not produce favorable results, we and our collaborators, if any, may be unable to commercialize 
these products.

To receive regulatory approval for the commercialization of our core metabolic and endocrine disease assets, VK2735, VK2809, VK0214, VK5211, 
VK0612 and our earlier-stage assets, our DGAT-1. EPOR and DACRA programs, or any other drug candidates that we may develop, adequate and well-
controlled clinical trials must be conducted to demonstrate safety and efficacy in humans to the satisfaction of the FDA, EMA and comparable foreign 
authorities. In order to support marketing approval, these agencies typically require successful results in one or more Phase 3 clinical trials, which our 
current drug candidates have not yet reached and may never reach. The development process is expensive, can take many years and has an uncertain 
outcome. Failure can occur at any stage of the process. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the development 
process that could delay or prevent commercialization of our current or future drug candidates, including the following:

•clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results;

•preclinical studies conducted with drug candidates during clinical development to, among other things, evaluate their toxicology, carcinogenicity 
and pharmacokinetics and optimize their formulation may produce unfavorable results;

•patient recruitment and enrollment in clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate;

•costs of development may be greater than we anticipate;

•our drug candidates may cause undesirable side effects that delay or preclude regulatory approval or limit their commercial use or market 
acceptance, if approved;

•collaborators who may be responsible for the development of our drug candidates may not devote sufficient resources to these clinical trials or 
other preclinical studies of these candidates or conduct them in a timely manner; or

•we may face delays in obtaining regulatory approvals to commence one or more clinical trials.

Success in early development does not mean that later development will be successful because, for example, drug candidates in later-stage clinical trials 
may fail to demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy despite having progressed through initial clinical trials.

In February 2024, we reported positive top-line results from the VENTURE Phase 2 clinical trial for VK2735 in patients with obesity. In May 2023, we 
reported positive top-line results from the VOYAGE Phase 2b clinical trial for VK2809 and in June 2024, we announced positive 52-week histologic data 
from the VOYAGE study. In late 2017, we reported positive top-line results from a Phase 2 clinical trial for VK5211. However, there is no guarantee that 
the results of our Phase 2 clinical trials for VK2735 or VK2809 will be repeated for our other drug candidates or lead to other positive outcomes. As a 
company, we have conducted only a limited number of clinical trials and preclinical studies for our drug candidates. Therefore, we have limited 
experience in conducting clinical trials for our drug candidates. Since our experience with our drug candidates is limited, we will need to train our existing 
personnel and hire additional personnel in order to successfully administer and manage our clinical trials and other studies as planned, which may result 
in delays in completing such planned clinical trials and preclinical studies. Moreover, to date, our drug candidates have been tested in less than the 
number of patients that will likely need to be studied to obtain regulatory approval. The data collected from clinical trials with larger patient populations 
may not demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to support regulatory approval of these drug candidates.

We currently do not have strategic collaborations in place for clinical development of any of our current drug candidates. Therefore, in the future, we or 
any potential future collaborative partner will be responsible for establishing the targeted endpoints and goals for development of our drug candidates. 
These targeted endpoints and goals may be inadequate to demonstrate the safety and efficacy 
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levels required for regulatory approvals. Even if we believe data collected during the development of our drug candidates are promising, such data may 
not be sufficient to support marketing approval by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities. Further, data generated during development can be 
interpreted in different ways, and the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may interpret such data in different ways than us or our collaborators. 
Our failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our drug candidates would prevent our receipt of regulatory approval, and ultimately the 
potential commercialization of these drug candidates.

Since we do not currently possess the resources necessary to independently develop and commercialize the majority of our drug candidates, we may 
seek to enter into collaborative agreements to assist in the development and potential future commercialization of some or all of these assets as a 
component of our strategic plan. However, our discussions with potential collaborators may not lead to the establishment of collaborations on acceptable 
terms, if at all, or it may take longer than expected to establish new collaborations, leading to development and potential commercialization delays, which 
would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We expect to continue to incur significant research and development expenses, which may make it difficult for us to attain profitability.

We expect to expend substantial funds in research and development, including preclinical studies and clinical trials of our drug candidates, and to 
manufacture and market any drug candidates in the event they are approved for commercial sale. We also may need additional funding to develop or 
acquire complementary companies, technologies and assets, as well as for working capital requirements and other operating and general corporate 
purposes. Moreover, our planned increases in staffing will dramatically increase our costs in the near and long-term.

However, our spending on current and future research and development programs and drug candidates for specific indications may not yield any 
commercially viable products. Due to our limited financial and managerial resources, we must focus on a limited number of research programs and drug 
candidates and on specific indications. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable 
market opportunities.

Because the successful development of our drug candidates is uncertain, we are unable to precisely estimate the actual funds we will require to develop 
and potentially commercialize them. In addition, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue, even if we are able to commercialize any of our drug 
candidates, to become profitable.

*Given our lack of current cash inflows, it is expected that we may need to raise additional capital; however, it may be unavailable to us or, 
even if capital is obtained, may cause dilution or place significant restrictions on our ability to operate our business.

Since we will be unable to generate sufficient, if any, cash inflows to fund our operations for the foreseeable future, we may need to seek additional equity 
or debt financing to provide the capital required to maintain or expand our operations. As of June 30, 2024, we had cash, cash equivalents and 
investments totaling $942.3 million. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient additional capital on acceptable terms or at all. If 
such additional financing is not available on satisfactory terms, or is not available in sufficient amounts, we may be required to delay, limit or eliminate the 
development of business opportunities and our ability to achieve our business objectives, our competitiveness, and our business, financial condition and 
results of operations may be materially adversely affected. In addition, we may be required to grant rights to develop and market drug candidates that we 
would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. Our inability to fund our business could lead to the loss of your investment. Our future capital 
requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to: 

•the scope, rate of progress, results and cost of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other related activities; our ability to establish and maintain 
strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such arrangements;

•the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for any of our current or future drug candidates;

•the number and characteristics of the drug candidates we seek to develop or commercialize;

•the cost of manufacturing clinical supplies, and establishing commercial supplies, of our drug candidates;

•the cost of commercialization activities if any of our current or future drug candidates are approved for sale, including marketing, sales and 
distribution costs;

•the expenses needed to attract and retain skilled personnel;

•the costs associated with being a public company;
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•the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our drug candidates, should any of our drug candidates receive marketing 
approval; and

•the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing possible patent claims, including litigation costs and the 
outcome of any such litigation.

On July 26, 2023, we filed an automatic universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-273460) with the SEC as a well-known 
seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which became effective upon filing, or the 2023 Shelf Registration 
Statement. The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement allows us to offer an indeterminate amount of securities, including equity securities, debt securities, 
warrants, rights, units and depositary shares, from time to time as described in the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement. The specific terms of any offering 
under the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement will be established at the time of such offering under a separate prospectus supplement, which will be filed 
with the SEC at the time of any offering. The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement will expire on July 26, 2026.

The 2023 Shelf Registration Statement includes a prospectus, or the ATM Prospectus, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, 
through or to Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, Truist Securities, Inc., H.C. Wainwright & Co. LLC and BTIG, LLC, or, collectively, the ATM 
Agents, as sales agent(s) or principal(s), shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $200.0 million, or the ATM Offering. Any 
shares offering and sold in ATM Offering will be issued pursuant to the ATM Prospectus and the At-The-Market Equity Offering Sales Agreement, dated 
July 28, 2021, as amended on July 26, 2023, among us and the ATM Agents. As of June 30, 2024, we may sell shares of our common stock for 
remaining gross proceeds of up to $151.9 million from time to time pursuant to the ATM Prospectus. 

On March 4, 2024, we completed an underwritten public offering of our common stock, or the March 2024 Offering, pursuant to the 2023 Shelf 
Registration Statement. In the March 2024 Offering, we sold an aggregate of 7,441,650 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $85.00 
per share, which included the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase 970,650 additional shares of common stock. Upon the 
closing of the March 2024 Offering, we received net proceeds of $597.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering 
expenses.

If we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders may be reduced, and accordingly these 
stockholders may experience substantial dilution. We may also issue equity securities that provide for rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of 
our common stock. Given our need for cash and that equity issuances are the most common type of fundraising for companies like ours, the risk of 
dilution is particularly significant for stockholders of our company.

Our drug candidates may cause undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or commercialization or have 
other significant adverse implications on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Undesirable side effects observed in clinical trials or in supportive preclinical studies with our drug candidates could interrupt, delay or halt their 
development and could result in the denial of regulatory approval by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities for any or all targeted indications or 
adversely affect the marketability of any such drug candidates that receive regulatory approval. In turn, this could eliminate or limit our ability to 
commercialize our drug candidates.

Our drug candidates may exhibit adverse effects in preclinical toxicology studies and adverse interactions with other drugs. There are also risks 
associated with additional requirements the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may impose for marketing approval with regard to a particular 
disease.

Our drug candidates may require a risk management program that could include patient and healthcare provider education, usage guidelines, 
appropriate promotional activities, a post-marketing observational study, and ongoing safety and reporting mechanisms, among other requirements. 
Prescribing could be limited to physician specialists or physicians trained in the use of the drug, or could be limited to a more restricted patient 
population. Any risk management program required for approval of our drug candidates could potentially have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Undesirable side effects involving our drug candidates may have other significant adverse implications on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. For example:

•we may be unable to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms, if at all;

•our collaborators may terminate any development agreements covering these drug candidates;

•if any development agreements are terminated, we may determine not to further develop the affected drug candidates due to resource constraints 
and may not be able to establish additional collaborations for their further development on acceptable terms, if at all;
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•if we were to later continue the development of these drug candidates and receive regulatory approval, earlier findings may significantly limit their 
marketability and thus significantly lower our potential future revenues from their commercialization;

•we may be subject to product liability or stockholder litigation; and

•we may be unable to attract and retain key employees.

In addition, if any of our drug candidates receive marketing approval and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by the product:

•regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product, or we or our partners may decide to cease marketing and sale of the product 
voluntarily;

•we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional clinical trials or preclinical studies regarding the product, 
change the labeling of the product, or change the product’s manufacturing facilities; and

•our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product and could substantially increase the costs 
and expenses of commercializing the product, which in turn could delay or prevent us from generating significant revenues from the sale of the product.

Our efforts to discover drug candidates beyond our current drug candidates may not succeed, and any drug candidates we recommend for 
clinical development may not actually begin clinical trials.

We intend to continue to use our technology, including our licensed technology, knowledge and expertise to develop novel drugs to address some of the 
world’s most widespread and costly chronic diseases. We intend to expand our existing pipeline of core assets by advancing drug compounds from 
current ongoing discovery programs into clinical development. However, the process of researching and discovering drug compounds is expensive, time-
consuming and unpredictable. Data from our current preclinical programs may not support the clinical development of our lead compounds or other 
compounds from these programs, and we may not identify any additional drug compounds suitable for recommendation for clinical development. 
Moreover, any drug compounds we recommend for clinical development may not demonstrate, through preclinical studies, indications of safety and 
potential efficacy that would support advancement into clinical trials. Such findings would potentially impede our ability to maintain or expand our clinical 
development pipeline. Our ability to identify new drug compounds and advance them into clinical development also depends upon our ability to fund our 
research and development operations, and we cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a specific product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or 
indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success. 

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we must focus on a limited number of research programs and product candidates and on 
specific indications. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to 
have greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market 
opportunities. Our spending on current and future discovery and preclinical development programs and product candidates for specific indications may 
not yield any commercially viable products. In addition, our projections of both the number of people who have the targeted indications, as well as the 
subset of people with these disorders who have the potential to benefit from treatment with our product candidates, are based on estimates. If any of our 
estimates are inaccurate, the market opportunities for any of our product candidates could be significantly diminished and have an adverse material 
impact on our business. Additionally, the potentially addressable patient population for our product candidates may be limited, or may not be amenable to 
treatment with our product candidates.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could result in increased costs to us and delay our ability to establish strategic 
collaborations.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could significantly impact our drug development costs. We do not know whether planned 
clinical trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement of clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, 
including, but not limited to, delays related to:

•obtaining regulatory approval to commence one or more clinical trials;

•reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites;
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•manufacturing sufficient quantities of a drug candidate or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials, as well as receiving the supplies and 
materials needed to conduct our clinical trials, including interruptions in global shipping that may affect the transport of clinical materials;

•obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct one or more clinical trials at a prospective site;

•recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in one or more clinical trials, especially as patients may be reluctant or unable to visit clinical sites, 
or may delay seeking treatment for chronic conditions;

•the failure of our collaborators to adequately resource our drug candidates due to their focus on other programs or as a result of general market 
conditions;

•recruiting clinical site investigators, clinical site staff and potential closure of clinical facilities; and

•changes in regulations, which may require us to change the ways in which our clinical trials are conducted.

In addition, once a clinical trial has begun, it may be suspended or terminated by us, our collaborators, the institutional review boards or data safety 
monitoring boards charged with overseeing our clinical trials, the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities due to a number of factors, including:

•failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or clinical protocols;

•inspection of the clinical trial operations or clinical trial site by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities resulting in the imposition of a 
clinical hold;

•unforeseen safety issues; or

•lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.

If we experience delays in the completion or termination of any clinical trial of our product candidates, the commercial prospects of our product 
candidates will be harmed, and our ability to commence product sales and generate product revenues from any of our product candidates will be 
delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs and slow down our product candidate development and approval 
process. Delays in completing our clinical trials could also allow our competitors to obtain marketing approval before we do or shorten the patent 
protection period during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates. Any of these occurrences may harm our 
business, financial condition and prospects significantly. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or 
completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

Results of earlier clinical trials may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials.

The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Product 
candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy results despite having progressed through preclinical studies 
and initial clinical trials. Many companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to adverse 
safety profiles or lack of efficacy, notwithstanding promising results in earlier studies. Similarly, our future clinical trial results may not be successful for 
these or other reasons.

This drug candidate development risk is heightened by any changes in the planned clinical trials compared to the completed clinical trials. As product 
candidates are developed through preclinical to early to late stage clinical trials towards approval and commercialization, it is customary that various 
aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing and methods of administration, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize processes 
and results. While these types of changes are common and are intended to optimize the product candidates for late stage clinical trials, approval and 
commercialization, such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives.

Any of these changes could make the results of our planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials we may initiate less predictable and could cause our 
product candidates to perform differently, including causing toxicities, which could delay completion of our clinical trials, delay approval of our product 
candidates and/or jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues.
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If we experience delays in the enrollment of patients in our clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be delayed or 
prevented.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible 
patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Patient enrollment, a significant factor in the timing of clinical 
trials, is affected by many factors, including the size and nature of the patient population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for 
the trial, the design of the clinical trial, competing clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the drug being 
studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating. For example, the 
COVID-19 pandemic previously negatively impacted our ability to recruit and enroll patients for our clinical trials, as they may be reluctant or unable to 
visit clinical sites, or may delay seeking treatment for chronic conditions.

If we fail to enroll and maintain the number of patients for which the clinical trial was designed, the statistical power of that clinical trial may be reduced, 
which would make it harder to demonstrate that the product candidate being tested in such clinical trial is safe and effective. Additionally, enrollment 
delays in our clinical trials may result in increased development costs for our product candidates, which would cause the value of our company to decline 
and limit our ability to obtain additional financing. Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients for any of our current or future clinical trials would 
result in significant delays or may require us to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether.

We intend to rely on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials and perform other tasks for us. If these third parties do 
not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines, or comply with regulatory requirements, we may not be able to 
obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug candidates and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
substantially harmed.

We have relied upon and plan to continue to rely upon third-party CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories to monitor 
and manage data for our licensed ongoing preclinical and clinical programs. Nevertheless, we maintain responsibility for ensuring that each of our clinical 
trials and preclinical studies is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory, and scientific standards and our reliance on these 
third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs and other vendors are required to comply with current requirements 
on good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, good clinical practices, or GCP, and good laboratory practice, or GLP, which are a collection of laws and 
regulations enforced by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities for all of our drug candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities 
enforce these regulations through periodic inspections of preclinical study and clinical trial sponsors, principal investigators, preclinical study and clinical 
trial sites, and other contractors. If we or any of our CROs or vendors fail to comply with applicable regulations, the data generated in our preclinical 
studies and clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may require us to perform additional preclinical 
studies and clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such 
regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials comply with GCP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with 
products produced consistent with cGMP regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would 
delay the development and regulatory approval processes.

If any of our relationships with these third-party CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators or contract laboratories terminate, we may not be able to 
enter into arrangements with alternative CROs on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, our CROs are not our employees, and except for 
remedies available to us under our agreements with such CROs, we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our 
ongoing preclinical and clinical programs. If CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they 
need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our protocols, regulatory 
requirements, or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or 
successfully commercialize our drug candidates. CROs may also generate higher costs than anticipated. As a result, our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and the commercial prospects for our drug candidates could be materially and adversely affected, our costs could increase and our 
ability to generate revenue could be delayed.

Switching or adding additional CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators or contract laboratories involves additional cost and requires 
management’s time and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new CRO commences work replacing a previous CRO. As a result, 
delays occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines. Though we carefully manage our relationships 
with our CROs, there can be no assurance that we will not encounter similar challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges will not 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, our CROs may need to make certain adjustments to the operation of our trials in an effort to ensure the monitoring and safety of patients and 
minimize risks to trial integrity during the pandemic in accordance with the guidance issued by the FDA on March 18, 2020 and generally, and may need 
to make further adjustments in the future. Many of these adjustments are new and 
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untested, may not be effective, and may have unforeseen effects on the enrollment, progress and completion of these trials and the findings from these 
trials.

Our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulation under the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities, which can be costly and time 
consuming, cause unanticipated delays or prevent the receipt of the required approvals to commercialize our drug candidates.

The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, export, marketing and distribution of our drug 
candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other U.S. regulatory agencies, EMA or comparable authorities in foreign markets. In the 
U.S., neither we nor our collaborators are permitted to market our drug candidates until we or our collaborators receive approval of a new drug application, 
or an NDA, from the FDA or receive similar approvals abroad. The process of obtaining these approvals is expensive, often takes many years, and can 
vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the drug candidates involved. Approval policies or regulations may change and may be 
influenced by the results of other similar or competitive products, making it more difficult for us to achieve such approval in a timely manner or at all. For 
example, the FDA has released draft guidance regarding clinical trials for drug candidates treating diabetes that may result in more stringent 
requirements for the clinical trials and regulatory approval of such drug candidates. This and any future guidance that may result from recent FDA 
advisory panel discussions on the topic of diabetes, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASH, and other metabolic indications, may make it more expensive 
to develop and commercialize such drug candidates for such indications. Such increased expense could make it more difficult to obtain favorable terms 
in the collaborative arrangements we require to maximize the value of our programs seeking to develop new drug candidates for diabetes. In addition, as 
a company, we have not previously filed NDAs with the FDA or filed similar applications with other foreign regulatory agencies. This lack of experience 
may impede our ability to obtain FDA or other foreign regulatory agency approval in a timely manner, if at all, for our drug candidates for which 
development and commercialization is our responsibility.

Despite the time and expense invested, regulatory approval is never guaranteed. The FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities can delay, limit or 
deny approval of a drug candidate for many reasons, including:

•a drug candidate may not be deemed safe or effective;

•agency officials of the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may not find the data from non-clinical or preclinical studies and clinical trials 
generated during development to be sufficient;

•the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may not approve our third-party manufacturers’ processes or facilities; or

•the FDA, EMA or a comparable foreign authority may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations.

Our inability to obtain these approvals would prevent us from commercializing our drug candidates.

Even if our drug candidates receive regulatory approval in the U.S., we may never receive approval or commercialize our products outside of 
the U.S.

In order to market any products outside of the U.S., we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries 
regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review 
periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in 
other countries may include all of the risks detailed above regarding FDA approval in the U.S. as well as other risks. Regulatory approval in one country 
does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the 
regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in other countries or any delay seeking or obtaining such approval would impair our 
ability to develop foreign markets for our drug candidates.

Even if any of our drug candidates receive regulatory approval, our drug candidates may still face future development and regulatory 
difficulties.

If any of our drug candidates receive regulatory approval, the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may still impose significant restrictions on the 
indicated uses or marketing of the drug candidates or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies and trials. In addition, 
regulatory agencies subject a product, its manufacturer and the manufacturer’s facilities to continual review and periodic inspections. If a regulatory 
agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the 
facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product, our collaborators or us, including requiring 
withdrawal of the product from the market. Our drug candidates will also be subject to ongoing FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities’ requirements 
for the 
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labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, record-keeping and submission of safety and other post-market information on the drug. If our drug 
candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:

•issue warning letters or other notices of possible violations;

•impose civil or criminal penalties or fines or seek disgorgement of revenue or profits;

•suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

•refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our collaborators;

•withdraw any regulatory approvals;

•impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements, or shut down our manufacturing operations; or

•seize or detain products or require a product recall.

The FDA, EMA and comparable foreign authorities actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses.

The FDA, EMA and comparable foreign authorities strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products, such as our 
drug candidates, if approved. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign 
authorities as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. If we receive marketing approval for our drug candidates for our proposed indications, 
physicians may nevertheless use our products for their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label, if the physicians personally 
believe in their professional medical judgment that our products could be used in such manner. However, if we are found to have promoted our products 
for any off-label uses, the federal government could levy civil, criminal or administrative penalties, and seek fines against us. Such enforcement has 
become more common in the industry. The FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities could also request that we enter into a consent decree or a 
corporate integrity agreement or seek a permanent injunction against us under which specified promotional conduct is monitored, changed or curtailed. If 
we cannot successfully manage the promotion of our drug candidates, if approved, we could become subject to significant liability, which would materially 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

*If our competitors have drug candidates that are approved faster, are marketed more effectively, are better tolerated, have a more favorable 
safety profile or are demonstrated to be more effective than ours, our commercial opportunity may be reduced or eliminated.

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. 
While we believe that our technology, knowledge, experience and scientific resources provide us with competitive advantages, we face potential 
competition from many different sources, including commercial biopharmaceutical enterprises, academic institutions, government agencies and private 
and public research institutions. Any drug candidates that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with existing therapies and new 
therapies that may become available in the future. 

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical studies, 
clinical trials, regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant 
competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. Our competitors may succeed in developing 
technologies and therapies that are more effective, better tolerated or less costly than any which we are developing, or that would render our drug 
candidates obsolete and noncompetitive. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our drug candidates, our competitors may succeed in obtaining 
regulatory approvals for their products earlier than we do. We will also face competition from these third parties in recruiting and retaining qualified 
scientific and management personnel, in establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, and in acquiring and in-licensing 
technologies and products complementary to our programs or advantageous to our business. 

The key competitive factors affecting the success of each of our drug candidates, if approved, are likely to be its efficacy, safety, tolerability, frequency 
and route of administration, convenience and price, the level of branded and generic competition and the availability of coverage and reimbursement from 
government and other third-party payors.

VK2735 

VK2735, if approved, will compete against therapies that are already approved and marketed for obesity, including Semaglutide (Wegovy®) and 
liraglutide (Saxenda®) from Novo Nordisk A/S, and tirzepatide (Zepbound™) from Eli Lilly and Company. We are 
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also aware of several programs targeting obesity that are in the late development stage that will compete against VK2735, if approved, including 
CagriSema from Novo Nordisk A/S, orforglipron and retatrutide from Eli Lilly and Company, and survodutide (BI 456906) from Boehringer Ingelheim 
International GmbH. In addition, we are aware of active programs at Altimmune, Inc., Amgen Inc., AstraZeneca, BioAge Labs, Inc., Biophytis SA, D&D 
Pharmatech, Inc., ERX Pharmaceuticals Inc., F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, Hanmi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Kallyope Inc., Pfizer Inc., Regeneron 
Pharmaceuticals Inc., Rivus Pharmaceuticals Inc., Scholar Rock, Inc., Structure Therapeutics Inc., Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ventyx Biosciences, Inc., 
and Zealand Pharma A/S.

VK2809

Resmetirom (Rezdiffra™), another agonist of the thyroid hormone receptor beta, or TRß, from Madrigal Pharmaceuticals, Inc., is the only therapy 
currently approved in the U.S. for the treatment of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. In addition, we are aware of numerous development-stage programs 
targeting this disease, including arachidyl amido cholanoic acid from Galmed Pharmaceuticals Ltd., belapectin from Galectin Therapeutics Inc., 
lanifibranor from Inventiva S.A., semaglutide from Novo Nordisk A/S, efruxifermin (AKR-001) from Akero Therapeutics, Inc., firsocostat (GS-0976) and 
cilofexor (GS-9674) from Gilead Sciences, Inc., tirzepatide from Eli Lilly and Company, ervogastat (PF-06865571) and clesacostat (PF-05221304) from 
Pfizer Inc., pegozafermin (BIO89-100) from 89bio, Inc., denifanstat (TVB-2640) from Sagimet Biosciences Inc., efocipegtrutide (HM15211) from Hanmi 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., survodutide (BI 456906) from Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH, ION224 from Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., rencofilstat 
(CRV431) from Hepion Pharmaceuticals, Inc., HTD1801 from HighTide Therapeutics Inc., GSK4532990 (ARO-HSD) from GlaxoSmithKline plc., ALN-
HSD from Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc./ Regeneron Pharmaceuticals Inc., efinopegdutide (MK-6024) from Merck & Co., Inc., and pemvidutide (ALT-
801) from Altimmune, Inc. In addition, we are aware of active programs at Aligos Therapeutics, Inc., Arrowhead Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ascletis 
Biopharmaceutical, AstraZeneca PLC, Boston Pharmaceuticals Inc., Can-Fite BioPharma Ltd., ChemomAb Ltd., CohBar, Inc., Corcept Therapeutics Inc., 
CytoDyn Inc., D&D Pharmatech, Inc., Durect Corporation, Enyo Pharma SA, Inc., Future Medicine Co., Ltd., Galecto, Inc., Hepagene Therapeutics, Inc., 
Kowa Company, Ltd., MediciNova Inc., NorthSea Therapeutics BV, Pliant Therapeutics, Inc., Poxel SA, Seal Rock Therapeutics, Inc., Theratechnologies 
Inc., Yuhan Corporation, and Cadila Healthcare Limited (a.k.a. Zydus Cadila). 

VK0214

In the U.S., there are currently no marketed therapies for the treatment of X-ALD. Hematopoietic stem cell therapy has been used to treat the most 
severe form of X-ALD, cerebral adrenoleukodystrophy, or CALD. More recently, gene therapy has been shown to be effective in CALD, and elivaldogene 
autotemcel from bluebird bio, Inc., has received accelerated approval by the FDA (to slow the progression of neurologic dysfunction in boys 4-17 years of 
age with early, active CALD), and approval by the European Commission (for patients less than 18 years of age with early CALD without a matched 
sibling donor). However, both treatments are invasive, requiring surgical intervention, and these do not appear to have an effect on the most pervasive 
form of X-ALD, adrenomyeloneuropathy, or AMN. There are several experimental therapies that are in various stages of clinical development for X-ALD 
by companies, including Minoryx Therapeutics S.L., Neuraxpharm Group, Poxel SA, and SwanBio Therapeutics, Inc., which may be competitive with 
VK0214, if approved.

VK5211

In the U.S., there are currently no marketed therapies for the maintenance or improvement of lean body mass, bone mineral density or physical function 
in patients recovering from non-elective hip fracture surgery. However, VK5211, if approved, will face competition from experimental therapies that are in 
various stages of clinical development for conditions characterized by muscle wasting by companies including Biophytis SA, Helsinn Group, MyMD 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Pluri Inc. (formerly Pluristem Therapeutics Inc.). In addition, nutritional and growth hormone-based therapies are sometimes 
used in patients experiencing muscle wasting.

We, or any future collaborators, may not be able to obtain orphan drug designation or orphan drug exclusivity for our product candidates.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States and Europe, may designate drugs for relatively small patient populations as 
orphan drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a product as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a rare disease or 
condition, which is generally defined as a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals annually in the United States. While we received orphan 
drug designation from the FDA for VK0214 for the treatment X-ALD in December 2016, we, or any future collaborators, may not be granted orphan drug 
designations for our product candidates in the U.S. or in other jurisdictions.

Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain orphan drug designation for a product candidate, we, or they, may not be able to obtain orphan drug 
exclusivity for that product candidate. Generally, a product with orphan drug designation only becomes entitled to orphan drug exclusivity if it receives the 
first marketing approval for the indication for which it has such designation, in which case the FDA or the EMA will be precluded from approving another 
marketing application for the same drug for that indication for the applicable exclusivity period. The applicable exclusivity period is seven years in the 
United States and ten years in Europe. The European 
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exclusivity period can be reduced to six years if a drug no longer meets the criteria for orphan drug designation or if the drug is sufficiently profitable so 
that market exclusivity is no longer justified. Orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA or the EMA determines that the request for designation was 
materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or 
condition.

Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from 
competition because FDA has taken the position that, under certain circumstances, another drug with the same active moiety can be approved for the 
same condition. Specifically, the FDA’s regulations provide that it can approve another drug with the same active moiety for the same condition if the 
FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior in that it is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care.

We are subject to a multitude of manufacturing risks, any of which could substantially increase our costs and limit supply of our drug 
candidates.

The process of manufacturing our drug candidates is complex, highly regulated and subject to several risks. For example, the process of manufacturing 
our drug candidates is extremely susceptible to product loss due to contamination, equipment failure or improper installation or operation of equipment, or 
vendor or operator error. Even minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes for any of our drug candidates could result in reduced production 
yields, product defects and other supply disruptions. If microbial, viral, or other contaminations are discovered in our drug candidates or in the 
manufacturing facilities in which our drug candidates are made, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to 
investigate and remedy the contamination. In addition, the manufacturing facilities in which our drug candidates are made could be adversely affected by 
equipment failures, labor shortages, natural disasters, epidemics, pandemics, power failures and numerous other factors.

In addition, any adverse developments affecting manufacturing operations of our drug candidates may result in shipment delays, inventory shortages, lot 
failures, withdrawals or recalls, or other interruptions in the supply of our drug candidates. We also may need to take inventory write-offs and incur other 
charges and expenses for drug candidates that fail to meet specifications, undertake costly remediation efforts, or seek costlier manufacturing 
alternatives.

We rely completely on third parties to manufacture our preclinical and clinical drug supplies, and our business, financial condition and results 
of operations could be harmed if those third parties fail to provide us with sufficient quantities of drug product, or fail to do so at acceptable 
quality levels or prices.

We do not currently have, nor do we plan to acquire, the infrastructure or capability internally to manufacture our preclinical and clinical drug supplies for 
use in our clinical trials, and we lack the resources and the capability to manufacture any of our drug candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. We 
rely on our manufacturers to purchase from third-party suppliers the materials necessary to produce our drug candidates for our clinical trials. There are 
a limited number of suppliers for raw materials that we use to manufacture our drugs, and there may be a need to identify alternate suppliers to prevent a 
possible disruption of the manufacture of the materials necessary to produce our drug candidates for our clinical trials, and, if approved, ultimately for 
commercial sale. We do not have any control over the process or timing of the acquisition of these raw materials by our manufacturers. Although we 
generally do not begin a clinical trial unless we believe we have a sufficient supply of a drug candidate to complete such clinical trial, any significant delay 
or discontinuity in the supply of a drug candidate, or the raw material components thereof, for an ongoing clinical trial due to the need to replace a third-
party manufacturer could considerably delay completion of our clinical trials, product testing and potential regulatory approval of our drug candidates, 
which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We and our contract manufacturers are subject to significant regulation with respect to manufacturing our drug candidates. The 
manufacturing facilities on which we rely may not continue to meet regulatory requirements.

All entities involved in the preparation of therapeutics for clinical trials or commercial sale, including our existing contract manufacturers for our drug 
candidates, are subject to extensive regulation. Components of a finished therapeutic product approved for commercial sale or used in late-stage clinical 
trials must be manufactured in accordance with cGMP. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures and the implementation and 
operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of investigational products and products approved for sale. Poor control of production 
processes can lead to the introduction of contaminants or to inadvertent changes in the properties or stability of our drug candidates that may not be 
detectable in final product testing. We or our contract manufacturers must supply all necessary documentation in support of an NDA or marketing 
authorization application, or MAA, on a timely basis and must adhere to GLP and cGMP regulations enforced by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign 
authorities through their facilities inspection program. Some of our contract manufacturers may not have produced a commercially approved 
pharmaceutical product and therefore may not have obtained the requisite regulatory authority approvals to do so. The facilities and quality systems of 
some or all of our third-party contractors must pass a pre-approval inspection for compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition of regulatory 
approval of our drug candidates or any of our other potential products. In addition, the regulatory authorities may, at any time, audit or inspect a 
manufacturing facility involved with the preparation of our drug candidates or any of our other potential products or the associated quality systems for 
compliance with the regulations applicable 
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to the activities being conducted. Although we oversee the contract manufacturers, we cannot control the manufacturing process of, and are completely 
dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with the regulatory requirements. If these facilities do not pass a pre-approval plant 
inspection, regulatory approval of the products may not be granted or may be substantially delayed until any violations are corrected to the satisfaction of 
the regulatory authority, if ever.

The regulatory authorities also may, at any time following approval of a product for sale, audit the manufacturing facilities of our third-party contractors. If 
any such inspection or audit identifies a failure to comply with applicable regulations or if a violation of our product specifications or applicable regulations 
occurs independent of such an inspection or audit, we or the relevant regulatory authority may require remedial measures that may be costly or time 
consuming for us or a third party to implement, and that may include the temporary or permanent suspension of a clinical trial or commercial sales or the 
temporary or permanent closure of a facility. Any such remedial measures imposed upon us or third parties with whom we contract could materially harm 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we or any of our third-party manufacturers fail to maintain regulatory compliance, the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities can impose 
regulatory sanctions including, among other things, refusal to approve a pending application for a drug candidate, withdrawal of an approval, or 
suspension of production. As a result, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Additionally, if supply from one manufacturer is interrupted, an alternative manufacturer would need to be qualified through an NDA supplement or MAA 
variation, or equivalent foreign regulatory filing, which could result in further delay. The regulatory agencies may also require additional studies or trials if 
a new manufacturer is relied upon for commercial production. Switching manufacturers may involve substantial costs and is likely to result in a delay in 
our desired clinical and commercial timelines.

These factors could cause us to incur higher costs and could cause the delay or termination of clinical trials, regulatory submissions, required approvals, 
or commercialization of our drug candidates. Furthermore, if our suppliers fail to meet contractual requirements and we are unable to secure one or more 
replacement suppliers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost, our clinical trials may be delayed, or we could lose potential revenue.

Any collaboration arrangement that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our ability to develop 
and commercialize our current and potential future drug candidates.

We may seek collaboration arrangements with biopharmaceutical companies for the development or commercialization of our current and potential future 
drug candidates. To the extent that we decide to enter into collaboration agreements, we will face significant competition in seeking appropriate 
collaborators. Moreover, collaboration arrangements are complex and time-consuming to negotiate, execute and implement. We may not be successful in 
our efforts to establish and implement collaborations or other alternative arrangements should we choose to enter into such arrangements, and the terms 
of the arrangements may not be favorable to us. If, and when, we collaborate with a third party for development and commercialization of a drug 
candidate, we can expect to relinquish some or all of the control over the future success of that drug candidate to the third party. The success of our 
collaboration arrangements will depend heavily on the efforts and activities of our collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant discretion in 
determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations.

Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement can lead to delays in developing or commercializing the applicable drug candidate and 
can be difficult to resolve in a mutually beneficial manner. In some cases, collaborations with biopharmaceutical companies and other third parties are 
terminated or allowed to expire by the other party. Any such termination or expiration would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

If we are unable to develop our own commercial organization or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market our drug 
candidates, we may be unable to generate significant revenues.

We do not have a sales and marketing organization, and we have no experience as a company in the sales, marketing and distribution of pharmaceutical 
products. If any of our drug candidates are approved for commercialization, we may be required to develop our sales, marketing and distribution 
capabilities, or make arrangements with a third party to perform sales and marketing services. Developing a sales force for any resulting product or any 
product resulting from any of our other drug candidates is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any product launch. We may be unable to 
establish and manage an effective sales force in a timely or cost-effective manner, if at all, and any sales force we do establish may not be capable of 
generating sufficient demand for our drug candidates. To the extent that we enter into arrangements with collaborators or other third parties to perform 
sales and marketing services, our product revenues are likely to be lower than if we marketed and sold our drug candidates independently. If we are 
unable to establish adequate sales and marketing capabilities, independently or with others, we may not be able to generate significant revenues and 
may not become profitable.
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The commercial success of our drug candidates depends upon their market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and 
the medical community.

Even if our drug candidates obtain regulatory approval, our products, if any, may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare 
payors and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance of any of our approved drug candidates will depend on a number of factors, 
including:

•the effectiveness of our approved drug candidates as compared to currently available products;

•patient willingness to adopt our approved drug candidates in place of current therapies;

•our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy;

•relative convenience and ease of administration;

•the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects;

•restrictions on use in combination with other products;

•availability of alternative treatments;

•pricing and cost-effectiveness assuming either competitive or potential premium pricing requirements, based on the profile of our drug candidates 
and target markets;

•effectiveness of our or our partners’ sales and marketing strategy;

•our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement; and

•potential product liability claims.

In addition, the potential market opportunity for our drug candidates is difficult to precisely estimate. Our estimates of the potential market opportunity for 
our drug candidates include several key assumptions based on our industry knowledge, industry publications, third-party research reports and other 
surveys. Independent sources have not verified all of our assumptions. If any of these assumptions proves to be inaccurate, then the actual market for 
our drug candidates could be smaller than our estimates of our potential market opportunity. If the actual market for our drug candidates is smaller than 
we expect, our product revenue may be limited, it may be harder than expected to raise funds and it may be more difficult for us to achieve or maintain 
profitability. If we fail to achieve market acceptance of our drug candidates in the U.S. and abroad, our revenue will be limited and it will be more difficult 
to achieve profitability.

If we fail to obtain and sustain an adequate level of reimbursement for our potential products by third-party payors, potential future sales 
would be materially adversely affected.

There will be no viable commercial market for our drug candidates, if approved, without reimbursement from third-party payors. Reimbursement policies 
may be affected by future healthcare reform measures. We cannot be certain that reimbursement will be available for our current drug candidates or any 
other drug candidate we may develop. Additionally, even if there is a viable commercial market, if the level of reimbursement is below our expectations, 
our anticipated revenue and gross margins will be adversely affected.

Third-party payors, such as government or private healthcare insurers, carefully review and increasingly question and challenge the coverage of and the 
prices charged for drugs. Reimbursement rates from private health insurance companies vary depending on the company, the insurance plan and other 
factors. Reimbursement rates may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments 
for other services. There is a current trend in the U.S. healthcare industry toward cost containment.

Large public and private payors, managed care organizations, group purchasing organizations and similar organizations are exerting increasing influence 
on decisions regarding the use of, and reimbursement levels for, particular treatments. Such third-party payors, including Medicare, may question the 
coverage of, and challenge the prices charged for, medical products and services, and many third-party payors limit coverage of or reimbursement for 
newly approved healthcare products. In particular, third-party payors may limit the covered indications. Cost-control initiatives could decrease the price 
we might establish for products, which could result in product revenues being lower than anticipated. We believe our drugs will be priced significantly 
higher than existing generic drugs and consistent with current branded drugs. If we are unable to show a significant benefit relative to existing generic 
drugs, Medicare, 
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Medicaid and private payors may not be willing to provide reimbursement for our drugs, which would significantly reduce the likelihood of our products 
gaining market acceptance.

We expect that private insurers will consider the efficacy, cost-effectiveness, safety and tolerability of our potential products in determining whether to 
approve reimbursement for such products and at what level. Obtaining these approvals can be a time consuming and expensive process. Our business, 
financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected if we do not receive approval for reimbursement of our potential 
products from private insurers on a timely or satisfactory basis. Limitations on coverage could also be imposed at the local Medicare carrier level or by 
fiscal intermediaries. Medicare Part D, which provides a pharmacy benefit to Medicare patients as discussed below, does not require participating 
prescription drug plans to cover all drugs within a class of products. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially 
adversely affected if Part D prescription drug plans were to limit access to, or deny or limit reimbursement of, our drug candidates or other potential 
products.

Reimbursement systems in international markets vary significantly by country and by region, and reimbursement approvals must be obtained on a 
country-by-country basis. In many countries, the product cannot be commercially launched until reimbursement is approved. In some foreign markets, 
prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. The negotiation process in 
some countries can exceed 12 months. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that 
compares the cost-effectiveness of our products to other available therapies. If the prices for our potential products are reduced or if governmental and 
other third-party payors do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement of our drugs, our future revenue, cash flows and prospects for profitability 
will suffer.

Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost of commercializing our drug candidates and may affect the prices we may 
obtain if our drug candidates are approved for commercialization.

In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of adopted and proposed legislative and regulatory changes regarding the 
healthcare system that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our drug candidates, restrict or regulate post-marketing activities and affect our 
ability to profitably sell any of our drug candidates for which we obtain regulatory approval.

In the U.S., the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or the MMA, changed the way Medicare covers and pays for 
pharmaceutical products. Cost reduction initiatives and other provisions of this legislation could limit the coverage and reimbursement rate that we receive 
for any of our approved products. While the MMA only applies to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage 
policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Therefore, any reduction in reimbursement that results from the MMA may result 
in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively the 
PPACA, was enacted. The PPACA was intended to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance 
remedies against healthcare fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for healthcare and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and 
fees on the health industry and impose additional health policy reforms. The PPACA increased manufacturers’ rebate liability under the Medicaid Drug 
Rebate Program by increasing the minimum rebate amount for both branded and generic drugs and revised the definition of “average manufacturer 
price,” or AMP, which may also increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates manufacturers are required to pay to states. The legislation also expanded 
Medicaid drug rebates and created an alternative rebate formula for certain new formulations of certain existing products that is intended to increase the 
rebates due on those drugs. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, which administers the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, also has 
proposed to expand Medicaid rebates to the utilization that occurs in the territories of the U.S., such as Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. Further, 
beginning in 2011, the PPACA imposed a significant annual fee on companies that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products and 
required manufacturers to provide a discount, equal to 70% off, effective as of 2019, the negotiated price of prescriptions filled by beneficiaries in the 
Medicare Part D coverage gap, referred to as the “donut hole.” Legislative and regulatory proposals have been introduced at both the state and federal 
level to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products.

Moreover, payment methodologies may be subject to changes in healthcare legislation and regulatory initiatives. For example, CMS may develop new 
payment and delivery models, such as bundled payment models. In addition, recently there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner 
in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted 
federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under 
government payor programs, and review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs. We also expect that additional U.S. federal 
healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that the U.S. federal government will pay for healthcare 
products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our drug candidates, if approved for commercialization.
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In Europe, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union on January 31, 2020, and entered into a transition period that expired on December 
31, 2020. A significant portion of the previous regulatory framework in the United Kingdom was derived from the regulations of the European Union. In 
2021, the United Kingdom’s Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, or MHRA, and the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, released 
guidance explaining the new regulatory framework. We cannot predict the consequences or impact that the new regulatory framework will have on our 
future operations, if any, in these jurisdictions.

In addition, on August 16, 2022, President Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which, among other things, includes policies that are 
designed to have a direct impact on drug prices and reduce drug spending by the federal government, which took effect in 2023. Under the Inflation 
Reduction Act, Congress authorized Medicare beginning in 2026 to negotiate lower prices for certain costly single-source drug and biologic products that 
do not have competing generics or biosimilars. This provision is limited in terms of the number of pharmaceuticals whose prices can be negotiated in any 
given year and it only applies to drug products that have been approved for at least 9 years and biologics that have been licensed for 13 years. Drugs and 
biologics that have been approved for a single rare disease or condition are categorically excluded from price negotiation. Further, the new legislation 
provides that if pharmaceutical companies raise prices in Medicare faster than the rate of inflation, they must pay rebates back to the government for the 
difference. The new law also caps Medicare out-of-pocket drug costs at an estimated $4,000 a year in 2024 and, thereafter beginning in 2025, at $2,000 
a year.

Changes in government funding for the FDA and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and 
other personnel, properly administer drug innovation, or prevent our product candidates from being developed or commercialized, which 
could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels, ability to hire and 
retain key personnel, and statutory, regulatory and policy changes. In addition, there may be delays in necessary interactions with regulators, ethics 
committees and other important agencies and contractors due to limitations in employee resources or forced furlough of government or contractor 
personnel. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other agencies that fund 
research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

In December 2016, the 21st Century Cures Act was signed into law. This legislation is designed to advance medical innovation and empower the FDA 
with the authority to directly hire positions related to drug and device development and review. However, government proposals to reduce or eliminate 
budgetary deficits may include reduced allocations to the FDA and other related government agencies. These budgetary pressures may result in a 
reduced ability by the FDA to perform its roles, including the related impact to academic institutions and research laboratories whose funding is fully or 
partially dependent on both the level and timing of funding from government sources.

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for our product candidates to be reviewed or approved by necessary 
government agencies, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to “fraud and abuse” and similar laws and regulations, and a failure to comply with such regulations or prevail in any litigation 
related to noncompliance could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In the U.S., we are subject to various federal and state healthcare “fraud and abuse” laws, including anti-kickback laws, false claims laws and other laws 
intended, among other things, to reduce fraud and abuse in federal and state healthcare programs. The federal Anti-Kickback Statute makes it illegal for 
any person, including a prescription drug manufacturer, or a party acting on its behalf, to knowingly and willfully solicit, receive, offer or pay any 
remuneration that is intended to induce the referral of business, including the purchase, order or prescription of a particular drug, or other good or service 
for which payment in whole or in part may be made under a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare or Medicaid. Although we seek to structure our 
business arrangements in compliance with all applicable requirements, these laws are broadly written, and it is often difficult to determine precisely how 
the law will be applied in specific circumstances. Accordingly, it is possible that our practices may be challenged under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits anyone from, among other things, knowingly presenting or causing to be presented for payment to the government, 
including the federal healthcare programs, claims for reimbursed drugs or services that are false or fraudulent, claims for items or services that were not 
provided as claimed, or claims for medically unnecessary items or services. Under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, we are 
prohibited from knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private payors, or knowingly and willfully 
falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or 
payment for healthcare benefits, items or services to obtain money or property of any healthcare benefit program. Violations of fraud and abuse laws may 
be punishable by criminal or civil sanctions, including penalties, fines or exclusion or suspension from federal and state healthcare programs such as 
Medicare and Medicaid and debarment from contracting with the U.S. government. In addition, 

43



 

private individuals have the ability to bring actions on behalf of the government under the federal False Claims Act as well as under the false claims laws 
of several states.

Many states have adopted laws similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the referral of patients for healthcare services 
reimbursed by any source, not just governmental payors. In addition, some states have passed laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply 
with the April 2003 Office of Inspector General Compliance Program Guidance for Pharmaceutical Manufacturers or the Pharmaceutical Research and 
Manufacturers of America’s Code on Interactions with Healthcare Professionals. Several states also impose other marketing restrictions or require 
pharmaceutical companies to make marketing or price disclosures to the state. There are ambiguities as to what is required to comply with these state 
requirements and if we fail to comply with an applicable state law requirement we could be subject to penalties.

Neither the government nor the courts have provided definitive guidance on the application of fraud and abuse laws to our business. Law enforcement 
authorities are increasingly focused on enforcing these laws, and it is possible that some of our practices may be challenged under these laws. Efforts to 
ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. If we 
are found in violation of one of these laws, we could be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from 
governmental funded federal or state healthcare programs and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If this occurs, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

If we face allegations of noncompliance with the law and encounter sanctions, our reputation, revenues and liquidity may suffer, and any of 
our drug candidates that are ultimately approved for commercialization could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response, and could generate 
negative publicity. Any failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affect our ability to generate revenues from 
any of our drug candidates that are ultimately approved for commercialization. If regulatory sanctions are applied or if regulatory approval is withdrawn, 
our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected. Additionally, if we are unable to generate revenues from product 
sales, our potential for achieving profitability will be diminished and our need to raise capital to fund our operations will increase.

*Compliance with global privacy and data security requirements could result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit our ability to 
collect and process data globally, and the failure to comply with such requirements could subject us to significant fines and penalties, which 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The regulatory framework for the collection, use, safeguarding, sharing, transfer and other processing of information worldwide is rapidly evolving and is 
likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. Globally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data security and 
privacy frameworks with which we must comply. For example, the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding 
individuals in the European Union, the EU, including personal health data, is subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR, which 
took effect across all member states of the European Economic Area, or the EEA, in May 2018. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes 
numerous requirements on companies that process personal data, including requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data, obtaining 
consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, providing information to individuals regarding data processing activities, implementing 
safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of personal data, providing notification of data breaches, and taking certain measures when 
engaging third-party processors. In addition, the GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the EU, which 
includes the United States and, as a result, increases the scrutiny that clinical trial sites located in the EEA should apply to transfers of personal data 
from such sites to countries that are considered to lack an adequate level of data protection, such as the United States. The GDPR also permits data 
protection authorities to require destruction of improperly gathered or used personal information and/or impose substantial fines for violations of the 
GDPR, which can be up to 4% of global revenues or €20 million, whichever is greater, and it also confers a private right of action on data subjects and 
consumer associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages resulting from 
violations of the GDPR. In addition, the GDPR provides that EU member states may make their own additional laws and regulations limiting the 
processing of personal data, including genetic, biometric or health data.

The European Data Protection Board continues to release guidelines for industries and impose fines related to the GDPR, some of which have been very 
significant. To improve coordination among EU supervisory authorities, the European Commission has proposed a new regulation that would help to 
streamline enforcement of the GDPR in cross-border cases. Meanwhile, there continues to be persistent uncertainty relating to the transfer of personal 
data from Europe to the U.S., or other non-adequate countries, following the Schrems II decision. On July 10, 2023, the European Commission adopted 
its adequacy decision on the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework, or DPF. The decision, which took effect on the day of its adoption, concludes that the 
United States ensures an adequate level of protection for personal data transferred from the EEA to companies certified to the DPF. However, it remains 
too soon to tell 
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how the future of Privacy Shield 2.0 will evolve and what impact it will have on our international activities. At least one challenge to the DPF is pending 
before the Court of Justice of the European Union. 

Further, Brexit has led and could also lead to legislative and regulatory changes that may increase our compliance costs. As of January 1, 2021 and the 
expiry of transitional arrangements agreed to between the UK and the EU, data processing in the UK is governed by a UK version of the GDPR 
(combining the GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018), exposing us to two parallel regimes, each of which authorizes similar fines and other potentially 
divergent enforcement actions for certain violations. On June 28, 2021, the European Commission adopted an Adequacy Decision for the UK, allowing 
for the relatively free exchange of personal information between the EU and the UK (as the UK correspondingly allows transfers back to the EU). 
However, the European Commission may suspend the Adequacy Decision if it considers that the UK no longer provides for an adequate level of data 
protection. A bill to amend the existing UK framework has been reintroduced (in a different form) by the new UK Government and was announced as a 
bill which will be introduced into Parliament at the King’s Speech on July 17, 2024. At this time, there is no specific clarity on the provisions of the bill, or 
the extent to which it will amend the UK framework, beyond general descriptions on its intended purpose.

Similar actions are either in place or under way in the United States. There are a broad variety of data protection laws that are applicable to our activities, 
and a wide range of enforcement agencies at both the state and federal levels that can review companies for privacy and data security concerns based 
on general consumer protection laws. The Federal Trade Commission and state Attorneys General all are aggressive in reviewing privacy and data 
security protections for consumers. New laws also are being considered at both the state and federal levels and several states have passed 
comprehensive privacy laws. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act, or the CCPA, which went into effect on January 1, 2020, is creating 
similar risks and obligations as those created by the GDPR, though the CCPA does exempt certain clinical trial data. The California Privacy Rights Act, or 
the CPRA, which went into effect on January 1, 2023, amended and expanded the CCPA, and also created a new state agency that is vested with 
authority to implement and enforce the CCPA and the CRPA. The CCPA and the CRPA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability, and we 
cannot yet predict the impact of the CCPA or the CRPA on our business. Similar laws passed in Virginia, Colorado, Connecticut, and Utah took effect in 
2023. Additionally, Delaware, Florida, Indiana, Iowa, Montana, Oregon, Tennessee, Texas and others have adopted privacy laws, which take effect from 
July 1, 2024 through 2026. Some state laws also minimize what data can be collected from consumers and how businesses may use and disclose it. 
These state privacy laws also require businesses to make disclosures to consumers about data collection, use and sharing practices. In addition, some of 
these laws (including the CPRA), along with other standalone health privacy laws, subject health-related information to additional safeguards and 
disclosures and some specifically regulate consumer health data, such as the Washington My Health My Data Act, which became effective in 2023 and 
2024. Additionally, a broad range of legislative measures also have been introduced at the federal level. Accordingly, failure to comply with federal and 
state laws (both those currently in effect and future legislation) regarding privacy and security of personal information could expose us to fines and 
penalties under such laws. There also is the threat of consumer class actions related to these laws and the overall protection of personal data.

Given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, preparing for and complying with these requirements is rigorous and time 
intensive and requires significant resources and a review of our technologies, systems and practices, as well as those of any third-party collaborators, 
service providers, CROs, contractors or consultants that process or transfer personal data collected in the EU. The GDPR and other changes in laws or 
regulations associated with the enhanced protection of certain types of sensitive data, such as healthcare data or other personal information from our 
clinical trials, could require us to change our business practices and put in place additional compliance mechanisms, may interrupt or delay our 
development, regulatory and commercialization activities and increase our cost of doing business, and could lead to government enforcement actions, 
private litigation and significant fines and penalties against us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of 
operations. Similarly, failure to comply with federal and state laws regarding privacy and security of personal information could expose us to fines and 
penalties under such laws. Even if we are not determined to have violated these laws, government investigations into these issues typically require the 
expenditure of significant resources and generate negative publicity, which could harm our reputation and our business.

We are subject to certain U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws and 
regulations. If we fail to comply with these laws, we could be subject to civil or criminal liabilities, other remedial measures and legal 
expenses, be precluded from developing, manufacturing and selling certain products outside the United States or be required to develop and 
implement costly compliance programs, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operations are subject to anti-corruption laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, or the 
Bribery Act, and other anti-corruption laws that apply in countries where we do business and may do business in the future. The FCPA, the Bribery Act 
and these other laws generally prohibit us, our officers, and our employees and intermediaries from bribing, being bribed or making other prohibited 
payments to government officials or other persons to obtain or retain business or gain some other business advantage. Compliance with the FCPA, in 
particular, is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. In addition, the FCPA presents particular 
challenges in the pharmaceutical industry, because, in many countries, hospitals are operated by the government, and doctors and other hospital 
employees are considered foreign officials. 
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Certain payments to hospitals in connection with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be improper payments to government officials and 
have led to FCPA enforcement actions.

We may in the future operate in jurisdictions that pose a high risk of potential FCPA or Bribery Act violations, and we may participate in collaborations 
and relationships with third parties whose actions could potentially subject us to liability under the FCPA, the Bribery Act or local anti-corruption laws. In 
addition, we cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future regulatory requirements to which our international operations might be subject or the 
manner in which existing laws might be administered or interpreted. If we expand our operations outside of the United States, we will need to dedicate 
additional resources to comply with numerous laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which we plan to operate.

We are also subject to other laws and regulations governing our international operations, including regulations administered by the governments of the 
United States, the United Kingdom and authorities in the EU, including applicable export control regulations, economic sanctions on countries and 
persons, customs requirements and currency exchange regulations, collectively referred to as Trade Control Laws. In addition, various laws, regulations 
and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the United States, or the sharing with certain non-U.S. nationals, of information 
classified for national security purposes, as well as certain products and technical data relating to those products. If we expand our presence outside of 
the United States, we will be required to dedicate additional resources to comply with these laws, and these laws may preclude us from developing, 
manufacturing, or selling certain products and product candidates outside of the United States, which could limit our growth potential and increase our 
development costs.

There is no assurance that we will be completely effective in ensuring our compliance with all applicable anti-corruption laws, including the FCPA, the 
Bribery Act or other legal requirements, including Trade Control Laws. If we are not in compliance with the FCPA, the Bribery Act and other anti-
corruption laws or Trade Control Laws, we may be subject to criminal and civil penalties, disgorgement and other sanctions and remedial measures, and 
legal expenses, which could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. The SEC also may suspend 
or bar issuers from trading securities on U.S. exchanges for violations of the FCPA’s accounting provisions. Any investigation of any potential violations 
of the FCPA, the Bribery Act, other anti-corruption laws or Trade Control Laws by United States, United Kingdom or other authorities could also have an 
adverse impact on our reputation, our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Governments outside the United States tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenue, if any.

In some countries, particularly member states of the EU, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, 
pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. In addition, there can 
be considerable pressure by governments and other stakeholders on prices and reimbursement levels, including as part of cost containment measures. 
Political, economic and regulatory developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may continue after reimbursement 
has been obtained. Reference pricing used by various EU member states and parallel distribution, or arbitrage between low-priced and high-priced 
member states, can further reduce prices. In some countries, we, or our future collaborators, may be required to conduct a clinical trial or other studies 
that compare the cost-effectiveness of our product candidates to other available therapies in order to obtain or maintain reimbursement or pricing 
approval. Publication of discounts by third-party payors or authorities may lead to further pressure on the prices or reimbursement levels within the 
country of publication and other countries. If reimbursement of any product candidate approved for marketing is unavailable or limited in scope or 
amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be materially harmed.

*If we fail to retain current members of our senior management and scientific personnel, or to attract and keep additional key personnel, we 
may be unable to successfully develop or commercialize our drug candidates.

Our success depends on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management and scientific personnel. As of June 30, 2024, 
we had twenty-eight full-time employees, two part-time employees and a small number of consultants, which may make us more reliant on our individual 
employees than companies with a greater number of employees. The loss of any of our key personnel could delay or prevent the development of our 
drug candidates. These personnel are “at-will” employees and may terminate their employment with us at any time; however, our current executive officer 
has agreed to provide us with at least 60 days’ advance notice of resignation pursuant to his employment agreement with us. The replacement of key 
personnel likely would involve significant time and costs, and may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives. We do not 
maintain “key person” insurance on any of our employees.

From time to time, our management seeks the advice and guidance of certain scientific advisors and consultants regarding clinical and regulatory 
development programs and other customary matters. These scientific advisors and consultants are not our employees and may have commitments to, or 
consulting or advisory contracts with, other entities that may limit their availability to us. In addition, our scientific advisors may have arrangements with 
other companies to assist those companies in developing products or technologies that may compete with ours.
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Competition for qualified personnel is intense, especially in the greater San Diego, California area where we have a substantial presence and need for 
highly skilled personnel. We may not be successful in attracting qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. Competitors and others have in 
the past attempted, and are likely in the future to attempt, to recruit our employees. While our employees are required to sign standard agreements 
concerning confidentiality and ownership of inventions, we generally do not have employment contracts or non-competition agreements with any of our 
personnel. In addition, we may experience employee turnover as a result of the ongoing “great resignation” occurring throughout the U.S. economy, 
which has impacted job market dynamics. New hires require training and take time before they achieve full productivity. New employees may not become 
as productive as we expect, and we may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals. The loss of the services of any of our key 
personnel, the inability to attract or retain highly qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring such personnel, particularly senior management and 
other technical personnel, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We will need to increase the size of our organization and may not successfully manage our growth.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a small number of employees, and our management systems currently in place are not likely to 
be adequate to support our future growth plans. Our ability to grow and to manage our growth effectively will require us to hire, train, retain, manage and 
motivate additional employees and to implement and improve our operational, financial and management systems. These demands also may require the 
hiring of additional senior management personnel or the development of additional expertise by our senior management personnel. Hiring a significant 
number of additional employees, particularly those at the management level, would increase our expenses significantly. Moreover, if we fail to expand and 
enhance our operational, financial and management systems in conjunction with our potential future growth, it could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are exposed to product liability, non-clinical and clinical liability risks which could place a substantial financial burden upon us, should 
lawsuits be filed against us.

Our business exposes us to potential product liability and other liability risks that are inherent in the testing, manufacturing and marketing of 
pharmaceutical formulations and products. In addition, the use in our clinical trials of pharmaceutical products and the subsequent sale of these products 
by us or our potential collaborators may cause us to bear a portion of or all product liability risks. A successful liability claim or series of claims brought 
against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We currently maintain product liability insurance; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to maintain such insurance, and we 
may be unable to obtain replacement product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms or in adequate amounts. On occasion, large 
judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated adverse effects. A successful product liability claim or 
series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could adversely affect our 
results of operations and business.

Our research and development activities involve the use of hazardous materials, which subject us to regulation, related costs and delays and 
potential liabilities.

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, chemicals and various radioactive compounds, and we will 
need to develop additional safety procedures for the handling and disposing of hazardous materials. If an accident occurs, we could be held liable for 
resulting damages, which could be substantial. We are also subject to numerous environmental, health and workplace safety laws and regulations, 
including those governing laboratory procedures, exposure to blood-borne pathogens and the handling of biohazardous materials. Additional federal, 
state and local laws and regulations affecting our operations may be adopted in the future. We may incur substantial costs to comply with, and substantial 
fines or penalties if we violate any of these laws or regulations.

We rely significantly on information technology and any failure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that technology, including any 
cybersecurity incidents, could harm our ability to operate our business effectively.

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of third parties with which we contract, including our CROs 
and other business partners, are vulnerable to damage from cyber-attacks, computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and 
telecommunication and electrical failures. System failures, accidents or security breaches could cause interruptions in our operations or the operations of 
our CROs and other business partners, and could result in a material disruption of our drug development and clinical activities and business operations, 
in addition to possibly requiring substantial expenditures of resources to remedy. The loss of drug development or clinical trial data could result in delays 
in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. We have experienced cybersecurity incidents in 
the past and expect that we will experience cybersecurity incidents in the future. If we were to experience a significant cybersecurity breach of our 
information systems or data, the costs associated with the investigation, remediation and potential notification of the 
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breach to counter-parties and data subjects could be material. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage 
to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and our development programs 
and the development of our drug candidates could be delayed.

Our employees and consultants may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards 
and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk of employee or consultant fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by our employees or consultants could include intentional 
failures to comply with FDA regulations, provide accurate information to the FDA, comply with manufacturing standards, comply with federal and state 
healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations, report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular, 
sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, 
kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing 
and promotion, sales commissions, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee and consultant misconduct also could 
involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our 
reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter such misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be 
effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming 
from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending 
ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and 
result in the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions against us.

Business disruptions such as natural disasters could seriously harm our future revenues and financial condition and increase our costs and 
expenses.

Our corporate headquarters are located in greater San Diego, California, a region known for seismic activity. In addition, one of our third-party 
manufacturers is located in the southeastern part of the United States, an area subject to hurricanes and related natural disasters. Our suppliers may also 
experience a disruption in their business as a result of natural or man-made disasters. A significant natural or man-made disaster, such as an earthquake, 
prolonged or repeated power outage, hurricane, flood, fire, drought or other extreme weather events and changing weather patterns, which are 
increasing in frequency due to the impacts of climate change, could severely damage or destroy our headquarters or facilities or the facilities of our 
manufacturers or suppliers, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, 
terrorist acts or acts of war targeted at the U.S., and specifically the greater San Diego, California region, as well as the ongoing conflict between Ukraine 
and Russia and the global impact of restrictions and sanctions imposed on Russia and the Israel-Hamas war, could cause damage or disruption to us, 
our employees, facilities, partners and suppliers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We may engage in strategic transactions that could impact our liquidity, increase our expenses and present significant distractions to our 
management.

From time to time, we may consider strategic transactions, such as acquisitions of companies, asset purchases and out-licensing or in-licensing of 
products, drug candidates or technologies. Additional potential transactions that we may consider include a variety of different business arrangements, 
including spin-offs, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings, divestitures, business combinations and investments. Any such transaction may 
require us to incur non-recurring or other charges, may increase our near- and long-term expenditures and may pose significant integration challenges or 
disrupt our management or business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, these 
transactions may entail numerous operational and financial risks, including:

•exposure to unknown liabilities;

•disruption of our business and diversion of our management’s time and attention in order to develop acquired products, drug candidates or 
technologies;

•incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of equity securities to pay for any of these transactions;

•higher-than-expected transaction and integration costs;

•write-downs of assets or goodwill or impairment charges;

•increased amortization expenses;
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•difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses or product lines with our operations and personnel;

•impairment of relationships with key suppliers or customers of any acquired businesses or product lines due to changes in management and 
ownership; and

•inability to retain key employees of any acquired businesses.

Accordingly, although there can be no assurance that we will undertake or successfully complete any transactions of the nature described above, any 
transactions that we do complete may be subject to the foregoing or other risks, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Our employment agreements with our officers and certain other employees may require us to pay severance benefits to any of those persons 
who are terminated in connection with a change in control of our company, which could harm our financial condition or results.

Our officers and certain employees are parties to employment agreements that contain change in control and severance provisions in the event of a 
termination of employment in connection with a change in control of our company providing for cash payments for severance and other benefits and 
acceleration of vesting of stock options and shares of restricted stock. The accelerated vesting of options and shares of restricted stock could result in 
dilution to our existing stockholders and lower the market price of our common stock. The payment of these severance benefits could harm our financial 
condition and results. In addition, these potential severance payments may discourage or prevent third parties from seeking a business combination with 
us.

*Investors’ expectations of our performance relating to environmental, social and governance factors may impose additional costs and 
expose us to new risks.

There is an increasing focus from certain investors, employees, regulators and other stakeholders concerning corporate responsibility, specifically related 
to environmental, social and governance, or ESG, factors. Some investors and investor advocacy groups may use these factors to guide investment 
strategies and, in some cases, investors may choose not to invest in our company if they believe our policies relating to corporate responsibility are 
inadequate. Third-party providers of corporate responsibility ratings and reports on companies have increased to meet growing investor demand for 
measurement of corporate responsibility performance, and a variety of organizations currently measure the performance of companies on such ESG 
topics, and the results of these assessments are widely publicized. Investors, particularly institutional investors, use these ratings to benchmark 
companies against their peers and if we are perceived as lagging with respect to ESG initiatives, certain investors may engage with us to improve ESG 
disclosures or performance and may also make voting decisions, or take other actions, to hold us and our board of directors accountable. In addition, the 
criteria by which our corporate responsibility practices are assessed may change, which could result in greater expectations of us and cause us to 
undertake costly initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. If we elect not to or are unable to satisfy such new criteria, investors may conclude that our policies 
with respect to corporate responsibility are inadequate.

We may face reputational damage in the event our corporate responsibility initiatives or objectives do not meet the standards set by our investors, 
stockholders, lawmakers, listing exchanges or other constituencies, or if we are unable to achieve an acceptable ESG or sustainability rating from third-
party rating services. A low ESG or sustainability rating by a third-party rating service could also result in the exclusion of our common stock from 
consideration by certain investors who may elect to invest with our competition instead. Ongoing focus on corporate responsibility matters by investors 
and other parties as described above may impose additional costs or expose us to new risks. Any failure or perceived failure by us in this regard could 
have a material adverse effect on our reputation and on our business, share price, financial condition, or results of operations, including the sustainability 
of our business over time.

In addition, on March 6, 2024, the SEC finalized new rules for public companies that will require extensive climate-related disclosures and significant 
analysis of the impact of climate-related issues on our business strategy, results of operations, and financial condition, or the SEC Climate Disclosure 
Rules, and extensive attestation requirements. The new rules require disclosure of, among other things and to the extent material, our climate-related 
risks and opportunities, greenhouse gas emissions inventory, climate-related targets and goals, and financial impacts of physical and transition risks. 
Subsequently, in April 2024, the SEC issued an order staying implementation of the SEC Climate Disclosure Rules pending the resolution of certain 
challenges. Nonetheless, our legal, accounting, and other compliance expenses may increase significantly, and compliance efforts may divert 
management time and attention as we prepare for the potential implementation of the SEC Climate Disclosure Rules, and such expenses, efforts and 
diversions of management time and attention may be even greater if the SEC Climate Disclosure Rules ultimately go into effect. We may also be exposed 
to legal or regulatory action or claims as a result of these new regulations. Separately, the SEC has also announced that it is scrutinizing existing climate-
change related disclosures in public filings, increasing the potential for enforcement if the SEC were to allege our existing climate disclosures are 
misleading or deficient. All of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, and/or stock price.
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The impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war on the global economy, energy supplies and raw materials is 
uncertain, but may prove to negatively impact our business and operations.

The short and long-term implications of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war are difficult to predict at this time. We continue to monitor 
any adverse impact that the outbreak of war in Ukraine, the subsequent institution of sanctions against Russia by the United States and several European 
and Asian countries, and the Israel-Hamas war may have on the global economy in general, on our business and operations and on the businesses and 
operations of our suppliers and other third parties with which we conduct business. For example, a prolonged conflict in Ukraine or Israel may result in 
increased inflation, escalating energy prices and constrained availability, and thus increasing costs, of raw materials. We will continue to monitor this fluid 
situation and develop contingency plans as necessary to address any disruptions to our business operations as they develop. To the extent the wars in 
Ukraine or Israel may adversely affect our business as discussed above, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described 
herein. Such risks include, but are not limited to, adverse effects on macroeconomic conditions, including inflation; disruptions to our global technology 
infrastructure, including through cyberattack, ransom attack, or cyber-intrusion; adverse changes in international trade policies and relations; disruptions 
in global supply chains; and constraints, volatility, or disruption in the capital markets, any of which could negatively affect our business and financial 
condition.

Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business and financial condition.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global economy and in the global 
financial markets. A severe or prolonged economic downturn could result in a variety of risks to our business, including our ability to raise additional 
capital when needed on acceptable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy could also strain our suppliers, service providers, manufacturers or other 
partners and there is a risk that one or more would not survive or be able to meet their commitments to us under such circumstances. As widely reported, 
global credit and financial markets have experienced volatility and disruptions in the past several years and especially in 2020, 2021 and 2022 due to the 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and, more recently, the ongoing conflict between Ukraine and Russia and the global impact of restrictions and 
sanctions imposed on Russia, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic 
growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. Moreover, the global impacts of the Israel-Hamas war are still 
unknown. There can be no assurances that further deterioration in credit and financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. For 
example, U.S. debt ceiling and budget deficit concerns have increased the possibility of additional credit-rating downgrades and economic slowdowns, or 
a recession in the United States. Although U.S. lawmakers passed legislation to raise the federal debt ceiling on multiple occasions, including a 
suspension of the federal debt ceiling in June 2023, ratings agencies have lowered or threatened to lower the long-term sovereign credit rating on the 
United States. The impact of this or any further downgrades to the U.S. government’s sovereign credit rating or its perceived creditworthiness could 
adversely affect the U.S. and global financial markets and economic conditions. Absent further quantitative easing by the Federal Reserve, these 
developments could cause interest rates and borrowing costs to rise, which may negatively impact our results of operations or financial condition. 
Moreover, disagreement over the federal budget has caused the U.S. federal government to shut down for periods of time. Any of the foregoing could 
harm our business and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact 
our business.

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property

*We may not be successful in obtaining or maintaining necessary rights to our drug candidates through acquisitions and in-licenses.

We currently have intellectual property rights to develop our drug candidates through a license from Ligand. As of June 30, 2024, we owned or co-owned 
111 patent applications and 27 patents. Because our programs require the use of proprietary rights held by Ligand, the growth of our business will likely 
depend in part on our ability to maintain and exploit these proprietary rights. In addition, we may need to acquire or in-license additional intellectual 
property in the future. We may be unable to acquire or in-license any compositions, methods of use, processes or other intellectual property rights from 
third parties that we identify as necessary for our drug candidates. We face competition with regard to acquiring and in-licensing third-party intellectual 
property rights, including from a number of more established companies. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due 
to their size, cash resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a 
competitor may be unwilling to assign or license intellectual property rights to us. We also may be unable to acquire or in-license third-party intellectual 
property rights on terms that would allow us to make an appropriate return on our investment.

We may enter into collaboration agreements with U.S. and foreign academic institutions to accelerate development of our current or future preclinical 
drug candidates. Typically, these agreements include an option for us to negotiate a license to the institution’s intellectual property rights resulting from 
the collaboration. Even with such an option, we may be unable to negotiate a license within the specified timeframe or under terms that are acceptable to 
us. If we are unable to license rights from a collaborating institution, the institution may offer the intellectual property rights to other parties, potentially 
blocking our ability to pursue our desired program.
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If we are unable to successfully obtain required third-party intellectual property rights or maintain our existing intellectual property rights, including if our 
patent applications do not result in the issuance of patents, we may need to abandon development of the related program and our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we in-license intellectual property and other rights from third parties or 
otherwise experience disruptions to our business relationships with our licensors, we could lose intellectual property rights that are important 
to our business.

The Master License Agreement is important to our business and we expect to enter into additional license agreements in the future. The Master License 
Agreement imposes, and we expect that future license agreements will impose, various diligence, milestone payment, royalty and other obligations on us. 
If we fail to comply with our obligations under these agreements, or if we file for bankruptcy, we may be required to make certain payments to the 
licensor, we may lose the exclusivity of our license, or the licensor may have the right to terminate the license, in which event we would not be able to 
develop or market products covered by the license. Additionally, the milestone and other payments associated with these licenses could materially and 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Pursuant to the terms of the Master License Agreement, Ligand may terminate the Master License Agreement under certain circumstances, including, 
but not limited to: (1) in the event of our insolvency or bankruptcy, (2) if we do not pay an undisputed amount owing under the Master License Agreement 
when due and fail to cure such default within a specified period of time, or (3) if we default on certain of our material obligations and fail to cure the default 
within a specified period of time. If the Master License Agreement is terminated in its entirety or with respect to a specific licensed program for any 
reason, among other consequences, all licenses granted to us under the Master License Agreement (or with respect to the specific licensed program) will 
terminate and we may be requested to assign and transfer to Ligand certain regulatory documentation and regulatory approvals related to the licensed 
programs (or those related to the specific licensed program), and we may be required to wind down any ongoing clinical trials with respect to the licensed 
programs (or those related to the specific licensed program). Additionally, Ligand may require us to assign to Ligand the trademarks owned by us relating 
to the licensed programs (or those related to the specific licensed program), and we would be obligated to grant to Ligand a license under any patent 
rights and know-how controlled by us to the extent necessary to make, have made, import, use, offer to sell and sell the licensed programs (or those 
related to the specific licensed program) anywhere in the world at a royalty rate in the low single digits.

In some cases, patent prosecution of our licensed technology may be controlled solely by the licensor. If our licensor fails to obtain and maintain patent or 
other protection for the proprietary intellectual property we in-license, then we could lose our rights to the intellectual property or our exclusivity with 
respect to those rights, and our competitors could market competing products using the intellectual property. In certain cases, we may control the 
prosecution of patents resulting from licensed technology. In the event we breach any of our obligations related to such prosecution, we may incur 
significant liability to our licensing partners. Licensing of intellectual property is of critical importance to our business and involves complex legal, business 
and scientific issues. Disputes may arise regarding intellectual property subject to a licensing agreement, including, but not limited to:

•the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues;

•the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement;

•the sublicensing of patent and other rights;

•our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;

•the ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us and our 
collaborators; and

•the priority of invention of patented technology.

If disputes over intellectual property and other rights that we have in-licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements 
on acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected drug candidates. If we fail to comply with any such 
obligations to our licensor, such licensor may terminate their licenses to us, in which case we would not be able to market products covered by these 
licenses. The loss of our license with Ligand, and potentially other licenses that we enter into in the future, would have a material adverse effect on our 
business.
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We may be required to pay milestones and royalties to Ligand in connection with our use of the licensed technology under the Master License 
Agreement, which could adversely affect the overall profitability for us of any products that we may seek to commercialize.

Under the terms of the Master License Agreement, we may be obligated to pay Ligand up to an aggregate of approximately $1.54 billion in development, 
regulatory and sales milestones. We will also be required to pay Ligand single-digit royalties on future worldwide net product sales. These royalty 
payments could adversely affect the overall profitability for us of any products that we may seek to commercialize.

We may not be able to protect our proprietary or licensed technology in the marketplace.

We depend on our ability to protect our proprietary or licensed technology. We rely on trade secret, patent, copyright and trademark laws, and 
confidentiality, licensing and other agreements with employees and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection. Our success depends in large 
part on our ability, Ligand’s and any future licensor’s or licensee’s ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the U.S. and other countries with 
respect to our proprietary or licensed technology and products. We currently in-license most of our intellectual property rights to develop our drug 
candidates and may in-license additional intellectual property rights in the future. Under the terms of the Master License Agreement, Ligand has the first 
right to file, prosecute and maintain the patents subject to the Master License Agreement in its name. We cannot be certain that patent enforcement 
activities by our current or future licensors have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and 
enforceable patents or other intellectual property rights. We also cannot be certain that our current or future licensors will allocate sufficient resources or 
prioritize their or our enforcement of such patents. Even if we are not a party to these legal actions, an adverse outcome could prevent us from continuing 
to license intellectual property that we may need to operate our business, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

We believe we will be able to obtain, through prosecution of patent applications covering technology licensed from others, adequate patent protection for 
our proprietary drug technology, including those related to our in-licensed intellectual property. If we are compelled to spend significant time and money 
protecting or enforcing our licensed patents and future patents we may own, designing around patents held by others or licensing or acquiring, potentially 
for large fees, patents or other proprietary rights held by others, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and 
adversely affected. If we are unable to effectively protect the intellectual property that we own or in-license, other companies may be able to offer the 
same or similar products for sale, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The patents of others 
from whom we may license technology, and any future patents we may own, may be challenged, narrowed, invalidated or circumvented, which could limit 
our ability to stop competitors from marketing the same or similar products or limit the length of term of patent protection that we may have for our 
products.

*Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other 
requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection for licensed patents, pending patent applications and 
potential future patent applications and patents could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or patent applications will be due to be paid to 
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, and various governmental patent agencies outside of the U.S. in several stages over the lifetime of 
the applicable patent and/or patent application. The USPTO and various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of 
procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. In many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be 
cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules. However, there are situations in which noncompliance can 
result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. If this 
occurs with respect to our in-licensed patents or patent applications we may file in the future, our competitors might be able to use our technologies, 
which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical products are often complex and uncertain. The breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical patents in the U.S. 
and many jurisdictions outside of the U.S. is not consistent. For example, in many jurisdictions, the support standards for pharmaceutical patents are 
becoming increasingly strict. Some countries prohibit method of treatment claims in patents. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretations of patent 
laws in the U.S. and other countries may diminish the value of our licensed or owned intellectual property or create uncertainty. In addition, publication of 
information related to our current drug candidates and potential products may prevent us from obtaining or enforcing patents relating to these drug 
candidates and potential products, including without limitation composition-of-matter patents, which are generally believed to offer the strongest patent 
protection.

Our intellectual property includes licenses covering issued patents and pending patent applications for composition of matter, method of use and method 
of manufacture. As of June 30, 2024, for each of VK2809 and VK0214, we in-licensed three patents in the U.S. and 
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additional patents in certain foreign jurisdictions, and owned or co-owned and in-licensed three U.S. patents, four U.S. patent applications, and additional 
patents and patent applications in certain foreign jurisdictions. We also in-licensed one additional U.S. patent and one Japanese patent directed to 
VK0214, and owned two additional U.S. patents, two PCT applications, and several patent applications in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions 
directed to VK2809 as of June 30, 2024. For VK5211, as of June 30, 2024, we in-licensed ten patents and one patent application in the U.S. and several 
other patents and patent applications in certain foreign jurisdictions. As of June 30, 2024, for our GLP-1 program, we own one U.S. patent, additional 
patents in certain foreign jurisdictions, three PCT applications, and several patent applications in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions. With respect to 
our other current drug candidates, we have a license covering several issued patents both in the U.S. and in certain foreign jurisdictions.

Patents that we currently license and patents that we may own or license in the future do not necessarily ensure the protection of our licensed or owned 
intellectual property for a number of reasons, including, without limitation, the following:

•the patents may not be broad or strong enough to prevent competition from other products that are identical or similar to our drug candidates;

•there can be no assurance that the term of a patent can be extended under the provisions of patent term extension afforded by U.S. law or 
similar provisions in foreign countries, where available;

•the issued patents and patents that we may obtain or license in the future may not prevent generic entry into the U.S. market for our drug 
candidates;

•we do not at this time license or own a granted European patent or national phase patents in any European jurisdictions that would prevent 
generic entry into the European market for one of our primary drug candidates, VK2809;

•we, or third parties from who we in-license or may license patents, may be required to disclaim part of the term of one or more patents;

•there may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim;

•there may be prior art of which we are aware, which we do not believe affects the validity or enforceability of a patent claim, but which, 
nonetheless, ultimately may be found to affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim;

•there may be other patents issued to others that will affect our freedom to operate;

•if the patents are challenged, a court could determine that they are invalid or unenforceable;

•there might be a significant change in the law that governs patentability, validity and infringement of our licensed patents or any future patents we 
may own that adversely affects the scope of our patent rights;

•a court could determine that a competitor’s technology or product does not infringe our licensed patents or any future patents we may own; and

•the patents could irretrievably lapse due to failure to pay fees or otherwise comply with regulations or could be subject to compulsory licensing.

If we encounter delays in our development or clinical trials, the period of time during which we could market our potential products under patent 
protection would be reduced.

Our competitors may be able to circumvent our licensed patents or future patents we may own by developing similar or alternative technologies or 
products in a non-infringing manner. Our competitors may seek to market generic versions of any approved products by submitting abbreviated new drug 
applications to the FDA in which our competitors claim that our licensed patents or any future patents we may own are invalid, unenforceable or not 
infringed. Alternatively, our competitors may seek approval to market their own products similar to or otherwise competitive with our products. In these 
circumstances, we may need to defend or assert our licensed patents or any future patents we may own, including by filing lawsuits alleging patent 
infringement. In any of these types of proceedings, a court or other agency with jurisdiction may find our licensed patents or any future patents we may 
own invalid or unenforceable. We may also fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development before it is too late to obtain patent 
protection. Even if we own or in-license valid and enforceable patents, these patents still may not provide protection against competing products or 
processes sufficient to achieve our business objectives.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, ownership, priority, validity or enforceability. In this regard, third parties may 
challenge our licensed patents or any future patents we may own in the courts or patent offices in the U.S. and 
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abroad. Such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or freedom to operate or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in 
whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration 
of the patent protection of our technology and potential products. In addition, given the amount of time required for the development, testing and 
regulatory review of new drug candidates, patents protecting such drug candidates might expire before or shortly after such drug candidates are 
commercialized.

We may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which may prevent or delay our drug development efforts and prevent us from 
commercializing or increase the costs of commercializing our products.

Our commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. 
For example, there could be issued patents of which we are not aware that our current or potential future drug candidates infringe. There also could be 
patents that we believe we do not infringe, but that we may ultimately be found to infringe.

Moreover, patent applications are in some cases maintained in secrecy until patents are issued. The publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent 
literature frequently occurs substantially later than the date on which the underlying discoveries were made and patent applications were filed. Because 
patents can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending applications of which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that 
our drug candidates or potential products infringe. For example, pending applications may exist that claim or can be amended to claim subject matter that 
our drug candidates or potential products infringe. Competitors may file continuing patent applications claiming priority to already issued patents in the 
form of continuation, divisional, or continuation-in-part applications, in order to maintain the pendency of a patent family and attempt to cover our drug 
candidates.

Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization and may sue us for patent or other intellectual property 
infringement. These lawsuits are costly and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and divert the attention of 
managerial and scientific personnel. If we are sued for patent infringement, we would need to demonstrate that our drug candidates, potential products or 
methods either do not infringe the claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid, and we may not be able to do this. Proving invalidity 
is difficult. For example, in the U.S., proving invalidity requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of validity 
enjoyed by issued patents. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs and the time and attention of our management 
and scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, we may not have 
sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion. If a court holds that any third-party patents are valid, enforceable and cover our 
products or their use, the holders of any of these patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize our products unless we acquire or obtain a 
license under the applicable patents or until the patents expire.

We may not be able to enter into licensing arrangements or make other arrangements at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms. Any inability to 
secure licenses or alternative technology could result in delays in the introduction of our products or lead to prohibition of the manufacture or sale of 
products by us. Even if we are able to obtain a license, it may be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed 
to us. We could be forced, including by court order, to cease commercializing the infringing technology or product. In addition, in any such proceeding or 
litigation, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a 
patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our drug candidates or force us to cease some of our business operations, which 
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any claims by third parties that we have misappropriated 
their confidential information or trade secrets could have a similar material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability 
to raise the funds necessary to continue our operations.

Any claims or lawsuits relating to infringement of intellectual property rights brought by or against us will be costly and time consuming and 
may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be required to initiate litigation to enforce or defend our licensed and owned intellectual property. For example, we were previously aware of at 
least two third-party companies that were selling products in the U.S. bearing the name “LGD-4033,” which is the name previously used by Ligand to 
refer to VK5211, without authority from either us or Ligand, and we may experience other potential intellectual property infringement in the future. In 
addition, in December 2022, we filed suit against Ascletis Bioscience Co., Ltd., Gannex Pharma Co., Ltd., Ascletis Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., Ascletis 
Pharma Inc., and Jinzi Jason Wu, or the Ascletics Defendants, in the Southern District of California, San Diego division, alleging, among other things: (1) 
violation of the Defend Trade Secrets Act; (2) violation of the California Uniform Trade Secrets Act; (3) breach of contract; (4) breach of the implied 
covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and (5) tortious interference with contract. In a related action, we also filed suit against the same Ascletis 
Defendants in the International Trade Commission for unlawful and unfair methods of competition. Lawsuits to protect our intellectual property rights can 
be time consuming and costly. There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biopharmaceutical 
industry generally. Such litigation or proceedings could increase our operating expenses and reduce the resources available for development activities or 
any future sales, marketing or distribution activities.
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In any infringement litigation, any award of monetary damages we receive may not be commercially valuable. Furthermore, because of the substantial 
amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be 
compromised by disclosure during litigation. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will have sufficient financial or other resources to file and 
pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for years before they are resolved. Further, any claims we assert against a perceived infringer could 
provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we have infringed their patents. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the 
costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation 
and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace.

In addition, our licensed patents and patent applications, and patents and patent applications that we may apply for, own or license in the future, could 
face other challenges, such as interference proceedings, opposition proceedings, re-examination proceedings and other forms of post-grant review. Any 
of these challenges, if successful, could result in the invalidation of, or in a narrowing of the scope of, any of our licensed patents and patent applications 
and patents and patent applications that we may apply for, own or license in the future. Any of these challenges, regardless of their success, would likely 
be time-consuming and expensive to defend and resolve and would divert our management and scientific personnel’s time and attention.

In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities 
analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

Changes in U.S. patent law or the patent law of other countries or jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby 
impairing our ability to protect our products.

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and 
enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is costly, time-consuming and inherently 
uncertain. For example, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith 
Act included a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law, including provisions that affect the way patent applications will be prosecuted and that 
may also affect patent litigation. In particular, under the Leahy-Smith Act, the United States transitioned in March 2013 to a “first to file” system in which 
the first inventor to file a patent application is typically entitled to the patent. Third parties are allowed to submit prior art before the issuance of a patent 
by the USPTO, and may become involved in post-grant proceedings, including opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter partes review or interference 
proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could 
reduce the scope or enforceability of, or invalidate, our patent rights, which could adversely affect our competitive position.

In addition, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in 
certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to 
obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on 
decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that 
would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we might obtain in the future.

Similarly, changes in patent law and regulations in other countries or jurisdictions or changes in the governmental bodies that enforce them or changes in 
how the relevant governmental authority enforces patent laws or regulations may weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we 
have licensed or that we may obtain in the future. For example, the complexity and uncertainty of European patent laws have also increased in recent 
years. In Europe, in June 2023, a new unitary patent system was introduced, which will significantly impact European patents, including those granted 
before the introduction of the system. Under the unitary patent system, after a European patent is granted, the patent proprietor can request unitary 
effect, thereby getting a European patent with unitary Effect, or a Unitary Patent. Each Unitary Patent is subject to the jurisdiction of the Unitary Patent 
Court, or the UPC. As the UPC is a new court system, there is no precedent for the court, increasing the uncertainty of any litigation. Patents granted 
before the implementation of the UPC will have the option of opting out of the jurisdiction of the UPC and remaining as national patents in the UPC 
countries. Patents that remain under the jurisdiction of the UPC may be potentially vulnerable to a single UPC-based revocation challenge that, if 
successful, could invalidate the patent in all countries who are signatories to the UPC. We cannot predict with certainty the long-term effects of the new 
unitary patent system.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on drug candidates throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. Competitors may use our licensed 
and owned technologies in jurisdictions where we have not licensed or obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export 
otherwise infringing products to territories where we may obtain or license patent protection, but where patent enforcement is not as strong as that in the 
U.S. These products may compete with our products in 
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jurisdictions where we do not have any issued or licensed patents and any future patent claims or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or 
sufficient to prevent them from so competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems 
of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, 
particularly those relating to biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our licensed patents and future patents we 
may own, or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect 
proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the U.S. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and 
defending our licensed and owned intellectual property both in the U.S. and abroad. For example, China, where we currently have a number of licensed 
patents and licensed and owned patent applications, currently affords less protection to a company’s intellectual property than some other jurisdictions. 
As such, the lack of strong patent and other intellectual property protection in China may significantly increase our vulnerability regarding unauthorized 
disclosure or use of our intellectual property and undermine our competitive position. Proceedings to enforce our future patent rights, if any, in foreign 
jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.

Many countries, including European Union countries, India, Japan and China, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be 
compelled under certain circumstances to grant licenses to third parties. In those countries, as of June 30, 2024, we had several licensed and owned 
patents and several licensed and owned patent applications and may have limited remedies if such patents are infringed or if we are compelled to grant a 
license to a third party, which could materially diminish the value of such patents. This could limit our potential revenue opportunities. Accordingly, our 
efforts to enforce intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual 
property that we own or license.

We may be unable to adequately prevent unauthorized disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.

In order to protect our proprietary and licensed technology and processes, we rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our corporate partners, 
employees, consultants, manufacturers, outside scientific collaborators and sponsored researchers and other advisors. These agreements may not 
effectively prevent unauthorized disclosure of our confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized 
disclosure of confidential information. For example, in our suit against the Ascletis Defendants that we filed in the Southern District of California, San 
Diego division, in December 2022, we brought claims related to breach of confidential disclosure agreements. There can be no assurance that we will be 
successful in this suit. In addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information. Failure to obtain or maintain trade 
secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business position.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential 
information of third parties.

We employ individuals who were previously employed at other biopharmaceutical companies. Although we have no knowledge of any such claims 
against us, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or 
disclosed confidential information of our employees’ former employers or other third parties. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. 
There is no guarantee of success in defending these claims, and even if we are successful, litigation could result in substantial cost and be a distraction 
to our management and other employees. To date, none of our employees have been subject to such claims.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our licensed patents, any future patents we may own and other intellectual 
property.

Although we are not currently experiencing any claims challenging the inventorship of our licensed patents or our licensed or owned intellectual property, 
we may in the future be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our licensed patents or other 
licensed or owned intellectual property as an inventor or co-inventor. For example, we may have inventorship disputes arise from conflicting obligations 
of consultants or others who are involved in developing our drug candidates. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims 
challenging inventorship. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property 
rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial 
costs and be a distraction to management and other employees.

56



 

If we do not obtain additional protection under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments and similar foreign legislation extending the terms of our 
licensed patents and any future patents we may own, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and 
adversely affected.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA regulatory approval for our drug candidates, one or more of our licensed U.S. patents or future 
U.S. patents that we may license or own may be eligible for limited patent term restoration under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term 
Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five 
years as compensation for patent term lost during drug development and the FDA regulatory review process. This period is generally one-half the time 
between the effective date of an investigational new drug application (falling after issuance of the patent), and the submission date of an NDA, plus the 
time between the submission date of an NDA and the approval of that application. Patent term restorations, however, cannot extend the remaining term 
of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval by the FDA.

The application for patent term extension is subject to approval by the USPTO, in conjunction with the FDA. It takes at least six months to obtain approval 
of the application for patent term extension. We may not be granted an extension because of, for example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, 
failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or the 
scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or restoration or the term of any such 
extension is less than we request, the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product will be shortened and our competitors 
may obtain earlier approval of competing products, and our ability to generate revenues could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile.

The trading price of our common stock is likely to be volatile. Our stock price could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a variety of factors, 
including the following:

•any delay in filing an NDA for any of our drug candidates and any adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect to the 
FDA’s review of that NDA;

•adverse results or delays in clinical trials, if any;

•significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation;

•inability to obtain additional funding;

•failure to successfully develop and commercialize our drug candidates;

•changes in laws or regulations applicable to our drug candidates;

•inability to obtain adequate product supply for our drug candidates, or the inability to do so at acceptable prices;

•unanticipated serious safety concerns related to any of our drug candidates;

•adverse regulatory decisions;

•introduction of new products or technologies by our competitors;

•failure to meet or exceed drug development or financial projections we provide to the public;

•failure to meet or exceed the estimates and projections of the investment community;

•the perception of the biopharmaceutical industry by the public, legislatures, regulators and the investment community;

•announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our competitors;

•disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for our 
licensed and owned technologies;

•additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel;
57



 

•changes in the market valuations of similar companies;

•general economic and market conditions and overall fluctuations in the U.S. equity market;

•public health emergencies such as the COVID-19 pandemic;

•sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders in the future; and

•trading volume of our common stock.

In addition, the stock market, in general, and small biopharmaceutical companies, in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations 
that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively 
affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. Further, a decline in the financial markets and related 
factors beyond our control may cause our stock price to decline rapidly and unexpectedly.

An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained, and you may not be able to resell your common stock at a desired 
market price.

If no active trading market for our common stock is sustained, you may be unable to sell your shares when you wish to sell them or at a price that you 
consider attractive or satisfactory. The lack of an active market may also adversely affect our ability to raise capital by selling securities in the future, or 
impair our ability to acquire or in-license other drug candidates, businesses or technologies using our shares as consideration.

*Our management owns a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder 
approval.

As of June 30, 2024, our executive officers, directors and 5% or greater stockholders beneficially owned 32.8% of our common stock. Therefore, our 
executive officers, directors and 5% or greater stockholders have the ability to influence us through this ownership position.

This concentration of stock ownership may adversely affect the trading price for our common stock because investors often perceive disadvantages in 
owning stock in companies with controlling stockholders. As a result, these stockholders, if they acted together, could materially influence all matters 
requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions. These 
stockholders may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. The interests of these stockholders may not always coincide with our 
interests or the interests of other stockholders. This may also prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that 
you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not necessarily 
those of other stockholders, including seeking a premium value for their common stock, and might affect the prevailing market price for our common 
stock.

We are no longer a “smaller reporting company” within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and as a result we are subject 
to certain enhanced disclosure requirements which will require us to incur significant expenses and expend time and resources. 

We are no longer a “smaller reporting company,” as of January 1, 2024 and, as a result, we are or will be required to comply with various disclosure and 
compliance requirements that did not previously apply, such as the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
as amended, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the requirement that we hold a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and obtain shareholder 
approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved, the requirement to provide full and more detailed executive compensation 
disclosure and the reduction in the amount of time for filing our periodic and annual reports. Compliance with these additional requirements increases our 
legal and financial compliance costs and causes management and other personnel to divert attention from operational and other business matters to 
these additional public company reporting requirements. In addition, if we are not able to comply with changing requirements in a timely manner, the 
market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to delisting proceedings by the stock exchange on which our common shares are listed, 
or sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.

We became a large-accelerated filer effective January 1, 2024. We reassessed, as of June 30, 2024, and determined that we continue to qualify as a 
large accelerated filer for filings beyond the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. We will need to reassess, as of June 30, 2025, whether we will 
continue to qualify as a large accelerated filer for filings beyond the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025.
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Our internal control over financial reporting may not meet the standards required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and failure to 
achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, could have 
a material adverse effect on our business and share price. 

During the fiscal year 2023, our management was required to report, on a quarterly basis, on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting. Commencing with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, in addition to our management’s report on the effectiveness of our internal 
controls over financial reporting, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404. The rules governing the standards that must be met for our management and our independent registered 
public accounting firm to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and possible 
remediation. 

In connection with the implementation of the necessary procedures and practices related to internal control over financial reporting, we may identify 
deficiencies or material weaknesses that we may not be able to remediate in time to meet the deadline imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for 
compliance with the requirements of Section 404. In addition, we may encounter problems or delays in completing the implementation of any requested 
improvements and receiving a favorable attestation in connection with the attestation provided by our independent registered public accounting firm. 
Failure to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations and could limit our ability to report our financial results accurately and in a timely manner.

As a result of operating as a public company, we may incur significantly increased costs and our management and other personnel will be 
required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company and particularly after December 31, 2023, when we ceased to be a “smaller reporting company” and “non-accelerated filer,” and 
became a “large accelerated filer”, we expect to incur additional significant legal, accounting and other expenses. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or the Dodd-Frank Act, as well as rules subsequently implemented by the SEC 
and The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC have imposed various requirements on public companies. There are significant corporate governance and executive 
compensation related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these areas. Stockholder 
activism, the current political environment and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new 
regulations and disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact (in ways we cannot currently anticipate) the manner in 
which we operate our business. We have a small management team that, along with other personnel, will need to devote a substantial amount of time to 
these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities 
more time-consuming and costly. For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain 
director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain our current levels of such insurance coverage.

As a publicly traded company, we have incurred and will incur legal, accounting and other expenses associated with the SEC reporting requirements 
applicable to a company whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act, as well as corporate governance requirements, including those under 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act and other rules implemented by the SEC and The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC. In addition, we expect that we 
will need to hire additional personnel in our finance department to help us comply with the various requirements applicable to public companies. The 
expenses incurred by public companies generally to meet SEC reporting, Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance, finance and accounting and corporate 
governance requirements have been increasing in recent years as a result of changes in, and the adoption of, new rules and regulations applicable to 
public companies.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, our stock price 
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our 
business. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock 
price would likely decline. In addition, if our operating results fail to meet the forecast of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of 
these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which might 
cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders or future issuances of our 
common stock or rights to purchase our common stock, could cause our stock price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholders in the public market, or the perception that these sales might 
occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We 
are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock.
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Our management will continue to have broad discretion over the use of the proceeds we received from our prior financings and available 
cash, and might not apply the proceeds in ways that increase the value of your investment.

Our management will continue to have broad discretion to use the net proceeds from our prior financings and available cash and you will be relying on 
the judgment of our management regarding the application of these proceeds. Our management might not apply the proceeds in ways that ultimately 
increase the value of your investment and the failure by our management to apply these proceeds effectively could harm our business. Because of the 
number and variability of factors that will determine our use of these remaining net proceeds, their ultimate use may vary substantially from their currently 
intended use. If we do not invest or apply these net proceeds in ways that enhance stockholder value, we may fail to achieve the expected financial 
results, which could cause our stock price to decline.

We are at risk of securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is 
especially relevant for us because biopharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such 
litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to certain limitations.

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $98.7 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards, of which $17.8 million will begin to expire in 
2032 and the remaining $80.9 million of which can be carried forward indefinitely. We have $79.9 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that will 
begin to expire in 2034. 

Our ability to utilize our federal net operating loss carryforwards may be limited under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or 
the Code. In the event of an “ownership change,” Section 382 imposes an annual limitation on the amount of post-ownership change taxable income that 
may be offset with pre-ownership change net operating losses of the loss corporation experiencing the ownership change. An “ownership change” is 
defined by Section 382 as a cumulative change in ownership of our company of more than 50% within a three-year period. Additionally, we have 
determined that our underwritten public offering of common stock completed in February 2018 resulted in an “ownership change” of us. However, as of 
December 31, 2023, there is no limitation on the federal and state net operating losses. In addition, current or future changes in our stock ownership may 
trigger an “ownership change,” some of which may be outside our control. Accordingly, our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards to offset 
federal taxable income, if any, will likely be limited by Section 382, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us.

We may never pay dividends on our common stock so any returns would be limited to the appreciation of our stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, 
operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any return to 
stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware 
law, could make it more difficult or expensive for a third party to acquire us or change our board of directors or current management.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if 
an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management. 
These provisions include:

•authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without 
stockholder approval;

•limiting the removal of directors by the stockholders;

•creating a classified board of directors;

•providing that no stockholder is permitted to cumulate votes at any election of directors;

•allowing the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;

•prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
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•requiring the approval of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to amend or repeal 
specified provisions of our charter documents;

•eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders; and

•establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at 
stockholder meetings.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for 
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, we are 
subject to Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or the DGCL, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from 
engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the 
stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless such transactions are approved in advance by our board of directors or ratified by our board of 
directors and certain of our stockholders. This provision could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control, whether or not it is desired by 
or beneficial to our stockholders. Further, other provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging 
with us.

Our amended and restated bylaws designate the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types 
of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial 
forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will 
be the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary 
duty owed by any director, officer or other employee to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim against us or our directors, officers or 
employees arising pursuant to any provision of our amended and restated bylaws, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or the DGCL, (4) 
any action asserting a claim against us or our directors, officers or employees that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, or (5) any action to 
interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our amended and restated bylaws or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Any 
person purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to this 
provision of our amended and restated bylaws. This choice-of-forum provision may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it 
finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits. In addition, a stockholder that is 
unable to bring a claim in the judicial forum of its choosing may be required to incur additional costs in the pursuit of actions that are subject to these 
exclusive forum provisions, particularly if the stockholder does not reside in or near Delaware. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision of our 
amended and restated bylaws inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur 
additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

Insider Adoption or Termination of Trading Arrangements:

During the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2024, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended) adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities that was intended to satisfy the 
affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K, except as 
described in the table below:

 

Name & Title Date Adopted Type of Plan
Aggregate Number of Shares 
of Common Stock to be Sold 

Pursuant to Trading 
Arrangement

Duration

Brian Lian, President, Chief 
Executive Officer and Director May 8, 2024 Rule 10b5-1 trading 

arrangement 330,000 August 8, 2025

J. Matthew Singleton, Director May 16, 2024 Rule 10b5-1
 trading arrangement 90,786 August 14, 2026

Sarah K. Rouan, Ph.D., Director May 20, 2024 Rule 10b5-1 trading 
arrangement 44,000 August 19, 2025

Lawson Macartney, Ph.D., Director May 22, 2024 Rule 10b5-1 trading 
arrangement 38,000 February 21, 2025

1.The trading arrangement permits transactions through and including the earlier to occur of (a) the date that all shares subject to the trading 
arrangement have been sold and (b) the date listed in the table.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

 

Description  
Registrant’s

Form

 Date Filed
with the

SEC

 
Exhibit
Number

         

    3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.  S-1  7/1/2014  3.3
         

    3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Viking Therapeutics, Inc., effective as of May 9, 
2023.

 
8-K

 
5/11/2023

 
3.1

         

    4.1  Form of Common Stock Certificate.  S-1  7/1/2014  4.1
         

    10.1^*  Master License Agreement, dated May 21, 2014, by and among Viking 
Therapeutics, Inc., Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Metabasis 
Therapeutics, Inc.

 

 

 

 

 

 
         

    10.2^*  First Amendment to Master License Agreement, dated September 6, 2014, by and 
among Viking Therapeutics, Inc., Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and 
Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

 

 

 

 

 

 
         

    10.3^*  Second Amendment to Master License Agreement, dated April 8, 2015, by and 
among Viking Therapeutics, Inc., Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and 
Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

 

 

 

 

 

 
         

    10.4#  Viking Therapeutics, Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive Plan.  S-8  5/22/2024  4.2
         

    10.5#  Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the Viking Therapeutics, Inc. 2024 
Equity Incentive Plan.

 
S-8

 
5/22/2024

 
4.3

         

    10.6#  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Viking Therapeutics, Inc. 
2024 Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
S-8

 
5/22/2024

 
4.4

         

    10.7#  Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Viking Therapeutics, Inc. 
2024 Equity Incentive Plan.

 
S-8

 
5/22/2024

 
4.5

         

    10.8#  2024 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  S-8  5/22/2024  4.6
         
    31.1  Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-

14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 

 
 

 
 

 
         

    31.2  Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

 
 

 
 

 
 

         

    32.1  Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 

 

 

 

 

 
         

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the 
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document.

 

 

 

 

 

 
         

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents.       
         

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in 
Exhibit 101)

 
 

 
 

 
 

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following formatted in iXBRL (Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance 
Sheets as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

* Filed herewith. 
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^ Certain identified information has been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K because such information is both (i) not material and (ii) 
information that the Registrant treats as private or confidential. The Registrant hereby undertakes to furnish supplemental copies of the unredacted 
exhibit upon request by the SEC.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 
   Viking Therapeutics, Inc.
      
Date: July 24, 2024   By:  /s/ Brian Lian, Ph.D.
     Brian Lian, Ph.D.
 

  
 

 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)
      
Date: July 24, 2024   By:  /s/ Greg Zante
     Greg Zante
 

  
 

 
Chief Financial Officer

 (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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 Exhibit 10.1
 
 

***Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it both (i) is not material and (ii) is the type 
that the company treats as private or confidential. Such omitted information is indicated by brackets (“[...***...]”) in this 

exhibit.***
 

MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT

 

Dated May 21, 2014

by and between

 Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc., on one hand,

and

Viking Therapeutics, Inc., on the other

 
 



 

MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT

THIS MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of May 21, 2014 (the “Effective Date”) by and 
between Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey Pines 
Road, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Metabasis”) and Ligand Pharmaceuticals 
Incorporated, a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey Pines Road, Suite 200, La Jolla, 
CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Ligand” and, together with Metabasis, the “Ligand Party”) on one hand, 
and Viking Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey Pines Road, 
Suite 50, La Jolla, CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns “Viking”). Viking, on the one hand, and Metabasis and 
Ligand, together on the other hand, shall each be referred to herein as a “Party” or, collectively, as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, each Ligand Party is a pharmaceutical company which has engaged in the discovery and development of the 
Compounds (as hereinafter defined);

WHEREAS, Viking is engaged in the research, development, manufacturing and commercialization of pharmaceuticals 
products, and Viking is interested in developing and commercializing products containing or comprising the Compounds; 

WHEREAS, Metabasis, Ligand and Viking have entered into the Option Agreement pursuant to which Viking has an Option 
to acquire rights to the FBPase program on the terms and conditions set forth in the Option Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Viking desires to license from Licensor and Licensor wishes to license to Viking, on an exclusive basis, the 
right to develop and commercialize products comprising the Compounds, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the various promises and undertakings set forth herein, the Parties agree as 
follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

1.1“Adverse Event” means any serious untoward medical occurrence in a patient or subject who is administered a 
Licensed Product.

1.2“Affiliate” means a Person or entity that controls, is controlled by or is under common control with a Party, but only for so 
long as such control exists. For the purposes of this Section 1.2, the word “control” (including, with correlative meaning, the terms 
“controlled by” or “under common control with”) means the actual power, either directly or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, to direct the management and policies of such Person or entity, whether by the 
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ownership of at least 50% of the voting stock of such entity, or by contract or otherwise; provided, however, the use of “Affiliate” in 
this Agreement: (a) with respect to the Patents and Know-How licensed under Section 2.1(a) by Licensor shall exclude any Patents 
and Know-How of any Change of Control Affiliate; and notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or otherwise, in all cases, all 
Patents, Know-How, information and materials included within the rights licensed to Viking under Section 2.1(a) by Licensor prior to 
the time that such Change of Control occurs shall continue to be included in the licensed rights following such Change of Control; (b) 
with respect to Licensor’s obligations in Section 2.3 regarding technology transfer shall exclude any Know-How of a Change of 
Control Affiliate; (c) with respect to Licensor’s obligations in Section 2.5 regarding non-competition shall exclude any Change of 
Control Affiliate only if such Change of Control Affiliate is already engaged in substantial competitive development and 
commercialization activities as of the date of the definitive agreement governing such Change of Control and solely with respect to 
such pre-existing activities; and (d) for all other purposes, including with respect to all other obligations of Licensor under this 
Agreement, such Change of Control Affiliate shall be bound by the terms of this Agreement following such Change of Control. 

1.3“Calendar Quarter” means each three month period commencing January 1, April 1, July 1 or October 1, provided 
however that (i) the first Calendar Quarter of the Term shall extend from the Effective Date to the end of the first full Calendar 
Quarter thereafter, and (ii) the last Calendar Quarter of the Term shall end upon the termination of this Agreement.

1.4“Calendar Year” means the period beginning on the 1st of January and ending on the 31st of December of the same 
year; provided however that (i) the first Calendar Year of the Term shall commence on the Effective Date and end on December 31 
of the same calendar year as the Effective Date, and (ii) the last Calendar Year of the Term shall commence on January 1 of the 
Calendar Year in which this Agreement terminates or expires and end on the date of termination of this Agreement.

1.5“Change of Control” means:

(a)a transaction or series of related transactions that results in the sale, lease, license or other disposition of all or 
substantially all of a Party’s or other applicable entity’s assets; or

(b)a merger or consolidation in which a Party or other applicable entity is not the surviving corporation or in which, if 
a Party is the surviving corporation, the shareholders of such Party or other applicable entity immediately before the consummation 
of such merger or consolidation do not, immediately after consummation of such merger or consolidation, possess a majority of the 
voting power of all of the Party’s or other applicable entity’s outstanding stock and other securities and the power to elect a majority 
of the members of the Party’s or other applicable entity’s board of directors (or similar governing body); or

(c)a transaction or series of related transactions (which may include without limitation a tender offer for a Party’s or 
other applicable entity’s stock or the issuance, sale or exchange of stock of a Party or other applicable entity) if the shareholders of 
such Party or other applicable entity immediately before the initial such transaction do not, immediately after consummation of such 
transaction or any of such related transactions, own stock or other securities of the entity that possesses a majority of the voting 
power of all of the Party’s or other applicable entity’s outstanding stock and other securities and the power to elect a majority of the 
members of the Party’s or other applicable entity’s board of directors (or similar governing body).
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change of Control with respect to a Ligand Party shall not include any of the following: (i) a 
sale, lease, license, other disposition, merger or consolidation in one transaction or a series of related transactions of all or 
substantially all of a Ligand Party’s assets to an Affiliate of such Ligand Party; (ii) a reincorporation of a Ligand Party solely to change 
its jurisdiction; or (iii) a transaction undertaken for the primary purpose of creating a holding company that will be owned in 
substantially the same proportion by the persons who held the Ligand Party’s securities immediately before such transaction.

1.6“Change of Control Affiliate” means a Third Party that controls Ligand due to a Change of Control of Ligand occurring 
after the Effective Date (with “control” having the meaning set forth in “Affiliate” above). For clarity, a Third Party that Ligand or 
Metabasis controls is not a Change of Control Affiliate.

1.7“Clinical Trial” means a Phase 1 Trial, a Phase 2 Trial or a Phase 3 Trial.

1.8“Combination Product” means a product containing a Licensed Product together with one or more other active 
ingredients, or with one or more products, devices, pieces of equipment or components.

1.9“Commercialization” or “Commercialize” means any and all activities undertaken at any time for a particular Licensed 
Product and that relate to the manufacturing for commercial sale, marketing, promoting, distributing, importing or exporting for sale, 
offering for sale, and selling of a Licensed Product, and interacting with Regulatory Authorities regarding the foregoing.

1.10“Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means, (a) with respect to the efforts to be expended by any Party with respect to 
any objective, such reasonable, diligent, and good faith efforts normally used to accomplish a similar objective under similar 
circumstances, and (b) with respect to any objective relating to Development or Commercialization of a particular Licensed Product 
by Viking, the application by Viking of efforts and resources, including reasonably necessary personnel, equivalent to the efforts that 
a similarly situated biotechnology company would typically devote to a product at a similar stage in its product life as such Licensed 
Product and having profit potential and strategic value comparable to that of such Licensed Product, taking into account, without 
limitation, commercial, legal and regulatory factors, target product profiles, product labeling, past product performance, the regulatory 
environment and competitive market conditions in the therapeutic area, safety and efficacy of such Licensed Product, the strength of 
its proprietary position and such other factors as Viking may reasonably consider, all based on conditions then prevailing. 
Commercially Reasonable Efforts will not mean that a Party commits that it will actually accomplish the applicable task.

1.11“Competing Product” means any product an active pharmaceutical ingredient of which is any one or more of the 
Compounds listed on SCHEDULE 1. For clarity, a Competing Product shall be determined by reference to the Compounds set forth on 
SCHEDULE 1 as of the Effective Date; provided, that FBPase Compounds shall be determined by reference to FBPase Compounds 
set forth SCHEDULE 1 as updated as of the date of the payment of the Exercise Fee; provided further, if the Option expires prior to the 
payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking, no FBPase Compounds shall be deemed listed on SCHEDULE 1.

1.12“Compound(s)” means (a) DGAT-1 Compounds, (b) EPOR Compounds, (c) SARM Compounds, (d) TR-Beta 
Compounds, and (e) FBPase Compounds; provided, that no FBPase 
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Compounds shall be included in this definition if the Option expires prior to the payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking. 

1.13“Confidential Information” of a Party means information relating to the business, operations and products of a Party or 
any of its Affiliates, including but not limited to, any technical information, Know-How, trade secrets, or inventions (whether patentable 
or not), not known or generally available to the public, that such Party discloses to the other Party under this Agreement, or which 
otherwise becomes known to the other Party by virtue of this Agreement.

1.14“Controlled” means, with respect to (a) Patent Rights, (b) Know-How or (c) biological, chemical or physical material, 
that a Party or one of its Affiliates owns or has a license or sublicense to such Patent Rights, Know-How or material (or in the case of 
material, has the right to physical possession of such material) and has the ability to grant a sublicense to such Patent Rights, Know-
How or material as provided for in this Agreement without violating the terms of any agreement or other arrangement with any Third 
Party.

1.15“Cover”, “Covering” or “Covered” means, with respect to a Licensed Product, that the manufacturing, importing, using, 
selling, or offering for sale of such Licensed Product would, but for a license granted under this Agreement to the relevant Patent 
Rights, infringe a Valid Claim of the relevant Patent Rights in the country in which the activity occurs.

1.16“Development” or “Develop” means, with respect to a Licensed Product, the performance of all pre-clinical, clinical and 
other development (including, without limitation, toxicology, pharmacology, test method development and stability testing, process 
development, formulation development, quality control development, statistical analysis) and Clinical Trials.

1.17“DGAT-1 Compounds” means Metabasis’ MB11210 compound, and any other compounds comprised by the DGAT-1 
Patents, and any salts, hydrates, solvates, esters, metabolites, intermediates, stereoisomers, polymorphs, and derivatives of such 
compounds. The DGAT-1 Compounds include those compounds listed on SCHEDULE 1 hereto under the heading “DGAT-1 
Compounds” (which is correct as of the Effective Date). 

1.18“DGAT-1 Patents” means all Patent Rights set forth on SCHEDULE 4 hereto under the heading “DGAT-1 Patents” (which 
is correct as of the Effective Date and which shall be updated as set forth in Section 2.6 to include any new Patent Right Controlled 
by Licensor during the Term which Covers any DGAT-1 Compounds or the DGAT-1 Program).

1.19“DGAT-1 Program” means the research and development program particularly pertaining to the DGAT-1 Compounds 
which was heretofore conducted by Licensor and which is anticipated to be conducted after the Effective Date by Viking.

1.20“EMA” means the European Medicines Agency or any successor agency.

1.21“EPOR Compounds” means Ligand’s LG5640 compound, and any other compounds comprised by the EPOR Patents, 
and any salts, hydrates, solvates, esters, metabolites, intermediates, stereoisomers, polymorphs, and derivatives of such 
compounds. The EPOR Compounds include those compounds listed on SCHEDULE 1 hereto under the heading “EPOR Compounds” 
(which is correct as of the Effective Date).
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1.22“EPOR Patents” means all Patent Rights set forth on SCHEDULE 4 hereto under the heading “EPOR Patents” (which is 
correct as of the Effective Date and which shall be updated as set forth in Section 2.6 to include any new Patent Right Controlled by 
Licensor during the Term which Covers any EPOR Compounds or the EPOR Program).

1.23“EPOR Program” means the research and development program particularly pertaining to the EPOR Compounds 
which was heretofore conducted by Licensor and which is anticipated to be conducted after the Effective Date by Viking.

1.24 “European Commission” means the authority within the European Union that has the legal authority to grant 
Regulatory Approvals in the European Union based on input received from the EMA or other competent Regulatory Authorities.

1.25“Exercise Fee” means the option exercise fee payable by Viking to Metabasis pursuant to the Option Agreement and 
SCHEDULE 6 of this Agreement.

1.26“FBPase Compounds” means Licensor’s proprietary fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase inhibitors known as CS-917 and 
MB07803, and any other compounds comprised by the FBPase Patents, and any salts, hydrates, solvates, esters, metabolites, 
intermediates, stereoisomers, polymorphs, and derivatives of such compounds. The FBPase Compounds include those compounds 
listed on SCHEDULE 1 hereto under the heading “FBPase Compounds” (which is correct as of the Effective Date but which shall be 
updated as of the date of the payment of the Exercise Fee).

1.27“FBPase Patents” means all Patent Rights set forth on SCHEDULE 4 hereto under the heading “FBPase Patents” (which 
is correct as of the Effective Date but which shall be updated as of the date of the payment of the Exercise Fee and further updated 
as set forth in Section 2.6 to include any new Patent Right Controlled by Licensor during the Term which Covers any FBPase 
Compounds or the FBPase Program).

1.28“FBPase Program” means the research and development program particularly pertaining to the FBPase Compounds 
conducted by Licensor prior to, and which is anticipated to be conducted by Viking after, the payment of the Exercise Fee.

1.29“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration, or a successor federal agency thereto.

1.30“Field” means all therapeutic and diagnostic uses in humans or animals.

1.31“Financing Transaction” means the earliest to occur of a Public Offering or a Private Financing, in either case in 
connection with which Viking becomes obligated to issue Viking Securities to Metabasis and Ligand pursuant to this Agreement.

1.32“First Commercial Sale” means, with respect to a Licensed Product in any country, the first commercial transfer or 
disposition for value of such Licensed Product in such country to a Third Party by Viking, an Affiliate of Viking or a Sublicensee after 
Regulatory Approval therefor has been obtained in such country.

1.33“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.
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1.34“Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, principality, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, 
municipality, district or other jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) 
governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental division, subdivision, department, agency, 
bureau, branch, office, commission, council, board, instrumentality, officer, official, representative, organization, unit, body or entity 
and any court or other tribunal); (d) multi-national or supranational organization or body; or (e) individual, entity, or body exercising, or 
entitled to exercise, any executive, legislative, judicial, administrative, regulatory, police, military or taxing authority or power of any 
nature.

1.35“IND” means an Investigational New Drug application submitted to the FDA, or equivalent application submitted to a 
Regulatory Authority in any regulatory jurisdiction outside the United States, seeking authorization to test a drug product in humans in 
order to generate data necessary for submission of an NDA.

1.36“Indication” means a generally acknowledged disease or condition, a significant manifestation of a disease or 
condition, or symptoms associated with a disease or condition or a risk for a disease or condition. For the avoidance of doubt, all 
variants of a single disease or condition (whether classified by severity or otherwise) shall be treated as the same Indication.

1.37“Initiation” means, with respect to a Clinical Trial for a Licensed Product, the enrollment of the first subject or patient in 
such Clinical Trial. 

1.38“IPO Price” means the offering price to the public, before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, of the 
securities of Viking sold and issued in the Public Offering. 

1.39“Know-How” means any scientific or technical information, results and data of any type whatsoever, in any tangible or 
intangible form whatsoever, that is not in the public domain or otherwise publicly known, including, without limitation, discoveries, 
inventions, trade secrets, databases, practices, protocols, regulatory filings, methods, processes, techniques, software, works of 
authorship, plans, concepts, ideas, biological and other materials, reagents, specifications, formulations, formulae, data (including, 
but not limited to, pharmacological, biological, chemical, toxicological, clinical and analytical information, quality control, trial and 
stability data), case reports forms, data analyses, reports, studies and procedures, designs for experiments and tests and results of 
experimentation and testing (including results of research or development), summaries and information contained in submissions to 
and information from ethical committees, the FDA or other Regulatory Authorities, and manufacturing process and development 
information, results and data, whether or not patentable, all to the extent not claimed or disclosed in a patent or pending patent 
application. The fact that an item is known to the public shall not be taken to exclude the possibility that a compilation including the 
item, and/or a development relating to the item, is (and remains) not known to the public. “Know-How” includes any rights including 
copyright, moral, trade-secret, database or design rights protecting such Know-How. “Know-How” excludes Patent Rights.

1.40“Knowledge” means the knowledge, information or belief that […***…].

1.41“Law” or “Laws” means all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances and other pronouncements having 
the binding effect of law of any Governmental Body.
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1.42“Licensor” means Metabasis, Ligand and any of their Affiliates. 

1.43“Licensed Product” means any pharmaceutical product, in any dosage form, formulation, presentation or package 
configuration that is commercialized or undergoing research or pre-clinical or clinical development that contains or comprises, in part 
or in whole, one or any combination of the following: (i) a DGAT-1 Compound; (ii) an EPOR Compound; (iii) a SARM Compound; (iv) 
a TR-Beta Compound; and (v) an FBPase Compound; provided, that no FBPase Compounds shall be included in this definition if the 
Option expires prior to the payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking.

1.44“Licensed Programs” means (i) the DGAT-1 Program, (ii) EPOR Program, (iii) SARM Program, (iv) TR-Beta Program, 
and (v) the FBPase Program; provided, that the FBPase Program shall not be included in this definition if the Option expires prior to 
the payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking.

1.45“Licensor Know-How” means all Know-How that is Controlled by Licensor and that (a) pertains directly to or is 
necessary for one or more of the Licensed Programs or (b) is actually used in one or more of the Licensed Programs. The Licensor 
Know-How shall include, but not be limited to, all Know-How set forth on SCHEDULE 2 hereto (which is correct as of the Effective 
Date); provided, that no Know-How that pertains directly to, is necessary for or is actually used in the FBPase Program shall be 
included in this definition if the Option expires prior to the payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking. Promptly following payment of the 
Exercise Fee, Licensor shall update SCHEDULE 2 to include such additional Know-How that pertains directly to, is necessary for or is 
actually used in the FBPase Program.

1.46“Licensor Materials” means all physical quantities of Compounds set forth on SCHEDULE 3 hereto (which is correct as of 
the Effective Date); provided, that no physical quantities of FBPase Compounds shall be included in this definition if the Option 
expires prior to the payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking. Promptly following payment of the Exercise Fee, Licensor shall update 
SCHEDULE 3 to include all physical quantities of FBPase Compounds.

1.47“Licensor Patents” means (i) the DGAT-1 Patents, (ii) EPOR Patents, (iii) SARM Patents, (iv) TR-Beta Patents, and (v) 
the FBPase Patents; provided, that no FBPase Patents shall be included in this definition if the Option expires prior to the payment of 
the Exercise Fee by Viking. 

1.48“Licensor Technology” means the Licensor Patents, the Licensor Know-How and the Licensor Materials.

1.49“Loan and Security Agreement” means that certain Loan and Security Agreement dated the Effective Date, in the 
form attached hereto as SCHEDULE 1.49, and as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time pursuant 
to its terms.

1.50“Major Market” means any of the […***…].

1.51“NDA” means a New Drug Application submitted pursuant to the requirements of the FDA, as more fully defined in 21 
U.S. CFR § 314.3 et seq., a Biologics License Application submitted pursuant to the requirements of the FDA, as more fully defined 
in 21 U.S. CFR § 601, and any 
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equivalent application submitted in any country, including a European Marketing Authorization Application, together, in each case, 
with all additions, deletions or supplements thereto.

1.52“NDA Approval” means the receipt of notice from the relevant Regulatory Authority that an NDA for a Licensed Product 
has met all the criteria for marketing approval.

1.53“Net Sales” means the […***…] to unrelated Third Parties for a Licensed Product, on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed 
Product basis, less:

 

[…***…]

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, […***…] for sales of such Licensed Product among […***…] for resale shall not be included 
in the computation of Net Sales.

In the event that a Licensed Product is Commercialized as part of a Combination Product for a single price, the Net Sales 
for such Licensed Product shall be calculated by […***…] the sales price of such Combination Product […***…] in the Combination 
Product.

1.54“Option” means the exclusive right and option granted to Viking by Metabasis pursuant to the Option Agreement. 

1.55“Option Agreement” means that certain Option Agreement, dated September 27, 2012, by and among Metabasis, 
Ligand and Viking, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Option Agreement, by and among Metabasis, Ligand and Viking dated as of 
the Effective Date (as may be further amended or restated from time to time pursuant to its terms).

1.56 “Patent Right” means: (a) an issued or granted patent, a pending patent application and any patents that may be 
issued or granted therefrom and any extension, supplemental protection certificate, registration, confirmation, reissue, reexamination, 
extension, renewal, continuation, 

8



 

divisional, continuation-in-part, substitute or provisional application of any of the foregoing; and (b) all counterparts or foreign 
equivalents of any of the foregoing issued by or filed in any country or other jurisdiction.

1.57“Person” means any natural person, corporation, firm, business trust, joint venture, association, organization, company, 
partnership or other business entity, or any government or agency or political subdivision thereof.

1.58“Phase 1 Trial” means, as to a specific Licensed Product, a clinical study in humans of the safety of such Licensed 
Product, which is prospectively designed to generate sufficient data (if successful) to commence a Phase 2 Trial (or foreign 
equivalent) of such product, as further defined in Federal Regulation 21 C.F.R. 312.21(a), as amended from time to time, or the 
corresponding regulation in jurisdictions other than the United States. 

1.59“Phase 2 Trial” means, as to a specific Licensed Product, a clinical study, conducted anywhere in the world in diseased 
humans, of the feasibility, safety, dose ranging and efficacy of such Licensed Product, that is prospectively designed to generate 
sufficient data (if successful) to commence a Phase 3 Trial (or foreign equivalent) of such product, as further defined in 21 C.F.R. 
312.21(b), as amended from time to time, or the corresponding regulation in jurisdictions other than the United States. For the 
avoidance of doubt, a Phase 2 Trial requires enrollment of patients with the applicable disease or condition and is aimed to provide a 
measure of efficacy in addition to short-term tolerability. 

1.60“Phase 3 Trial” means, as to a specific Licensed Product, a clinical study in humans performed to gain evidence of the 
efficacy of such Licensed Product in a target population, and to obtain expanded evidence of safety for such product that is needed 
to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of such product and provide an adequate basis for physician labeling, as described in 
21 C.F.R. 312.21(c), as amended from time to time, or the corresponding regulation in jurisdictions other than the United States. For 
the purposes of the milestone payments in SCHEDULE 7, a “Phase 3 Trial” shall be a clinical trial which is submitted by Viking or a 
Sublicensee to the Regulatory Authority as a Phase 3 Trial or as a pivotal Phase 2clinical trial.

1.61“Private Financing Price” means the lowest price per share at which Viking sells and issues Viking Securities to an 
investor, excluding Ligand and Metabasis, in the Private Financing.

1.62“Regulatory Authority” means (a) the FDA, (b) the EMA or the European Commission, or (c) any regulatory body with 
similar regulatory authority over pharmaceutical or biotechnology products in any other jurisdiction anywhere in the world.

1.63“Regulatory Approval” means any and all approvals, licenses, registrations, or authorizations of the relevant 
Regulatory Authority, necessary for the Commercialization of a Licensed Product in a particular country or jurisdiction (but not 
including any pricing or reimbursement approvals that are commercially necessary prior to commercial sale of such Licensed 
Product in such country or jurisdiction). 

1.64“Royalty Term” means, on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product and country-by-country basis, the period from the 
First Commercial Sale of a given Licensed Product in such country until the later of the last date on which such Licensed Product is 
Covered by a Valid Claim within the Licensor Patents in such country or the […***…] anniversary of the First Commercial 
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Sale of such Licensed Product in such country. In a country where a Valid Claim of a Licensor Patent Covering the Licensed Product 
does not exist, the Royalty Term means, on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product and country-by-country basis, the period from 
the First Commercial Sale of such Licensed Product in such country until the later of […***…] or the […***…] anniversary of such 
First Commercial Sale of such Licensed Product in such country.

1.65“SARM Compounds” means Ligand’s LGD-4033 compound, and any other compounds comprised by the SARM 
Patents, and any salts, hydrates, solvates, esters, metabolites, intermediates, stereoisomers, polymorphs, and derivatives of such 
compounds. The SARM Compounds include those compounds listed on SCHEDULE 1 hereto under the heading “SARM Compounds” 
(which is correct as of the Effective Date).

1.66“SARM Patents” means all Patent Rights set forth on SCHEDULE 4 hereto under the heading “SARM Patents” (which is 
correct as of the Effective Date and which shall be updated as set forth in Section 2.6 to include any new Patent Right Controlled by 
Licensor during the Term which Covers any SARM Compounds or the SARM Program).

1.67“SARM Program” means the research and development program particularly pertaining to the SARM Compounds 
which was heretofore conducted by Licensor and which is anticipated to be conducted after the Effective Date by Viking.

1.68 “Sublicensee” means a Person other than an Affiliate of Viking to which Viking (or its Affiliate) has, pursuant to Section 
2.2, granted sublicense rights under any of the license rights granted under Section 2.1. “Sublicense” shall be construed 
accordingly.

1.69“Tax” or “Taxes” means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, 
severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental, customs duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, 
social security, unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative 
or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether 
disputed or not.

1.70“Territory” means worldwide.

1.71“Third Party” means any Person other than Licensor, Viking or its Affiliates, or any Sublicensees.

1.72“Third Party Action” means any claim or action made by a Third Party against either Party that claims that a Licensed 
Product, or its use, Development, manufacture or sale infringes such Third Party’s intellectual property rights.

1.73“TR-Beta Compounds” means Metabasis’ MB07811 and MB10866 compounds, and any other compounds comprised 
by the TR-Beta Patents, and any salts, hydrates, solvates, esters, metabolites, intermediates, stereoisomers, polymorphs, and 
derivatives of such compounds. The TR-Beta Compounds include those compounds listed on SCHEDULE 1 hereto under the heading 
“TR-Beta Compounds” (which is correct as of the Effective Date).
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1.74“TR-Beta Patents” means all Patent Rights set forth on SCHEDULE 4 hereto under the heading “TR-Beta Patents” (which 
is correct as of the Effective Date and which shall be updated as set forth in Section 2.6 to include any new Patent Right Controlled 
by Licensor during the Term which Covers any TR-Beta Compounds or the TR-Beta Program).

1.75“TR-Beta Program” means the research and development program particularly pertaining to the TR-Beta Compounds 
which was heretofore conducted by Licensor and which is anticipated to be conducted after the Effective Date by Viking.

1.76“United States” or “US” means the United States of America and its territories and possessions.

1.77“Valid Claim” means (a) a claim of an issued patent which has not expired or lapsed, which claim (or patent as a whole) 
has not been held or declared revoked, unenforceable or invalid by a decision of a court or other governmental agency of competent 
jurisdiction and which claim (or patent as a whole) is not admitted to be invalid or unenforceable through reissue, disclaimer or 
otherwise, or (b) a claim of a pending patent application that has not been abandoned, finally rejected or expired without the 
possibility of appeal or refiling […***…].

1.78The definition of each of the following terms is set forth in the section of the Agreement indicated below:

“Action” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.5 (b).

 “Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

“Controlling Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(c).

“Development Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

“Disclosure” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.21.

“Financial Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.21.

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4.

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4.

“Licensor Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

“Lock-Up Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(e).

“Private Financing” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(b).

“Public Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(b).

“Qualified Financing” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(a).
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“Securities Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(b).

“Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.

“Viking Equity” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(b).

“Viking Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

“Viking Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(b).

ARTICLE II
LICENSES AND OTHER RIGHTS

2.1Grant of License to Viking. 

(a)Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Licensor hereby grants to Viking and its Affiliates an 
exclusive (even as to Licensor), perpetual, irrevocable (both of the immediately foregoing, subject to Section 10 below), worldwide, 
royalty-bearing right and license (with the right to sublicense, and to further sublicense, subject to the provisions of Section 2.2 and 
the right to have any rights granted exercised by a third party contractor for the benefit and account of Viking) under the Licensor 
Technology to research, Develop, manufacture, have manufactured, use and Commercialize the Licensed Products in and for the 
Field.

(b)Unless and until Viking duly and timely pays the Exercise Fee, Viking, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, hereby 
covenants not to exercise the license granted in Section 2.1(a) with respect to the Licensor Technology to research, Develop, 
manufacture, have manufactured, use or Commercialize any Licensed Product that contains or comprises, in part or in whole, an 
FBPase Compound (the “FBPase Licensor Technology”). If the Option expires prior to the payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking, 
the license granted in Section 2.1(a) shall immediately terminate with respect to all FBPase Licensor Technology and neither Viking 
nor any Affiliate shall have any rights hereunder to such FBPase Licensor Technology or to research, Develop, manufacture, have 
manufactured, use or Commercialize any Licensed Product that contains or comprises, in part or in whole, an FBPase Compound. 

(c)To the maximum extent permitted by contract or otherwise, each Change of Control Affiliate which becomes a 
Change of Control Affiliate as a result of a Change of Control of Ligand occurring after the Effective Date but prior to the […***…] 
hereby covenants not to make or bring directly or indirectly (or assist, enable or in any way facilitate any other person or entity in 
making or bringing) any threat, claim, allegation, assertion, complaint, filing, lawsuit, investigation, administrative proceeding or other 
legal, governmental or other proceeding or action alleging infringement of, misappropriation of or improper use or exercise of Patent 
Rights, Know-How or other rights or materials directly or indirectly Controlled by such Change of Control Affiliate against Viking, any 
of its Affiliates, any of its Sublicensees or such Sublicensees’ Affiliates and any of any of the foregoing’s respective distributors, 
resellers, customers, end users, manufacturers, vendors, suppliers, contractors, agents or similar parties in connection with the 
Licensor Materials, Licensed Products or Licensed Programs, the research, Development, manufacture, use or Commercialization of 
Licensor Materials, Licensed Products and Licensed Programs or the exercise of any rights granted or performance of any 
obligations under this Agreement.  
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2.2Grant of Sublicenses by Viking. Except as set forth in Section 2.2(a) below, Viking shall have the right, subject to 
providing notice to Ligand, to grant Sublicenses, in whole or in part, under the license granted in Section 2.1 to Licensed Products 
containing or comprising, in part or in whole, a DGAT-1 Compound, an EPOR Compound, a TR-Beta Compound or, following 
payment of the Exercise Fee, an FBPase Compound. For clarity, no Sublicenses under the license granted in Section 2.1 to 
Licensed Products containing or comprising, in part or in whole, an FBPase Compound may be granted by Viking until payment of 
the Exercise Fee.

(a)With respect to the license granted in Section 2.1 to Licensed Products containing or comprising, in part or in 
whole, a SARM Compound, the prior written consent of Ligand shall be required to grant a Sublicense thereunder, such consent not 
to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, provided that Ligand’s prior written consent shall not be required if such 
Sublicense (i) is granted on or after […***…], (iii) is a sublicense of Viking’s right to Develop or for the purposes of Development, or 
(iv) is a sublicense of Viking’s right to Commercialize or for the purposes of Commercialization where, in each case, the Sublicensee 
is not entitled to book sales of the applicable Product. 

(b)Viking shall include within every Sublicense express provisions (i) binding the Sublicensee to all of the duties, 
obligations, restrictions and acknowledgements hereunder of Viking which are applicable, except that the Sublicensees need not pay 
Royalties or make milestone payments directly to the applicable Ligand Party or provide royalty reports directly to Ligand, and (ii) 
stating that the Sublicense shall automatically terminate upon the termination of this Agreement. Moreover, such provisions shall (as 
between Licensor and the Sublicensee) be deemed to be included in all Sublicenses whether or not such provisions are expressly 
included therein. Viking shall ensure that all of its Sublicensees shall comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement (as 
applicable to them) and Viking shall be and remain fully responsible for the compliance by such Sublicensees with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement (as applicable to them) as if such Sublicensees were Viking hereunder. The granting by Viking of a 
Sublicense shall not relieve Viking of any of its obligations hereunder. Except for Sublicenses as expressly allowed herein, Viking 
acknowledges that it has no right to, and agrees not to purport to, grant to anyone a sublicense under the Licensor Technology.

2.3Technology Transfer. 

(a)As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date, but in no event later than […***…], Licensor will 
communicate and transfer to Viking, at […***…] cost and expense, all Licensor Know-How Controlled by Licensor as of the Effective 
Date and Licensor Materials available to Licensor as of the Effective Date. Viking shall confirm in writing having received such 
Licensor Know-How and Licensor Materials delivered by Licensor.

(b)As soon as reasonably practicable after payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking, but in no event later than […
***…], Licensor will communicate and transfer to Viking, at […***…] cost and expense, all Licensor Know-How related to the FBPase 
Program Controlled by Licensor as of such date and Licensor Materials related to the FBPase Program available to Licensor as of 
such date. Viking shall confirm in writing having received such Licensor Know-How and Licensor Materials delivered by Licensor.

(c)As soon as reasonably practicable after any updates to the Licensor Know-How or the Licensor Materials are 
created or developed after the Effective Date, but not more 

13
 



 

frequently than […***…], Licensor will communicate and transfer to Viking, at […***…] cost and expense, all such Licensor Know-
How Controlled by Licensor and Licensor Materials available to Licensor.

2.4Procedures for Technology Transfer. The technology transfers set forth in Section 2.3 shall occur in an orderly fashion 
and in a manner such that the value, usefulness and confidentiality of the transferred Licensor Know-How and Licensor Materials are 
preserved in all material respects.

2.5Viking Exclusivity. 

(a)Licensor, following the issuance of Viking Securities pursuant to Section 5.1(b) and thereafter during the Royalty 
Term, shall not directly or indirectly (i) develop, manufacture, have manufactured, use, sell, offer for sale, import or export a 
Competing Product the active pharmaceutical ingredient of which is any one or more of the DGAT-1 Compounds, EPOR 
Compounds, SARM Compounds or TR-Beta Compounds listed on SCHEDULE 1, (ii) seek to develop, manufacture, have 
manufactured, use, sell, offer for sale, import or export any such Competing Product, or (iii) assist, in any respect, any Third Party in 
developing, manufacturing, having manufactured, using, selling, offering for sale, importing or exporting any such Competing 
Product.

(b)Licensor, following payment of the Exercise Fee by Viking and thereafter during the Royalty Term, shall not 
directly or indirectly (i) develop, manufacture, have manufactured, use, sell, offer for sale, import or export a Competing Product the 
active pharmaceutical ingredient of which is any one or more of the FBPase Compounds listed on SCHEDULE 1, (ii) seek to develop, 
manufacture, have manufactured, use, sell, offer for sale, import or export any such Competing Product, or (iii) assist, in any respect, 
any Third Party in developing, manufacturing, having manufactured, using, selling, offering for sale, importing or exporting any such 
Competing Product. 

(c)The aforementioned restrictions shall remain in effect in the event of Change of Control of Licensor with respect 
to Licensor and all Affiliates and shall also apply to any successor or assignee (other than to any substantial competitive 
development and commercialization activities of a successor/assignee which is a Change of Control Affiliate and which activities 
were already in existence as of the date of the definitive agreement governing such Change of Control and solely with respect to 
such pre-existing activities). Notwithstanding the restrictions on Licensor’s activities set forth in this Section 2.5, Viking 
acknowledges and agrees that Metabasis (or a Third Party collaborator of Metabasis) may develop, manufacture, have 
manufactured, use, sell, offer for sale, import or export any product the active pharmaceutical ingredient of which is […***…] (or any 
salts, hydrates, solvates, esters, metabolites, intermediates, stereoisomers, polymorphs, and derivatives of such compound), 
including without limitation, […***…]. For clarity, any such product shall not be a “Competing Product” as defined in this Agreement.

2.6Updating of SCHEDULE 4. From time to time, but not more than […***…], Viking may request and Licensor shall update 
SCHEDULE 4 to include any Patent Right Controlled by Licensor which Covers any Compound or the Licensed Programs not already 
included in SCHEDULE 4. Any such request shall be in writing. 

2.7No Other Rights or Licenses Granted. Nothing in this Agreement grants to Viking any right or license under any 
intellectual property or license of Licensor except as set forth in this Agreement.
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ARTICLE III
DEVELOPMENT, MANUFACTURE AND COMMERCIALIZATION OF LICENSED PRODUCTS

3.1Development of Licensed Products by Viking. Viking shall have the exclusive right, and sole responsibility and 
decision-making authority, to research and Develop any Licensed Products and to conduct (either itself or through its Affiliates, 
agents, subcontractors and/or Sublicensees) all clinical trials and non-clinical studies Viking believes appropriate to obtain 
Regulatory Approval for the Licensed Products in any Indication. The Development of each Licensed Product shall be governed by a 
Viking development plan that accurately describes the proposed overall program of Development (each, a “Development Plan”), 
which Development Plan shall be updated by Viking at least […***…] annually before the First Commercial Sale of the applicable 
Licensed Product. Viking shall provide Ligand a copy of the initial Development Plans within […***…] and shall provide a copy of all 
updates thereto within […***…]. Viking shall have the sole right and responsibility for preparing the Development Plan for each 
Licensed Product, and shall in all events have the sole decision-making authority regarding each Development Plan and the 
Development of the Licensed Product, including the determination of the […***…]. Viking shall, at least […***…] each […***…], 
provide to Ligand a written update report regarding the progress of the Licensed Programs which are in Development.

3.2Commercialization. Viking shall have the sole decision-making authority and responsibility and the exclusive right, to 
Commercialize any Licensed Products itself or through one or more Sublicensees or other Third Parties selected by Viking and shall 
have the sole decision-making authority and responsibility in all matters relating to the Commercialization of the Licensed Products. 
On a Licensed Program-by-Licensed program basis, Viking shall, at least […***…] each […***…] for a related Licensed Product, 
provide to Ligand an update report regarding the progress of the Licensed Programs.

3.3Clinical and Commercial Manufacturing. Viking shall have the exclusive right to manufacture or have manufactured 
any Licensed Product itself or through one or more Sublicensees selected by Viking.

3.4Diligence by Viking. Subject to Licensor’s fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement, Viking shall use 
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to (a) Develop […***…] from each Licensed Program, (b) Commercialize […***…] from each 
Licensed Program in at least the […***…], (c) on a country-by-country basis, perform the First Commercial Sale no later than […
***…] following the date of Regulatory Approval for the first Licensed Product from a Licensed Program in a Major Market, and (d) 
engage in Substantial Development Activities as set forth on SCHEDULE 5.

3.5Right to Subcontract of Viking. Viking may exercise any of the rights or obligations that Viking may have under this 
Agreement (including, without limitation, any of the rights licensed in Section 2.1 hereof) by Sublicensing, but any Sublicense granted 
or entered into by Viking as contemplated by this Section 3.5 or any Sublicensee’s exercise or performance of all or any portion of 
the rights or obligations that Viking may have under this Agreement shall not relieve Viking from any of its obligations under this 
Agreement.
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3.6Compliance with Law. Viking agrees that the conduct of the Licensed Programs, the use of the Licensor Technology, 
and all Development, manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Products by it and its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall 
comply in all material respects with all applicable international, federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including, but not 
limited to, environmental, occupational safety/health, privacy, safety and import/export restrictions, laws, rules and regulations.

3.7Costs and Expenses. Except as otherwise provided herein or agreed between the Parties, as between Licensor and 
Viking, Viking shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses related to Development, manufacture and Commercialization of 
the Licensed Products, including without limitation costs and expenses associated with all pre-clinical activities and clinical trials, and 
all regulatory filings and proceedings relating to the Licensed Products.

3.8Patent Marking. Viking agrees that with respect to each unit or package of Licensed Products sold in a given country, 
Viking and its Affiliates shall comply with the customary patent marking laws and practices of such country as to the applicable 
Licensor Patents.

3.9Trademarks. As between Licensor and Viking, Viking shall have the sole authority to select trademarks for the Licensed 
Products and shall own all such trademarks. Licensor does not grant Viking the right to use any trademarks of Licensor.

ARTICLE IV
REGULATORY MATTERS

4.1Regulatory Filings. As between Licensor and Viking, Viking shall own and maintain all regulatory filings made after the 
Effective Date and all Regulatory Approvals for the Licensed Products.

4.2Communications with Authorities. Viking (or one of its Affiliates or Sublicensees) shall be responsible for and act as 
the sole point of contact for communications with Regulatory Authorities in connection with the Development, Commercialization, 
and manufacturing of Licensed Products. At the request of Viking, Licensor shall make available to Viking, […***…], a qualified 
representative who shall, together with the representatives of Viking, participate in and contribute to meetings with the Regulatory 
Authorities with respect to regulatory matters relating solely to the Licensor Technology.

4.3Adverse Event Reporting. Each Party agrees to comply with any and all Laws that are applicable to it as of the 
Effective Date and thereafter during the Term in connection with Licensed Product safety data collection and reporting (and, if 
applicable, recalls). Viking shall report to Ligand any Adverse Event immediately pursuant to Section 11.8.

ARTICLE V
FINANCIAL PROVISIONS

5.1Loan and Security Agreement and Issuance of Viking Securities. 

(a)As partial consideration for Licensor’s grant of the rights and licenses to Viking hereunder, Viking has entered 
into the Loan and Security Agreement, pursuant to which Ligand will extend loans to Viking.
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(b)As partial consideration for Licensor’s grant of the rights and licenses to Viking hereunder, upon the 
consummation by Viking of a firmly underwritten public offering pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 
Act”), on Form S-1 (as defined in the Securities Act) or any successor form (the “Public Offering”), Viking shall issue to Metabasis 
and Ligand as set forth on SCHEDULE 6 that number of shares of the same class and type of securities issued and sold by Viking in 
the Public Offering (“Viking Equity”). such Viking Equity to be issued at the closing of the Public Offering and at the price at which 
such Viking Equity is sold to the public, as set forth in SCHEDULE 6; provided that, in the event Viking desires to consummate a private 
financing of its equity securities prior to consummating a Public Offering (the “Private Financing”), then Ligand, on behalf of itself 
and Metabasis, shall have the option of converting all, but not less than all, of the amounts listed on SCHEDULE 6 into shares of the 
same class and type of securities issued and sold by Viking in such Private Financing at the closing of such Private Financing and at 
the price at which the securities are sold to Third Party investors in such Private Financing, in lieu of receiving any Viking Equity. For 
clarity, if Ligand does not elect to convert the amounts listed on SCHEDULE 6 in a Private Financing, the obligation of Viking to issue 
Viking Equity under this Section 5.1 to Ligand and Metabasis shall remain in full force and effect, and if Viking thereafter desires to 
consummate a subsequent Private Financing, Ligand and Metabasis shall have the option set forth above with respect to such 
subsequent Private Financing. This Agreement and the licenses contemplated under this Agreement shall become effective as of the 
Effective Date notwithstanding that the Viking securities (including the Viking Equity) (collectively, “Viking Securities”) are not issued 
or issuable until the closing of a Public Offering or Private Financing, as applicable.

(c)Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Viking, Ligand and Metabasis are entering into a Registration 
Rights Agreement, dated as of even date herewith, providing for the registration of the resale of the Viking Securities issuable 
hereunder. 

(d)Immediately following the closing of the Public Offering or Private Financing, as applicable, Viking shall deliver to 
Ligand and Metabasis a certificate or certificates representing the Viking Securities issued to each of them hereunder. All certificates 
for the Viking Securities issued hereunder shall bear the following legends:

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR 
INVESTMENT AND HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 
1933. THE SHARES MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR PLEDGED IN THE ABSENCE 
OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR AN EXEMPTION THEREFROM UNDER SAID ACT OR AN 
OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION 
IS NOT REQUIRED OR UNLESS SOLD PURSUANT TO RULE 144 OF SUCH ACT.

(e)Licensor hereby agrees (on behalf of itself and its Affiliates) that it shall not, to the extent requested by Viking or 
an underwriter of securities of Viking, sell or otherwise transfer or dispose of the Viking Securities or other securities of Viking then or 
thereafter owned by Licensor for up to 180 days following the date of the final prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission relating to an effective registration statement of Viking filed under the Securities Act (the “Lock-Up Period”). For 
purposes of this Section 5.1(e), the term “Viking” shall include any wholly-owned subsidiary of Viking into which Viking merges or 
consolidates. In order to enforce the foregoing covenant, Viking shall have the right to place the restrictive legend below on the 
certificates 

17
 



 

representing Viking Securities subject to this Section 5.1(e) and to impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to the Viking 
Securities and such other Viking securities held by Licensor (and the shares or securities of every other Person subject to the 
foregoing restriction) until the end of such Lock-Up Period. Licensor further agrees to enter into (and to cause each Affiliate thereof 
that holds Viking Securities to enter into) any agreement reasonably required by any underwriter to implement the foregoing 
provisions within any reasonable timeframe so requested, including prior to the issuance of any Viking Securities to Licensor.

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE SUBJECT TO A LOCK-UP RESTRICTION AS SET FORTH IN 
A CERTAIN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND THE ORIGINAL HOLDER OF THESE SECURITIES, A 
COPY OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE ISSUER. AS A RESULT OF SUCH 
AGREEMENT, THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE TRADED PRIOR TO 180 DAYS AFTER THE EFFECTIVE 
DATE OF THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE COMMON STOCK OF THE ISSUER HEREOF. SUCH 
RESTRICTION IS BINDING ON TRANSFEREES OF THESE SECURITIES.

5.2Development and Commercial Milestone Payments. As partial consideration for Licensor’s grant of the rights and 
licenses to Viking hereunder, Viking shall pay, or cause to be paid, to Metabasis and/or Ligand the one-time, non-refundable 
milestone payments as set forth on SCHEDULE 7. 

5.3Royalty Payments for Licensed Products.

(a)As further consideration for Licensor’s grant of the rights and licenses to Viking hereunder, Viking shall, during 
each applicable Royalty Term, pay to Metabasis and/or Ligand a royalty on aggregate annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed 
Products by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees, as and at the percentage rates set forth on SCHEDULE 7.

(b)The Parties have agreed to the royalty and other payments structure set forth in this Agreement as a convenient 
and fair mechanism to compensate Licensor for its obligations under this Agreement.

(c)For purposes of determining […***…], only Net Sales that are subject to a royalty payment shall be included in 
the total amount of Net Sales and any Net Sales that are not subject to a royalty payment shall be excluded. In addition, in no event 
shall the manufacture of a Licensed Product give rise to a royalty obligation until the particular unit of Licensed Product is sold; but if 
Net Sales of a particular unit of Licensed Product might or might not be subject to a royalty payment (e.g., manufactured in Country 
A where the Royalty Term has expired but sold in Country B where the Royalty Term has not expired, or vice versa), the sale shall 
be deemed to be subject to a royalty payment. For clarity, Viking’s obligation to pay royalties to Metabasis and/or Ligand under this 
Article V is imposed only once with respect to the same unit of Licensed Product regardless of the number of Licensor Patents 
pertaining thereto. 

(d)Royalties payable under Section 5.3(a) shall be payable on actual Net Sales and shall accrue at the time 
provided therefor by GAAP. Royalty obligations that have accrued during a particular […***…] shall be paid, on a […***…] basis, 
within […***…] days after the end of each […***…] during which the royalty obligation accrued; provided that within […***…] 
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days after the conclusion of each […***…] Viking shall provide notice to Ligand of any adjustments necessary to account for any 
royalties which were overpaid or underpaid for such prior […***…], and the Parties shall promptly true-up based on such 
adjustments.

5.4Mode of Payment and Currency. All payments hereunder shall be made by deposit of US Dollars in the requisite 
amount to such bank account(s) as Ligand may from time to time designate by advance written notice to Viking. With respect to 
sales not denominated in US Dollars, Viking shall convert the Net Sales from the applicable foreign currency into US Dollars at the 
exchange rate reported in The Wall Street Journal, Eastern U.S. Edition, for the last trading day of the applicable […***…]. Based on 
the resulting sales in US Dollars, the then applicable royalties shall be calculated.

5.5Royalty Reports and Records Retention. Within […***…] days after the end of each […***…] during which the 
Licensed Products have been sold, Viking shall deliver to Metabasis and/or Ligand, together with the applicable royalty payment due, 
a written report, on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product and a country-by-country basis, of (i) gross invoiced (or otherwise 
charged) amounts of sales, by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees, of Licensed Product subject to royalty payments for such 
[…***…], (ii) amounts deducted by category (following the definition of Net Sales) from such gross invoiced amounts to calculate Net 
Sales, (iii) Net Sales subject to royalty payments for such […***…] and (iv) the corresponding royalty. Such report shall be deemed 
“Confidential Information” of Viking subject to the obligations of Article VII of this Agreement. For […***…] after each sale of a 
Licensed Product, Viking shall keep (and shall ensure that its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall keep) complete and accurate records 
of such sale in sufficient detail to confirm the accuracy of the royalty calculations hereunder.

5.6Late Payments. All payments under this Agreement shall earn interest from the date due until paid at a per annum rate 
equal to […***…], calculated on the number of days such payments are paid after the date such payments are due

5.7Audits.

(a)During the Royalty Term and for […***…] thereafter, upon the written request of Ligand, and not more than […
***…] in each […***…], Viking shall permit, and shall cause its Affiliates to permit and use commercially reasonable effort to cause its 
Sublicensees to permit, an independent certified public accounting firm of nationally recognized standing selected by Ligand (who 
has not been engaged by Ligand or any of its Affiliates to provide services in any other capacity at any time during the […***…]), and 
reasonably acceptable to Viking or such Affiliate or Sublicensee, to have access to and to review, during normal business hours 
upon reasonable prior written notice, the applicable records of Viking and its Affiliates or Sublicensees to verify the accuracy of the 
royalty reports and payments under this Article V. Such review may cover: (i) the records for sales made in any […***…] before the 
date of such request, and (ii) only those periods that have not been subject to a prior audit.

(b)If such accounting firm concludes that additional royalties were owed during such period, Viking shall pay the 
additional royalties within […***…] days after the date such public 
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accounting firm delivers to Viking such accounting firm’s written report. If such accounting firm concludes that an overpayment was 
made, such overpayment shall be fully creditable against amounts payable in subsequent payment periods or at Viking’s request, 
shall be reimbursed to Viking within […***…] days after the date such public accounting firm delivers such report to Viking. If Viking 
disagrees with such calculation, Viking shall […***…] to recover the additional payment or to increase the amount of credit or 
reimbursement. […***…] shall pay for the cost of any audit by […***…], unless […***…], in which case […***…] shall pay for the 
reasonable costs of audit. 

(c)Each Party shall treat all information that it receives under this Section 5.7 in accordance with the confidentiality 
provisions of Article VII of this Agreement, and shall cause its accounting firm to enter into an acceptable confidentiality agreement 
with the other Party obligating such firm to retain all such financial information in confidence pursuant to such confidentiality 
agreement, except to the extent necessary for such Party to enforce its rights under the Agreement.

5.8Taxes. All amounts due hereunder exclude all applicable withholding, sales, use, and other taxes and duties, and Viking 
shall be responsible for payment of all such taxes (other than taxes based on Licensor’s income) and duties and any related 
penalties and interest, arising from the payment of amounts due under this Agreement. The Parties agree to cooperate with one 
another and use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid or reduce tax withholding or similar obligations in respect of royalties, 
milestone payments, and other payments made by Viking under this Agreement. To the extent Viking is required to withhold taxes on 
any payment under this Agreement, Viking shall pay the amounts of such taxes to the proper governmental authority in a timely 
manner and promptly transmit to Ligand official receipts issued by the appropriate taxing authority and/or an official tax certificate, or 
such other evidence as Ligand may reasonably request, to establish that such taxes have been paid. Ligand shall provide Viking any 
tax forms that may be reasonably necessary in order for Viking to not withhold tax or to withhold tax at a reduced rate under an 
applicable bilateral income tax treaty. Ligand shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide any such tax forms to Viking at 
least […***…] days before the due date for any payment for which Ligand desires that Viking apply a reduced withholding rate. Each 
Party shall provide the other with reasonable assistance to enable the recovery, as permitted by applicable law, of withholding taxes, 
value added taxes, or similar obligations resulting from payments made under this Agreement, such recovery to be for the benefit of 
the Party bearing such withholding tax or value added tax. […***…].

ARTICLE VI
INVENTIONS AND PATENTS

6.1Certification Under Drug Price Competition and Patent Restoration Act. Each Party shall immediately give written 
notice to the other Party of any certification of which they become aware filed pursuant to 21 U.S.C. Section 355(b)(2)(A) (or any 
amendment or successor statute thereto) claiming that any Licensor Patents Covering a Compound or a Licensed Product, or the 
manufacture or use of each of the foregoing, are invalid or unenforceable, or that infringement will not arise from the manufacture, 
use or sale in the US of a Licensed Product by a Third Party.

6.2Listing of Patents. […***…] shall have the sole right to determine which of the Licensor Patents, if any, shall be listed 
for inclusion in the Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic 
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Equivalence Evaluations pursuant to 21 U.S.C. Section 355, or any successor Law in the United States, together with any 
comparable Laws in any other country.

6.3Ownership. All Licensor Technology and all intellectual property rights in the same shall be owned by Licensor and 
nothing in this Agreement shall amend or otherwise affect the same. To the extent, if any, that Viking acquires any right, title or 
interest in and to any Licensor Technology and intellectual property rights in the same, Viking hereby irrevocably assigns to the 
applicable Ligand Party any right, title and interest worldwide in and to the same effective immediately upon the inception, 
conception, creation or development thereof. The right to file, prosecute and maintain Licensor Patents shall be as set forth in 
Section 6.4 below. Any technology or other Know-How invented or developed after the Effective Date by or for Viking or otherwise in 
connection with a Licensed Program, including without limitation derivatives or improvements of Licensor Technology (“Developed 
Know-How”), and all intellectual property rights in the same (“Developed IP” and collectively with Developed Know-How, 
“Developed Technology”) shall be owned by Viking and nothing in this Agreement shall amend or otherwise affect the same. […
***…]. If Viking elects not to file, prosecute or maintain Developed IP in Viking’s name in a Major Market, then it shall notify Ligand in 
writing at least […***…] days before any deadline applicable to the filing, prosecution or maintenance of such Developed IP, as the 
case may be, or any other date by which an action must be taken to establish or preserve such Developed IP in such Major Market. 
In such case, Licensor shall have the option to pursue the filing or support the continued prosecution or maintenance of such 
Developed IP in such Major Market, […***…], and Viking shall give Licensor reasonable cooperation in connection therewith. 

6.4Patent Prosecution and Maintenance.

(a)Licensor Patents. Licensor shall have the first right to file, prosecute and maintain Licensor Patents in 
Licensor’s name. […***…] promptly and regularly informed of the course of the filing and prosecution of Licensor Patents or related 
proceedings (e.g. interferences, oppositions, reexaminations, reissues, revocations or nullifications) in a timely manner, and […
***…]. At Licensor’s request, Viking will provide Licensor with […***…] assistance in prosecuting Licensor Patents to the extent 
possible.

(b)Election not to File and Prosecute Licensor Patents. If Licensor elects not to file, prosecute or maintain a 
Licensor Patent in Licensor’s name in a Major Market, then it shall notify Viking in writing at least […***…] days before any deadline 
applicable to the filing, prosecution or maintenance of such Licensor Patent, as the case may be, or any other date by which an 
action must be taken to establish or preserve such Licensor Patent in such Major Market. In such case, Viking shall have the option 
to pursue the filing or support the continued prosecution or maintenance of such Licensor Patent in such Major Market, […***…], and 
Licensor shall give Viking reasonable cooperation in connection therewith; provided that […***…]  
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the filing or supporting the continued prosecution or maintenance of such Licensor Patent in such Major Market pursuant to this 
Section 6.4(b).

6.5Enforcement of Patents.

(a)Notice. If either Party believes that a Licensor Patent is being infringed, or that Licensor Know-How has been 
misappropriated, by a Third Party or if a Third Party claims that any Licensor Patent is invalid or unenforceable, the Party possessing 
such knowledge or belief shall notify the other Party and provide it with details of such infringement, misappropriation or claim that 
are known by such Party.

(b)Right to Bring an Action. If such infringement, misappropriation or claim is in one or more of the Major 
Markets, […***…] shall have the exclusive right to attempt to resolve such infringement or claim, including by filing an infringement or 
misappropriation suit, defending against or bringing a declaratory judgment action as to such claim or taking other similar action 
(each, “initiation” of an “Action”) and (subject to Section 6.5(d)) to compromise or settle such infringement or claim. At […***…] 
request, […***…] shall […***…] provide […***…] with all relevant documentation (as may be requested by […***…]) evidencing that 
[…***…]. If […***…] does not intend to initiate an Action, […***…] shall promptly inform […***…]. If […***…] does not initiate an 
Action with respect to such an infringement or claim within […***…] days following notice thereof, […***…] shall have the right to 
attempt to resolve such infringement, misappropriation claim or other claim, including by initiating an Action, and (subject to Section 
6.5(d)) to compromise or settle such infringement, misappropriation claim or other claim. […***…] shall have the sole and exclusive 
right to select counsel for any suit initiated by it pursuant to this Section 6.5. If a Party initiates an Action but then elects not to pursue 
the Action, the other Party shall have the right (but not the obligation) to take over the Action, in which case the second Party shall be 
deemed to have been the initiating Party.

(c)Costs of an Action. Subject to the respective indemnity obligations of the Parties set forth in Article IX and 
Section 6.5(e), […***…] involved in an Action under Section 6.5(b) shall […***…] incurred in connection with such Action. […***…] 
shall have the right to join […***…] an Action relating to a Licensor Patent or Licensor Know-How, initiated by the other Party.

(d)Settlement. Neither Party shall settle or otherwise compromise (or resolve by consent to the entry of judgment 
upon) any Action by admitting that any Licensor Patent is to any extent invalid or unenforceable, or that any Licensor Know-How is 
not protected or has not been misappropriated, without the other Party’s prior written consent […***…].

(e)Reasonable Assistance. The Party not enforcing or defending Licensor Patents shall provide reasonable 
assistance to the other Party, including providing access to relevant documents and other evidence and making its employees and 
consultants available, subject to 
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[…***…].

(f)Distribution of Amounts Recovered. Any amounts recovered by the Party initiating an Action pursuant to this 
Section 6.5, whether by settlement or judgment, shall be allocated in the following order: […***…].

6.6Third Party Actions Claiming Infringement.

(a)Notice. If a Party becomes aware of any Third Party Action, such Party shall promptly notify the other Party of all 
details regarding such claim or action that is reasonably available to such Party.

(b)Right to Defend. […***…] shall have the right, at its sole expense, but not the obligation, to defend a Third Party 
Action described in Section 6.6(a) and (subject to Section 6.6(f)) to compromise or settle such Third Party Action. If […***…] such 
Third Party Action within […***…] days of receipt/sending of notice under Section 6.6(a), then […***…] shall have the right, at its sole 
expense, to defend such Third Party Action and (subject to Section 6.6(f)) to compromise or settle such Third Party Action. The Party 
defending such Third Party Action shall have the sole and exclusive right to select counsel for such Third Party Action.

(c)Consultation. The Party defending a Third Party Action pursuant to Section 6.6(b) shall be the “Controlling 
Party”. The Controlling Party shall consult with the non-Controlling Party, pursuant to an appropriate joint defense or common 
interest agreement, on all material aspects of the defense. The non-Controlling Party shall have a reasonable opportunity for 
meaningful participation in decision-making and formulation of defense strategy. The Parties shall reasonably cooperate with each 
other in all such actions or proceedings. The non-Controlling Party will be entitled to join the Third Party Action and be represented 
by independent counsel of its own choice at its own expense.

(d)Appeal. In the event that a judgment in a Third Party Action is entered against either Party and an appeal is 
available, the Controlling Party shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to file such appeal. In the event the Controlling Party 
does not desire to file such an appeal, it will promptly, in a reasonable time period (i.e., with sufficient time for the non-Controlling 
Party to take whatever action may be necessary) before the date on which such right to appeal will lapse or otherwise diminish, 
permit the non-Controlling Party to pursue such appeal […***…]. If applicable Law requires the other Party’s involvement in an 
appeal, the other Party shall be a nominal party of the appeal and shall provide reasonable cooperation to such Party […***…].

(e)Costs of an Action. Subject to the respective indemnity obligations of the Parties set forth in Article IX, […***…] 
shall pay […***…] associated with 
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such Third Party Action other than […***…] such Third Party Action (as provided in the last sentence of Section 6.6(c)).

(f)No Settlement Without Consent. Neither Party shall settle or otherwise compromise (or resolve by consent to 
the entry of judgment upon) any Third Party Action by admitting that any Licensor Patent is to any extent invalid or unenforceable or 
that any Licensed Product, or its use, Development, manufacture or sale infringes such Third Party’s intellectual property rights, in 
each case without the other Party’s prior written consent […***…].

ARTICLE VII
CONFIDENTIALITY

7.1Confidentiality Obligations. Each Party agrees that, for the Term and for […***…] years thereafter, such Party shall, 
and shall ensure that its officers, directors, employees, consultants, contractors and agents shall, keep completely confidential and 
not publish or otherwise disclose and not use for any purpose except as expressly permitted hereunder any Confidential Information 
disclosed to it by the other Party pursuant to this Agreement or any predecessor agreement. The foregoing obligations shall not 
apply to any Confidential Information disclosed by a Party hereunder to the extent that the receiving Party can demonstrate by written 
records that such Confidential Information:

(a)was already known to the receiving Party or its Affiliates, other than under an obligation of confidentiality, at the 
time of disclosure;

(b)was generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain at the time of its disclosure to the 
receiving Party;

(c)became generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain after its disclosure and other than 
through any act or omission of the receiving Party (or its consultants, contractors and agents) in breach of this Agreement;

(d)was subsequently lawfully disclosed to the receiving Party or its Affiliates by a Third Party without an obligation 
of confidentiality other than in contravention of a confidentiality obligation of such Third Party; or

(e)was developed or discovered by employees or agents of the receiving Party or its Affiliates who had no access 
to the Confidential Information of the disclosing Party.

Notwithstanding the above obligations of confidentiality and non-use, a Party may disclose information to the extent that 
such disclosure is reasonably necessary in connection with:

(i)filing or prosecuting patent applications, subject to the terms of Section 6.4;

(ii)prosecuting or defending litigation;

(iii)conducting pre-clinical studies or clinical trials pursuant to this Agreement;

(iv)seeking Regulatory Approval of a Licensed Product; or
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(v)complying with applicable Law, including securities Law and the rules of any securities exchange or 
market on which a Party’s securities are listed or traded.
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In addition to the foregoing, Viking may, in furtherance of its rights under this Agreement, disclose Confidential Information 
of Licensor to any Third Party, provided that such Third Party is bound by obligations of confidentiality/non-use at least as stringent 
as the ones herein. Viking shall be responsible to Licensor for any breach of confidentiality/non-use by such Third Parties.

In making any disclosures set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above, the disclosing Party shall, where reasonably practicable, 
give such advance notice to the other Party of such disclosure requirement as is reasonable under the circumstances and will use its 
reasonable efforts to cooperate with the other Party in order to secure confidential treatment of such Confidential Information 
required to be disclosed. In addition, in connection with any permitted filing by either Party of this Agreement with any Governmental 
Body, included but not limited to the Securities and Exchange Commission, the filing Party shall endeavor to obtain confidential 
treatment of economic, trade secret information and such other information as may be requested by the other Party, and shall 
provide the other Party with the proposed confidential treatment request with reasonable time for such other Party to provide 
comments, and shall include in such confidential treatment request all reasonable comments of the other Party.

7.2Press Releases and Disclosure. Either Party may make press releases or public announcements regarding this 
Agreement or any matter covered by this Agreement, including the Development or Commercialization of Licensed Products, but 
such Party shall, except to the extent legally obligated to do so otherwise, use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to provide the text 
of such planned disclosure to the other Party […***…] before disclosure, and will consider all reasonable comments of the other 
Party regarding such disclosure. Provided, that neither Party shall use the name, trademark, trade name or logo of the other Party, its 
Affiliates or their respective employee(s) in any publicity, promotion, news release or public disclosure relating to this Agreement or 
its subject matter, without the prior express written permission of the other Party, such permission not to be unreasonably withheld, 
except as may be required by Law or required by the rules of an applicable US national securities exchange. 

ARTICLE VIII
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

8.1Representations and Warranties. (a) Viking represents and warrants to each of Metabasis and Ligand, and (b) each of 
Metabasis and Ligand represents and warrants to Viking, in each case as of the Effective Date:

(a)it is duly organized and validly existing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization;

(b)it has taken all action necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance 
of its obligations under this Agreement;
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(c)this Agreement is a legal and valid obligation of it, binding upon it and enforceable against it in accordance with 
the terms of this Agreement, except as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, fraudulent conveyance, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles; and 
the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by it does not conflict with, breach or create in any Third Party the right to 
accelerate, terminate or modify any agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound, and does not violate any 
Law of any Governmental Body having authority over it; and

(d)it has all right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement, and to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement.

8.2Additional Representations and Warranties of Licensor. Each of Metabasis and Ligand (jointly and severally) 
represents and warrants to Viking that, as of the Effective Date:

(a)No consent by any Third Party or Governmental Body is required with respect to the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement by it or the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby;

(b)To its Knowledge, no claims have been asserted or threatened by any Person (i) challenging the validity, 
effective status, or ownership of Licensor Technology, and/or (ii) to the effect that the use, reproduction, modification, manufacturing, 
distribution, licensing, sublicensing, sale or any other exercise of rights in any of Licensor Technology infringes or will infringe on any 
intellectual property right of any Person; and to its Knowledge, no such claims have been asserted or are threatened;

(c)To its Knowledge, the Licensor Patents are subsisting and are not the subject of any litigation procedure, 
discovery process, interference, reissue, reexamination, opposition, appeal proceedings or any other legal dispute;

(d)The Licensor Patents constitute all Patent Rights owned or Controlled by Licensor that are directly related to, are 
necessary for or are actually used in the research, Development, manufacture, use and Commercialization of the Licensed Products 
as currently envisioned;

(e)Licensor has not subcontracted or licensed to a Third Party the right to Develop a Competing Product;

(f)the Licensor Know-How listed on SCHEDULE 2 hereto (as amended from time to time on or before the Effective 
Date) constitutes all Know-How owned or Controlled by Licensor that is directly related to, is necessary for or is actually used in the 
research, Development, manufacture, use and Commercialization of the Licensed Products as currently envisioned;

(g)the Licensor Materials listed on SCHEDULE 3 hereto (as amended from time to time on or before the Effective 
Date) constitute each compound owned or Controlled by Licensor that is directly related to, is necessary for or is actually used in the 
research, Development, manufacture, use and Commercialization of the Licensed Products as currently envisioned;
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(h)to its Knowledge, no Third Party has filed, pursued or maintained or threatened in writing to file, pursue or 
maintain any claim, lawsuit, charge, complaint or other action alleging that any Licensor Technology is invalid or unenforceable;

(i)Licensor has the full right to provide the Licensor Materials to Viking and to transfer to Viking the Licensor 
Materials to be provided to Viking pursuant to this Agreement; and

(j)Licensor has not previously licensed, assigned, transferred, or otherwise conveyed any right, title or interest in 
and to the Licensor Technology to any Third Party for the field of fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase inhibition, including but not limited to 
any rights to any Licensor Technology or Licensed Products.

8.3Disclaimer. Notwithstanding the representations and warranties set forth in this Article VIII, Viking acknowledges and 
accepts the risks inherent in attempting to Develop and Commercialize any pharmaceutical product. There is no implied 
representation that the Compounds can be successfully Developed or Commercialized. The representations and warranties set forth 
in this Article VIII are provided in lieu of, and each Party hereby disclaims, all other warranties, express and implied, relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement, the Licensor Technology, the Compounds, the Licensed Products and/or any toxicology and/or 
scientific data provided hereunder including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular 
purpose, title and non-infringement of third party rights. Each Party’s representations and warranties under this Agreement are solely 
for the benefit of the other Party and may be asserted only by the other Party and not by any Affiliate, Sublicensee or any customer 
of the other Party, its Affiliates or Sublicensees. Each Party, its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall be solely responsible for all 
representations and warranties that it, its Affiliates or Sublicensees make to any customer, Affiliates or Sublicensees.

ARTICLE IX
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

9.1Indemnification by Viking. Except to the extent Licensor has an obligation to indemnify Viking pursuant to Section 9.2 
below, Viking shall indemnify, defend and hold Licensor and each of their respective employees, officers, directors and agents (the 
“Licensor Indemnitees”) harmless from and against any and all actions, judgments, settlements, liabilities, damages, penalties, 
fines, losses, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) to the extent arising out of any Third Party 
claim, demand, action or other proceeding (each, a “Claim”) related to (a) Viking’s performance of its obligations or exercise (by it or 
its Affiliates or Sublicensees) of its rights under this Agreement; (b) breach by Viking of its representations or warranties set forth in 
Article VIII; (c) any clinical study conducted by or on behalf of Viking; (d) the research, Development or Commercialization of 
Licensed Products by Viking, its Affiliates, Sublicensees, distributors or agents; provided, however, that Viking’s obligations pursuant 
to this Section 9.1 shall not apply (i) to the extent such claims or suits result from the negligence or willful misconduct of any of the 
Licensor Indemnitees, or (ii) with respect to claims or suits arising out of breach by Licensor of its representations, warranties or 
covenants set forth in Article VIII.

9.2Indemnification by Licensor. Licensor shall indemnify, defend and hold Viking and its Affiliates and each of their 
respective agents, employees, officers and directors (the “Viking Indemnitees”) harmless from and against any and all actions, 
judgments, settlements, liability, damage, loss, cost or expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees) to the extent arising out of 
Third Party claims or suits related to (a) Licensor’s performance of its obligations under this Agreement; (b) 
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breach by Licensor of its representations, warranties or covenants set forth in Article VIII; or (c) the research or Development of 
Compounds before the Effective Date; provided, however, that Licensor’s obligations pursuant to this Section 9.2 shall not apply (i) 
to the extent that such claims or suits result from the negligence or willful misconduct of any of the Viking Indemnitees or (ii) with 
respect to claims or suits arising out of a breach by Viking of its representations or warranties set forth in Article VIII.

9.3No Consequential Damages. IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES BE LIABLE TO 
THE OTHER PARTY OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE 
DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOSS OF PROFITS, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY 
OR OTHERWISE, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF, THE 
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREIN OR ANY BREACH HEREOF. 

9.4Procedure. The Party intending to claim indemnification under this Article IX (an “Indemnified Party”) shall promptly 
notify the other party (the “Indemnifying Party”) of any Claim in respect of which the Indemnified Party intends to claim such 
indemnification, and the Indemnifying Party shall assume the defense thereof using defense counsel reasonably acceptable to the 
Indemnified Party; provided, however, that if the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense, the Indemnified Party shall have the right 
to employ counsel separate from counsel employed by the Indemnifying Party in any such action and to participate in the defense 
thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel employed by the Indemnified Party shall be at the sole cost and expense of the 
Indemnified Party unless the named parties to any action or proceeding include both the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified 
Party and a representation of both the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party by the same counsel would be inappropriate 
due to the actual or potential differing interests between them. (Notwithstanding the foregoing, no delay or deficiency on the part of 
the Indemnified Party in so notifying the Indemnifying Party will relieve the Indemnifying Party of any liability or obligation under this 
Agreement except to the extent the Indemnifying Party has suffered actual prejudice directly caused by the delay or other deficiency.) 
If the Indemnifying Party shall fail to assume the defense of and reasonably defend such Claim, the Indemnified Party shall have the 
right to retain or assume control of such defense and the Indemnifying Party shall pay (as incurred and on demand) the fees and 
expenses of counsel retained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to settle such Claim; provided, 
that the Indemnifying Party shall obtain the prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of the 
Indemnified Party before entering into any settlement of (or resolving by consent to the entry of judgment upon) such Claim unless 
(a) there is no finding or admission of any violation of law or any violation of the rights of any Person by an Indemnified Party, no 
requirement that the Indemnified Party admit negligence, fault or culpability, no requirement that the Indemnified Party take (or 
refrain from taking) any action and no adverse effect on any other claims that may be made by or against the Indemnified Party and 
(b) the sole relief provided is monetary damages that are paid in full by the Indemnifying Party. Regardless of who controls the 
defense, the other Party shall reasonably cooperate in the defense as may be requested. Without limitation, the Indemnified Party, 
and its directors, officers, advisers, agents and employees, shall cooperate fully with the Indemnifying Party and its legal 
representatives in the investigation and defense of any Claim.

9.5Expenses. As the Parties intend complete indemnification, all costs and expenses of enforcing any provision of this 
Article IX shall also be reimbursed by the Indemnifying Party.
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9.6Insurance. During the Term and for […***…] thereafter, Viking shall obtain and maintain, at its own cost and expense, 
product liability insurance in amounts, that are reasonable and customary in the United States pharmaceutical and biotechnology 
industry for companies engaged in comparable activities, with Metabasis and Ligand identified as additional named insureds. It is 
understood and agreed that this insurance shall not be construed to limit Viking’s liability with respect to its indemnification 
obligations hereunder. Viking shall provide to Ligand upon request a certificate evidencing the insurance Viking is required to obtain 
and keep in force under this Section 9.6.

ARTICLE X
TERM AND TERMINATION

10.1Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and, unless earlier terminated as provided in 
this Article X, shall continue in full force and effect in perpetuity (the “Term”). The Parties confirm that subject to the foregoing 
sentence, this Agreement shall not be terminated or invalidated by any future determination that any or all of the Licensor Patents 
have expired or been invalidated. 

10.2Ligand Termination Rights. 

(a)For Convenience. Ligand shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in its entirety immediately by Ligand 
providing written notice to Viking if, on or before April 30, 2015, Viking has neither (i) completed its Public Offering nor (ii) received 
aggregate net proceeds of at least Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000,000) in one or more Private Financings (either (i) or (ii), a 
“Qualified Financing”); provided that in the event Viking has not completed a Qualified Financing by […***…]. 

(b)Viking Bankruptcy. Ligand shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in its entirety immediately by written 
notice to Viking if Viking avails itself of or becomes subject to any petition or proceeding under any statute of any state or country 
relating to insolvency or the protection of the rights of creditors, or any other insolvency or bankruptcy proceeding or similar 
proceeding for the settlement of Viking’s debt is instituted. 

10.3Termination upon Material Breach. If Viking, on one hand, and a Ligand Party, on the other hand, fails to make a 
payment of an undisputed amount when due, then Viking if a Ligand Party is the Party in default or Ligand if Viking is the Party in 
default may give to the defaulting Party a written notice specifying the nature of the default, requiring it to cure such default. If such 
payment default is not cured within […***…] days after the receipt of such notice, then Viking if a Ligand Party is the Party in default 
or Ligand if Viking is the Party in default shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement immediately by written notice to the Party in 
default. If a Party defaults on any of its “material and substantial” obligations under this Agreement, then Viking if a Ligand Party is 
the Party in default or Ligand if Viking is the Party in default may give to the defaulting Party a written notice specifying the nature of 
the default, requiring it to cure such default. If the Party in default, after using Commercially Reasonable Efforts, does not cure a 
curable default within […***…] days after the receipt of such notice or, if such curable default is not curable within […***…] days, as 
promptly thereafter as possible using Commercially Reasonable Efforts, then Viking if a Ligand Party is the Party in default or Ligand 
if Viking is the Party in default shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement immediately by written notice to the other Party. For 
clarity and not be way of limitation, Viking’s diligence obligations under 
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Section 3.4 are “material and substantial” obligations under this Agreement, provided that, notwithstanding this Section 10.3 or 
otherwise, in the event of a default by Viking of its diligence obligations under Section 3.4 or its obligations under SCHEDULE 5, the 
remedial process specified in SCHEDULE 5 shall apply and Ligand Party’s right to terminate shall apply only on a Licensed Program-
by-Licensed Program basis and only as expressly provided in SCHEDULE 5. For further clarity and not be way of limitation, any breach 
by Licensor other than the Ligand Party shall be and shall be deemed to be a breach by the Ligand Party. 

10.4Effects of Termination.

(a)Survival (Applicable to Termination).

(i)Articles I (Definitions), IX (Indemnification and Insurance) and XI (Miscellaneous Provisions) and 
Sections 5.5 (Royalty Reports and Records Retention), 5.6 (Late Payments), 5.7 (Audits), 5.8 (Taxes), 6.3 (Ownership), 7.1 
(Confidentiality Obligations) and 10.4 (Effects of Termination), and Article VI (to the extent of any Action or Third Party Action which 
was begun prior to termination) hereof shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

(ii)Termination of this Agreement or any Licensed Program shall not relieve the Parties of any liability that 
accrued hereunder before the effective date of such termination, as to the Agreement or such Licensed Program, as the case may 
be. In addition, termination of this Agreement or any Licensed Program shall not preclude either Party from pursuing all rights and 
remedies it may have hereunder or at Law or in equity with respect to any breach of or default under this Agreement or with respect 
to such Licensed Program nor prejudice either Party’s right to obtain performance of any obligation.

(b)Other Effects of Termination (Entire Agreement). Upon termination of this Agreement in accordance with the 
terms hereof:

(i)all licenses granted to Viking hereunder shall terminate.

(ii)Viking shall, upon written request by Ligand and subject to Licensor assuming legal responsibility for 
any clinical trials of the Licensed Products then ongoing, assign and transfer to Licensor (or to such transferee as Ligand may direct) 
at no cost to Licensor all regulatory documentation and Regulatory Approvals prepared or obtained by or on behalf of Viking before 
the date of such termination, to the extent solely related to Licensed Products and transferable, and Viking shall have the right to 
retain one copy of such transferred documentation and Regulatory Approvals for record-keeping purposes. If Ligand does not make 
any request of Viking pursuant to this subsection (b)(ii), Viking shall wind down any ongoing Clinical Trials with respect to the 
Licensed Products at no cost to Licensor.

(iii)Viking shall, upon written request by Ligand, return to Licensor […***…] or, if Ligand so instructs, 
destroy, all relevant records and materials in its possession or control containing or comprising the Licensor Know-How and the 
Licensor Materials, and all other Confidential Information of Licensor.

(iv)Viking shall, upon written request by Ligand, sell and transfer to Licensor (or to such transferee as 
Ligand may direct) at a price equal to 125% of Viking’s costs of goods (determined in accordance with GAAP), any and all chemical, 
biological or physical materials 
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relating to or comprising the Licensed Products, including clinical supplies of Licensed Products, that are Controlled by Viking (other 
than Licensor Materials which are addressed in subsection (b)(iii) above). […***…] If Ligand has made no such written request within 
[…***…] after such termination, Viking shall destroy any and all chemical, biological or physical materials relating to or comprising the 
Licensed Products, including clinical supplies of Licensed Products, that are Controlled by Viking. 

(v)Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall be entitled, during the 6 month period following such 
termination, to sell on the normal business terms in existence before such termination, any finished commercial inventory of 
Licensed Products which remains on hand as of the date of the termination, provided that Viking shall pay to Licensor the royalties 
and sales milestones applicable to said subsequent sales in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 
Any finished commercial inventory remaining following such 6 month period shall be offered […***…]. It is understood that if Licensor 
does not accept such offer Viking may, at its sole option and discretion, destroy or retain such finished commercial inventory 
remaining following such 6 month period, but shall have no license enabling it to sell such materials to a Third Party.

(vi)Viking shall (if Ligand so requests) assign the trademarks owned by Viking relating to the Licensed 
Products to Licensor or otherwise transfer rights to such trademarks to Licensor, upon commercially reasonable terms.

(vii)Viking hereby grants to Licensor, exercisable only upon termination of this Agreement by Ligand under 
Sections 10.2 or 10.3, a non-exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing, sublicensable license under any Patent Rights and Know-How 
Controlled by Viking (including without limitation any Developed Technology) to the extent necessary to make, have made, import, 
use, offer to sell and sell the Licensed Products anywhere in the world […***…] on reasonable terms and conditions to be agreed 
upon by the Parties in good faith upon any such termination of this Agreement by Ligand. 

(c)Other Effects of Termination (One or More Licensed Programs). Upon termination of a Licensed Program 
because of an event of a default by Viking of its diligence obligations under Section 3.4 or its obligations under SCHEDULE 5:

(i)all licenses granted to Viking with respect to the Licensor Technology and Licensed Products solely with 
respect to such terminated Licensed Program hereunder shall terminate.

(ii)Viking shall, upon written request by Ligand and subject to Licensor assuming legal responsibility for 
any clinical trials of the Licensed Products solely with respect to such terminated Licensed Program then ongoing, assign and 
transfer to Licensor (or to such transferee as Ligand may direct), at no cost to Licensor all regulatory documentation and Regulatory 
Approvals prepared or obtained by or on behalf of Viking before the date of such termination, to the extent solely related to such 
Licensed Products and transferable, and Viking shall have the right to retain one copy of such transferred documentation and 
Regulatory Approvals for record-keeping purposes. If Ligand does not make any request of Viking pursuant to this subsection (c)(ii), 
Viking shall wind down any ongoing Clinical Trials with respect to the Licensed Products solely with respect to such terminated 
Licensed Program at no cost to Licensor.

(iii)Viking shall, upon written request by Ligand, return to Licensor, […***…] or, if Ligand so instructs, 
destroy, all relevant records and materials in its possession or 
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control containing or comprising the Licensor Know-How and the Licensor Materials solely with respect to such terminated Licensed 
Program, and all other Confidential Information of Licensor solely with respect to such terminated Licensed Program.

(iv)Viking shall, upon written request by Ligand, sell and transfer to Licensor (or to such transferee as 
Ligand may direct), at a price equal to 125% of Viking’s costs of goods (determined in accordance with GAAP), any and all chemical, 
biological or physical materials relating to or comprising the Licensed Products solely with respect to such terminated Licensed 
Program, including clinical supplies of such Licensed Products, that are Controlled by Viking (other than Licensor Materials which are 
addressed in subsection (c)(iii) above). […***…] If Ligand has made no such written request within […***…] after such termination, 
Viking shall destroy any and all chemical, biological or physical materials relating to or comprising such Licensed Products, including 
clinical supplies of such Licensed Products, that are Controlled by Viking. 

(v)Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall be entitled, during the 6 month period following 
termination of such Licensed Program, to sell on the normal business terms in existence before such termination, any finished 
commercial inventory of Licensed Products solely with respect to such terminated Licensed Program which remains on hand as of 
the date of the termination, provided that Viking shall pay to Licensor the royalties and sales milestones applicable to said 
subsequent sales in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. Any finished commercial inventory 
remaining following such 6 month period shall be offered […***…]. It is understood that if Licensor does not accept such offer Viking 
may, at its sole option and discretion, destroy or retain such finished commercial inventory remaining following such 6 month period, 
but shall have no license enabling it to sell such materials to a Third Party.

(vi)Viking shall (if Ligand so requests) assign the trademarks owned by Viking relating to the Licensed 
Products solely with respect to such terminated Licensed Program to Licensor, or otherwise transfer rights to such trademarks to 
Licensor upon commercially reasonable terms.

(vii)Viking hereby grants to Licensor, exercisable only upon termination of a Licensed Program by Ligand 
under Section 10.3, a non-exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing, sublicensable license under any Patent Rights and Know-How 
Controlled by Viking (including without limitation any Developed Technology) to the extent necessary to make, have made, import, 
use, offer to sell and sell the Licensed Products solely with respect to the terminated Licensed Program anywhere in the world […
***…] on reasonable terms and conditions to be agreed upon by the Parties in good faith upon any such termination of such 
Licensed Program by Ligand. 

(viii)For purposes of this Section 10.4(c), (A) references to “Licensor” shall mean (I) Ligand if the 
terminated Licensed Program is the EPOR Program or the SARM Program, and (II) Metabasis, if the terminated Licensed Program 
is the DGAT-1 Program, the TR-Beta Program or the FBPase Program; and (B) references to “at no cost to Licensor” shall mean […
***…]. 
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ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

11.1Relationship of the Parties. Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be deemed to constitute a partnership, 
agency, joint venture or employer-employee relationship between the Parties. Neither Party shall have any right nor authority to 
commit or legally bind the other Party in any way whatsoever including, without limitation, the making of any agreement, 
representation or warranty and each Party agrees to not purport to do so. 

11.2Assignment.

(a)Any assignment not in accordance with this Section 11.2 shall be void.

(b)No assignment shall relieve the assigning Party of any of its responsibilities or obligations hereunder.

(c)Viking may not transfer or assign its rights or delegate its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part, 
by operation of law or otherwise, to any Third Party without the prior written consent of Ligand, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Viking may assign its rights and/or 
delegate its obligations under this Agreement to an Affiliate, to any Person in a transaction in which Viking also assigns all of its right, 
title and interest in all or substantially all of its assets, including without limitation, intellectual property rights, to the same party 
contemporaneous with the assignment of this Agreement, or to a successor, whether by way of merger, sale of stock or otherwise, 
without Ligand’s prior written consent. As a condition to any permitted assignment hereunder, the assignee must expressly assume, 
in a writing delivered to Ligand (and in a form reasonably acceptable to Ligand) all of Viking’s obligations under this Agreement, 
whether arising before, at or after the assignment. For clarification, any assignment pursuant to a Change of Control shall be subject 
to Section 11.18. 

(d)Neither Ligand nor Metabasis may transfer or assign its rights or delegate its obligations under this Agreement, 
in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise, to any Third Party without the prior written consent of Viking, which consent shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, each of Ligand and Metabasis 
may, without Viking’s prior written consent, assign its rights and/or delegate its obligations under this Agreement to an Affiliate, or, 
with respect to one or more Licensed Programs, to any Person in a transaction in which such Ligand Party also assigns all of its 
right, title and interest in all of such Licensed Program(s) assets, including without limitation, intellectual property rights, to the same 
party contemporaneous with the assignment of this Agreement, or to a successor, whether by way of merger, sale of all or 
substantially all of its assets, sale of stock or otherwise. As a condition to any permitted assignment hereunder, the assignee must 
expressly assume, in a writing delivered to Viking (and in a form reasonably acceptable to Viking) all of the Ligand Party’s applicable 
obligations under this Agreement, whether arising before, at or after the assignment. 

(e)Viking or any Ligand Party may assign its right to receive proceeds under this Agreement or grant a security 
interest in such right to receive proceeds to one or more financial institutions providing financing to such Party pursuant to the terms 
of a security or other agreement related to such financing.
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11.3Further Actions. Each Party agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments and to do all such 
other acts as may be necessary or appropriate in order to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.

11.4Force Majeure. Neither Party shall be liable to the other Party or be deemed to have breached or defaulted under this 
Agreement for failure or delay in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement (other than obligations for the 
payment of money) for the time and to the extent such failure or delay is caused by or results from acts of God, earthquake, riot, civil 
commotion, terrorism, war, strikes or other labor disputes, fire, flood, failure or delay of transportation, omissions or delays in acting 
by a governmental authority, acts of a government or an agency thereof or judicial orders or decrees or restrictions or any other like 
reason which is beyond the control of the respective Party. The Party affected by force majeure shall provide the other Party with full 
particulars thereof as soon as it becomes aware of the same (including its best estimate of the likely extent and duration of the 
interference with its activities), and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to overcome the difficulties created thereby and to 
resume performance of its obligations hereunder as soon as practicable, and the time for performance shall be extended for a 
number of days equal to the duration of the force majeure.

11.5Entire Agreement of the Parties; Amendments; Order of Precedence. This Agreement and the Schedules hereto, 
together with the Option Agreement, constitute and contain the entire understanding and agreement of the Parties respecting the 
subject matter hereof and cancel and supersede any and all prior or contemporaneous negotiations, correspondence, 
understandings and agreements between or among the Parties, whether oral or written, regarding such subject matter (provided, that 
any and all previous nondisclosure/nonuse obligations are not superseded and remain in full force and effect in addition to the 
nondisclosure/nonuse provisions hereof). In the event of a conflict or inconsistency among this Agreement, the Schedules and the 
Option Agreement, the order of precedence shall be as follows: (i) this Agreement, (ii) the Schedules and (iii) the Option Agreement. 
No waiver, modification or amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid or effective unless made in a writing 
referencing this Agreement and signed by a duly authorized officer of each Party.

11.6Captions. The captions to this Agreement are for convenience only, and are to be of no force or effect in construing or 
interpreting any of the provisions of this Agreement.

11.7Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State 
of California, excluding application of any conflict of laws principles that would require application of the Law of a jurisdiction outside 
of California, and will be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of competent jurisdiction located in San Diego County, 
California.

11.8Notices and Deliveries. Any notice, request, approval or consent required or permitted to be given under this 
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given if delivered in person, transmitted by email or by 
express courier service to the Party to which it is directed at its physical or email address shown below or such other physical or 
email address as such Party shall have last given by notice to the other Party.

If to Viking, addressed to:
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.
11119 North Torrey Pines Road, Suite 50
La Jolla, CA 92037
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Email: […***…]

With a copy to:  
 
Jeffrey T. Hartlin
Matthew D. Berger
Paul Hastings LLP
1117 S. California Ave.
Palo Alto, CA 94304
Email:  jeffhartlin@paulhastings.com
Email:  mattberger@paulhastings.com
 

If to Ligand Party, addressed to:

Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc. 
11119 North Torrey Pines Road, Suite 200
La Jolla, CA 92037
Attention: Vice President
Email:  […***…]
With a copy to:  
 
General Counsel
Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
11119 North Torrey Pines Road, Suite 200
La Jolla, CA 92037
Email:  […***…]
 

 
11.9Waiver. A waiver by any Party of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement in any instance shall not be 

deemed or construed to be a waiver of such term or condition for the future, or of any other term or condition hereof.

11.10Rights and Remedies are Cumulative. Except to the extent expressly set forth herein, all rights, remedies, 
undertakings, obligations and agreements contained in or available upon violation of this Agreement shall be cumulative and none of 
them shall be in limitation of any other remedy or right authorized in law or in equity, or any undertaking, obligation or agreement of 
either Party.

11.11Severability. When possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be effective 
and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable Law, 
such provision will be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of this 
Agreement. The Parties shall make a good faith effort to replace the invalid or unenforceable provision with a valid one which in its 
economic effect is most consistent with the invalid or unenforceable provision.
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11.12No Implied License. No right or license is granted to Viking hereunder by implication, estoppel, or otherwise to any 
know-how, patent or other intellectual property right owned or Controlled by Licensor, except by an express license granted 
hereunder. No right or license is granted to Licensor hereunder by implication, estoppel, or otherwise to any know-how, patent or 
other intellectual property right owned or Controlled by Viking or its Affiliates.

11.13No Right of Set-Off. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Viking shall not have a right to set-off 
any royalties, milestones or other amount due to a Ligand Party under this Agreement against any damages incurred by Viking for a 
breach by a Ligand Party of this Agreement.

11.14Equitable Relief. Each Party recognizes that the covenants and agreements herein and their continued performance 
as set forth in this Agreement are necessary and critical to protect the legitimate interests of the other Party, that the other Party 
would not have entered into this Agreement in the absence of such covenants and agreements and the assurance of continued 
performance as set forth in this Agreement, and that a Party’s breach or threatened breach of such covenants and agreements shall 
cause the opposed Party irreparable harm and significant injury, the amount of which will be extremely difficult to estimate and 
ascertain, thus, making any remedy at law or in damages inadequate. Therefore, each Party agrees that the other Party shall be 
entitled to specific performance, an order restraining any breach or threatened breach of such sections of this Agreement, and any 
other equitable relief (including but not limited to interim injunctive relief), without the necessity of posting of any bond or security. 
This right shall be in addition to and not exclusive of any other remedy available to such other Party at law or in equity.

11.15Interpretation. The language used in this Agreement is the language chosen by the Parties to express their mutual 
intent, and no provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted for or against a Party because that Party or its attorney drafted the 
provision

11.16Construction. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without 
limitation.” All references herein to Articles, Sections and Schedules shall be deemed references to Articles and Sections of, and 
Schedules to, this Agreement unless the context shall otherwise require. 

11.17Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, and all of 
which together will be deemed to be one and the same instrument. A facsimile or a portable document format (PDF) copy of this 
Agreement, including the signature pages, will be deemed an original.

11.18Viking Change of Control. Viking must notify Ligand at least […***…] days prior to completion or consummation of 
any Viking Change of Control. Prior to a consummation of a Public Offering, Viking may not complete or otherwise consummate a 
Viking Change of Control without Ligand’s prior written consent. In addition, Ligand shall have the right (in its sole discretion), at any 
time after receipt of such notice, to elect to require Viking, including its acquiring party, to (a) adopt reasonable procedures to be 
agreed upon in writing with Ligand to prevent the disclosure of all Confidential Information of Licensor and other information with 
respect to the Development and Commercialization of Compounds or Licensed Products (the “Licensor Sensitive Information”) 
beyond Viking personnel having access to and knowledge of Licensor Sensitive Information prior to the Viking Change of Control, 
(b) control the dissemination of Licensor Sensitive Information 
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disclosed after the Viking Change of Control, which procedures shall include reasonable restrictions on 
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the scope of any Licensor Sensitive Information to be provided by Licensor, and (c) make adequate provision for the issuance of 
Viking Equity required under this Agreement. 

11.19Ligand Change of Control. Ligand shall notify Viking at least […***…] days prior to completion or consummation of 
any Ligand Party Change of Control. In addition, Viking shall have the right (in its sole discretion), at any time after receipt of such 
notice, to elect to require the Ligand Party, including its acquiring party, to (a) adopt reasonable procedures to be agreed upon in 
writing with Viking to prevent the disclosure of all Confidential Information of Viking and its Affiliates and other information with 
respect to the Development, manufacture and Commercialization of Licensed Products (the “Viking Sensitive Information”) beyond 
Licensor personnel having access to and knowledge of Viking Sensitive Information prior to the Ligand Party Change of Control and 
(b) control the dissemination of Viking Sensitive Information disclosed after the Ligand Party Change of Control, which procedures 
shall include reasonable restrictions on the scope of any Viking Sensitive Information to be provided by Viking or its Affiliates. 

11.20No Solicitation. For a period of […***…] years from the Effective Date, Viking shall not solicit, induce, encourage or 
attempt to induce or encourage any employee of Ligand Party to terminate his or her employment with Ligand Party or to breach any 
other obligation to Ligand Party. This section is not meant to encompass general solicitations such as may be found in newspaper 
advertisements and the like.

11.21Information for Financial Reporting. In addition to any reports provided by the Parties hereunder or under the Loan 
and Security Agreement, including the reports provided by Viking pursuant to Section 5.5, for as long as the aggregate number of 
voting shares of Viking capital stock owned by Ligand and Metabasis equals or exceeds […***…] of the number of voting shares of 
Viking capital stock then outstanding, Viking shall provide to Ligand such financial information for each calendar month (the 
“Financial Information”) within […***…] days after the end of the first two calendar months in each calendar quarter and not later 
than […***…] days after the end of the third calendar month in each calendar quarter to allow Ligand to accrue the proper expenses 
and revenues as required by GAAP and required for consolidated financial reporting, if applicable, under applicable Laws. Viking 
shall certify by a certificate signed by its chief executive officer, president or chief financial officer that all such financial information 
has been prepared in accordance with GAAP (other than the exclusion of footnotes not ordinarily included in interim period financial 
statements) and present fairly Viking’s financial position as at the dates thereof and its results of operations for the periods then 
ended, subject to normal year-end adjustments. Ligand agrees that, to the extent that Licensor wishes to publicly disclose any of the 
Financial Information and identify such Financial Information as being the financial information of Viking or any of its Affiliates (the 
“Disclosure”), Licensor shall (i) provide such Disclosure to Viking at least […***…] business days prior to the date that Licensor 
issues such Disclosure publicly, and (ii) consider in good faith any comments with respect to such Disclosure provided by Viking to 
Ligand. Any Disclosures previously disclosed by Viking or any of its Affiliates or previously reviewed by Viking may be thereafter 
disclosed without the need for Viking’s additional review.

11.22Nature of Rights. The rights granted to Viking hereunder are rights in “intellectual property” within the scope of 
Section 101 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Code”). Viking shall have the rights set forth in this Agreement with respect 
to the Licensor Technology when and as developed or created. In addition, Viking, as a licensee of intellectual property rights 
hereunder, shall have and may fully exercise all rights available to a licensee under the Code, including, without limitation, under 
Section 365(n) and its successors. In the event Licensor makes a general assignment 
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for the benefit of its creditors; applies for or consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee or liquidator for substantially all of its 
assets or such a receiver, trustee or liquidator is appointed; or Licensor has filed against it an involuntary petition of bankruptcy that 
has not been dismissed within […***…] days thereof, or files a voluntary petition of bankruptcy, or a petition or answer seeking 
reorganization, or seeks to take advantage of any other law relating to relief of debtors; or has wound up or liquidated its business, 
Viking shall have the right to obtain (and Licensor or any trustee for Licensor or its assets shall, at Viking’s written request, deliver to 
Viking) a copy of all embodiments (including, without limitation, any work in progress) of any intellectual property rights granted under 
this Agreement, including, without limitation, all embodiments of the Licensor Technology, Licensor’s Confidential Information or any 
other intellectual property necessary or useful for Viking to use or exploit any Licensor Technology or to exercise its rights under this 
Agreement. In addition, Licensor shall take all steps reasonably requested by Viking to perfect, exercise and enforce its rights under 
this Agreement, including, without limitation, filings in the U.S. Copyright Office and U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, and under the 
Uniform Commercial Code. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Master License Agreement to be executed and delivered by their 
respective duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

METABASIS THERAPEUTICS, INC. VIKING THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By:     /s/ Charles Berkman        

Name: Charles Berkman

Title: Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

By:     /s/ Brian Lian, Ph.D.           

Name: Brian Lian, Ph.D.

Title: CEO

LIGAND PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED  

By:     /s/ Charles Berkman        

Name: Charles Berkman

Title:  Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

 

 
[Signature Page to Master License Agreement]



 

SCHEDULE 1
COMPOUNDS

FBPase Compounds

Count Compound ID
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Count Compound ID

[…***…] […***…]
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EPOR Compounds

Count Compound ID

[…***…] […***…]

 

SCHEDULE 1
COMPOUNDS

TR-Beta Compounds

Count Compound ID

[…***…] […***…]
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COMPOUNDS

DGAT-1 Compounds

 
Count Compound ID

[…***…] […***…]

 
 



 

SCHEDULE 2
LICENSOR KNOW-HOW

FBPase Program

Index Folder File
[…***…] […***…] […***…]

 
SCHEDULE 2

LICENSOR KNOW-HOW

SARM Program

Index Folder File
[…***…] […***…] […***…]

 
SCHEDULE 2

LICENSOR KNOW-HOW

EPOR Program

Index Folder Name File Name
[…***…] […***…] […***…]

 
SCHEDULE 2

LICENSOR KNOW-HOW

TR-Beta Program

Index Folder File
[…***…] […***…] […***…]

 
SCHEDULE 2

LICENSOR KNOW-HOW

DGAT-1 Program

Index Folder File
[…***…] […***…] […***…]

 

 
 



 

SCHEDULE 3
LICENSOR MATERIALS

FBPase Compounds

[…***…]

SCHEDULE 3
LICENSOR MATERIALS

SARM Compounds

[…***…]

SCHEDULE 3
LICENSOR MATERIALS

EPOR Compounds

[…***…]

SCHEDULE 3
LICENSOR MATERIALS

TR-Beta Compounds

 
[…***…]

SCHEDULE 3
LICENSOR MATERIALS

DGAT-1 Compounds

[…***…]
 
 



 
 

SCHEDULE 4
LICENSOR PATENT RIGHTS

DGAT-1 PATENTS

Docket No. Client 
Reference

Serial No. Title Inventors Date Filed Comments

[…***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…]
 

FBPASE PATENTS

Matter Code App Serial No. Status Date Filed Patent No. Title Date 
Issued

Expiration

[…***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…]
 
 

EPOR PATENTS

Case No.
Title of 
Invention: Country: Status: Application No. Filing Date: Patent No.

Date 
Issued:

[…***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…]
 

SARM PATENTS

Case No. Title Country Status Application No. Filing Date Patent No Date Issued
[…***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…]

 

TR-BETA PATENTS

Case No. Title of Invention Country: Status: Application No. Filing Date: Patent No: Date Issued:
[…***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…] […***…]

 
 



 
 

SCHEDULE 5
 

ADDITIONAL LICENSED PROGRAM DILIGENCE OBJECTIVES
 

LICENSED PROGRAMS: In addition, using Commercially Reasonable Efforts, Viking will engage in Substantial Development 
Activities […***…] for the Licensed Programs listed below, unless Viking is precluded from doing so due to regulatory 
reasons. 
 
“Substantial Development Activities” shall mean the achievement of the following objectives with respect to the applicable 
Licensed Program: 
 

•DGAT-1 PROGRAM: […***…]. 
 

•EPOR PROGRAM: […***…].
 

•SARM PROGRAM: […***…].
 

•TR-BETA PROGRAM: […***…].
 

•FBPASE PROGRAM: Following payment of the Exercise Fee, Viking shall […***…].
 

 
In the event (A) that Viking fails to achieve the SARM Program objective set forth above by […***…] pursuant to this 
SCHEDULE 5 or (B) of a default by Viking of a diligence obligation under Section 3.4 with respect to the SARM Program, the 
Parties shall meet to discuss and (i) determine in good faith whether Viking failed to perform its obligations with respect to 
the SARM Program under the Agreement, including this SCHEDULE 5, and, if so, (ii) agree upon a mutually acceptable 
reasonable remediation plan (the “SARM Remediation Plan”), both of the foregoing (A) no later than […***…] if the failure is 
with respect to the Substantial Development Activity for the SARM Program, or (B) no later than […***…] days following the 
default by Viking of a diligence obligation under Section 3.4 with respect to the SARM Program. If it is mutually determined 
that Viking failed to perform its obligations with respect to the SARM Program under this Agreement, including this SCHEDULE 
5, and if the Parties are unable to mutually agree upon a SARM Remediation Plan, then the Chief Executive Officers of each 
of Ligand and Viking (the “Executive Officers”) shall have a face-to-face meeting to attempt to solve the disagreement 
within the next […***…] days. In the event that the disagreement is still not resolved thereafter, then Ligand will propose, in 
good faith and after taking into consideration Viking’s position and comments, reasonable modifications to the SARM 
Remediation Plan last proposed by Viking. If Viking does not accept such modified SARM Remediation Plan, Ligand may 
terminate the SARM Program with […***…] days prior written notice (which shall be deemed to be a termination solely with 
respect to the SARM Program by Ligand pursuant to Section 10.3 for all purposes under this Agreement).
 



 
 

In the event that Viking anticipates that it will fail to achieve the EPOR Program objective set forth above by […***…] 
pursuant to this SCHEDULE 5, it may elect to extend such date by an additional […***…] months by providing to Ligand before 
[…***…] an irrevocable written election to extend such date accompanied by a non-refundable EPOR Program extension fee 
in the amount of […***…], payable by cashier’s check or wire transfer to Ligand. Following receipt of the EPOR Program 
extension fee, the date for achievement of the EPOR Program objective shall be extended to […***…]. For avoidance of 
doubt, such date may only be extended once. 
 
In the event that (A) Viking fails to achieve the Substantial Development Activity objective as and by the date specified 
above, with respect to the EPOR Program (as the same may be extended pursuant to this SCHEDULE 5), DGAT-1 Program, 
TR-Beta Program or FBPase Program pursuant to this SCHEDULE 5 (such EPOR Program, DGAT-1 Program, TR-Beta 
Program and FBPase Program shall be individually referred to as “Other Licensed Program” and collectively referred to as 
“Other Licensed Programs”) or (B) of a default by Viking of a diligence obligation under Section 3.4 with respect to an 
Other Licensed Program, the Parties shall meet to discuss and (i) determine in good faith whether Viking failed to perform its 
obligations with respect to a particular Other Licensed Program under the Agreement, including this SCHEDULE 5, and, if so, 
(ii) agree upon a mutually acceptable reasonable remediation plan for the Other Licensed Program (the “Other Licensed 
Program Remediation Plan”) within […***…] following the specified date for such Other Licensed Program or following the 
default by Viking of a diligence obligation under Section 3.4 with respect to the Other Licensed Program, as applicable. If it is 
mutually determined that Viking failed to perform its obligations with respect to such Other Licensed Program under the 
Agreement, including this SCHEDULE 5, and if the Parties are unable to mutually agree upon an Other Licensed Program 
Remediation Plan, then the Executive Officers shall have a face-to-face meeting to attempt to solve the disagreement within 
the next […***…]. In the event that the disagreement is still not resolved thereafter, then Ligand will propose, in good faith 
and after taking into consideration Viking’s position and comments, reasonable modifications to the Other Licensed Program 
Remediation Plan for such Other Licensed Program last proposed by Viking. If Viking does not accept such modified Other 
Licensed Program Remediation Plan, Ligand may terminate the particular Other Licensed Program with […***…] prior written 
notice (which shall be deemed to be a termination solely with respect to such particular Other Licensed Program by the 
applicable Ligand Party pursuant to Section 10.3 for all purposes under this Agreement). 
 
If the Parties do not agree on whether Viking failed to perform its obligations under the Agreement, including this SCHEDULE 5, 
with respect to the EPOR Program (as the same may be extended pursuant to this SCHEDULE 5), then the Executive Officers 
shall have a face-to-face meeting to attempt to solve the disagreement within the […***…] or such longer period of time as 
may be agreed upon by the Parties. In the event that the disagreement with respect to the EPOR Program is still not 
resolved thereafter, either Party shall be entitled to commence expedited arbitration proceedings to decide and resolve this 
single issue in San Diego, California, pursuant to the then-current Rules of Arbitration of the International Chamber of 
Commerce and the Parties agree to be bound by the award of such tribunal. The arbitration shall consist of a single 
arbitrator mutually agreed by the Parties or, in the absence of such agreement, each Party shall select an arbitrator and 
those two arbitrators shall select a third arbitrator, who shall serve as the chair of the tribunal. 
 
 
 



 
 

SCHEDULE 6
 

 ISSUANCE OF VIKING SECURITIES
 

Licensed Program Viking Securities to 
be Issued To:

Dollar Amount of Viking 
Securities to be Issued:

Number of Shares 
of Viking Securities

DGAT-1 Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
EPOR Program Ligand […***…] (1)
SARM Program Ligand […***…] (1)
TR-Beta Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
FBPase Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
TOTAL  $29,000,000  

 
(1)The aggregate number of shares of Viking Securities issued to Ligand and/or Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to 
Section 5.1(b) and this SCHEDULE 6 shall be as follows.

 
 (a) In the event the valuation of the Company as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction, based on the actual 

shares of capital stock outstanding as of such time (the “Pre-Money Valuation”), is up to or equal to […***…], the 
aggregate number of shares of Viking Securities issued to Ligand and Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be equal to:

 
 […***…]
 
 (b) In the event the Pre-Money Valuation is greater than […***…], the aggregate number of shares of Viking Securities 

issued to any Ligand and Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to this Agreement shall be equal to:
 
 […***…]
 
** Includes the Exercise Fee
 



 
 

SCHEDULE 7
 

LICENSED PRODUCT MILESTONES AND ROYALTIES[1]

 
A. Development and Commercial Milestones. 

 1. FBPase Program: Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first, second, third and fourth different Indication of a Licensed Product containing an FBPase 
Compound to achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which 
addresses and achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any 
other) milestone event as to another one or more of the Indications) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate 
or its Sublicensee. 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the 
fourth Indication

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.1 for all 
Licensed Products containing an FBPase Compound and all Indications are $240,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.1 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to four times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if an Indication is discontinued after 
a milestone payment has been made.

 2. DGAT-1 Program: Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first and second different Indication of a Licensed Product containing a DGAT-1 Compound to 
achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which addresses and 
achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any other) 
milestone event as to another one or more of the Indications) whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate or its 
Sublicensee. 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________

[1] Note to draft: milestones and royalties are to be paid to Ligand or Metabasis as applicable for each Licensed Program. 
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Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the 
second Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.2 for all 
Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound are $156,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.2 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to two times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if the Development of a particular 
Licensed Product is discontinued after a milestone payment has been made.

 3. EPOR Program: Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first, second and third different Indication of a Licensed Product containing an EPOR Compound to 
achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which addresses and 
achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any other) 
milestone event as to another Indication) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate or its Sublicensee. 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the 
third Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.3 for all 
Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound are $144,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.3 shall be due and 
payable only (or up to three times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if the Development of a particular 
Licensed Product is discontinued after a milestone payment has been made. 
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 4. SARM Program: Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first and the second different Indication of a Licensed Product containing a SARM Compound to 
achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which addresses and 
achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any other) 
milestone event as to another Indication) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate or its Sublicensee. 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the 
second Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.4 for all 
Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound are $170,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.4 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to two times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if an Indication is discontinued after 
a milestone payment has been made.

 5. TR-Beta Program: Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments 
with respect to the first, the second and the third different Indication of a Licensed Product containing a TR-Beta 
Compound to achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which 
addresses and achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any 
other) milestone event as to another one or more of the Indications) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate 
or its Sublicensee. 

 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the 
third Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
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For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.5 for all 
Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound are $225,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.5 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to three times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if an Indication is discontinued 
after a milestone payment has been made.

 6. Payment of Development, Commercial and Special Milestones. Viking shall promptly, but in no event later 
than […***…] days following each achievement of a milestone event set forth in this Section A, notify Ligand in 
writing of the achievement of such milestone event and shall pay the relevant milestone payment within […***…] 
days thereafter.
 
B. Sublicense Milestone Payments. Viking shall pay Metabasis a one-time, non-refundable milestone payment 
of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000) upon the occurrence of a First Commercial Sale of 
an FBPase Compound by a Sublicensee (which, for clarity, shall not include a Sublicense to a contract 
manufacturer in connection with Commercialization).
 
Viking shall promptly, but in no event later than […***…] days following the achievement of the milestone event 
set forth in this Section B, notify Ligand in writing of the achievement of such milestone event and shall pay the 
milestone payment within […***…] days thereafter. 
 
C. Sales Milestone Payments.
 
 1. DGAT-1. Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect 
to Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]
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 2. FBPase. Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect 
to Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

 

 3. EPOR. Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect to 
Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]
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 4. SARM. Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect to 
Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

 
 5. TR-Beta. Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect 
to Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales 
for all Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound 
reach or surpass […***…]

[…***…]

 
 6. Payment of Sales Milestones. Viking shall include in its report delivered each […***…] under Section 5.5 of 
this Agreement a notation regarding the achievement of such milestone event and for which category or 
categories of Licensed Products it has been achieved. Viking shall pay the relevant milestone payment 
concurrently with the payment of royalties based on the applicable […***…] report.
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D. Royalty Payments.
 
 1. DGAT-1. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Metabasis a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any DGAT-1 Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a DGAT-1 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
 

By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Metabasis for such Net Sales would be […
***…], calculated as follows:

[…***…] 

 

 2. FBPase. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Metabasis a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any FBPase Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a FBPase 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…]
 up to and including […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%

 
By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Metabasis for such Net Sales would be […
***…], calculated as follows:
 
[…***…] 
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 3. EPOR. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Ligand a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any EPOR Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing an EPOR 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
 

By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Ligand for such Net Sales would be […
***…], calculated as follows:

[…***…]
 
 4. SARM. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Ligand a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any SARM Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a SARM 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
 

By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Ligand for such Net Sales would be […
***…], calculated as follows:

[…***…]
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 5. TR-Beta. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Metabasis a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any TR-Beta Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below: 

 
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a TR-Beta 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
 

By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Metabasis for such Net Sales would be […
***…], calculated as follows:

[…***…]
 

 6. Royalty Payable if no Valid Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in each country where  there is no Valid Claim 
Covering the applicable Compound contained in the Licensed Products that  would be infringed by the sale of such 
Licensed Product in such country absent a license with respect  to Licensor Patents under this Agreement, then the 
applicable royalty rate set forth in this Section D  above as applied to the sale of such Licensed Product in each such 
country shall be […***…] as follows:  (a) with respect to Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound or a TR-Beta 
Compound, by […***…] (i.e., the applicable royalty rate shall be […***…] the rates set forth in the tables above) and such 
[…***…] royalty shall be payable for the remaining Royalty Term for such Licensed Products; and  (b) with respect to all 
other Licensed Products, by […***…] (i.e., the applicable  royalty rate shall be […***…] the rates set forth in the tables 
above) and such […***…] royalty shall be payable for the remaining Royalty Term for all other Licensed Products. 

 
 7. Required Third Party License. If Viking, after arm’s-length negotiation, obtains a license from a Third Party to an issued 
and unexpired Patent the claims of which would be infringed by Viking making, using, selling, offering for sale or importing a 
Licensed Product, Viking may offset […***…] of the applicable Licensed Product in the applicable country; provided that in 
no event shall the royalty rates payable to Licensor with respect to the applicable Licensed Product in the applicable country 
be reduced by more than […***…]. 
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LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
 
 
 
 
 



 

Exhibit 10.2
 

***Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it both (i) is not material and (ii) is the type 
that the company treats as private or confidential. Such omitted information is indicated by brackets (“[...***...]”) in this 

exhibit.***
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Master License Agreement (this “Amendment”) is dated as of September 6, 2014 by and 
between Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey 
Pines Road, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Metabasis”) and Ligand 
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey Pines 
Road, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Ligand”) on one hand, and Viking 
Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey Pines Road, Suite 
50, La Jolla, CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Viking,” and together with Ligand and Metabasis, 
the “Parties”).  

This Amendment amends and modifies that certain Master License Agreement, between Metabasis and Ligand on 
the one hand and Viking on the other hand, dated May 21, 2014 (the “Agreement”), as follows: 

1.Schedule 6 of the Agreement shall be replaced in its entirety with the Amended Schedule 6 attached hereto.  
As of immediately prior to the consummation of any Financing Transaction, Viking will take all steps necessary, 
including without limitation any repurchase, recapitalization, reclassification, stock split, reverse stock split or 
similar transaction, necessary to effectuate the provisions of Schedule 6.

2.All of the other provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

3.This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, and all of which 
together will be deemed to be one and the same instrument. A facsimile or a portable document format (PDF) 
copy of this Amendment, including the signature pages, will be deemed an original.

[Signatures Follow]

 
 



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this First Amendment to Master License Agreement to be 
executed and delivered by their respective duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written. 

Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc. 
 
 
 
By: /s/ Charles Berkman
 
Name:  Charles Berkman
 
Title:  VP and Secretary
 

Viking Therapeutics, Inc.  
 

 
 

By: /s/ Brian Lian 
Name: Brian Lian
 
Title:  President and CEO
 
 

Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
 
 
 
By: /s/ Charles Berkman
 
Name: Charles Berkman
 
Title:  VP, General Counsel & Secretary  

 
 

 



 

AMENDED SCHEDULE 6

ISSUANCE OF VIKING SECURITIES

Licensed Program Viking Securities to be 
Issued To:

Dollar Amount of Viking 
Securities to be Issued:

Number of Shares of 
Viking Securities

DGAT-1 Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
EPOR Program Ligand […***…] (1)
SARM Program Ligand […***…] (1)
TR-Beta Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
FBPase Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
TOTAL  $29,000,000  

 
** Includes the Exercise Fee

(1) The aggregate number of shares of Viking Securities issued to Ligand and/or Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to Section 
5.1(b) and this SCHEDULE 6 shall be as follows.

(a) In the event the valuation of the Company as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction, based on the 
number of shares of capital stock of Viking outstanding calculated on a Fully-Diluted Basis (as defined below) as of 
immediately prior to the Financing Transaction (and prior to giving effect to the issuance of any shares of Viking 
Securities in the Financing Transaction) (the “Pre-Money Valuation”), is up to or equal to […***…], the aggregate 
number of shares of Viking Securities issued to Ligand and Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to this Agreement shall 
be equal to:

[…***…] 
 
For purposes of this Amended Schedule 6, “Fully-Diluted Basis” means the total number of shares that (i) 
includes (A) all then-outstanding shares and shares issuable under then-outstanding equity awards and warrants (if 
any) as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction (and prior to giving effect to the issuance of any shares of 
Viking Securities in the Financing Transaction), (B) shares (and options to purchase shares) issuable pursuant to 
consulting agreements then in effect, (C) shares issuable to holders of then-outstanding convertible notes (but 
excluding convertible notes held by Ligand) and (D) any outstanding shares of common stock issued prior to the 
Financing Transaction, as may be adjusted pursuant to any repurchase, recapitalization, reclassification, stock split, 
reverse stock split or similar transaction, as well as the shares of Viking Securities to be issued to Ligand pursuant 
to Section 5.1(b) of the Agreement and this Schedule 6, and (ii) excludes (W) shares of common stock issuable 
pursuant to employment agreements and 

 



 

employee offer letters then in effect, (X) any other shares of common stock and equity awards issued or issuable in, 
upon or following the closing of the Financing Transaction, (Y) shares reserved pursuant to Viking’s equity incentive 
plan (unless the shares are subject to an award outstanding under the plan as of immediately prior to the Financing 
Transaction), and (Z) shares reserved pursuant to Viking’s employee stock purchase plan.
 
For the purposes of the dollar amounts, the shares of Viking common stock shall be valued at the price per share 
provided in Section 5.1(b) (in the case of an initial public offering, the IPO Price per share to the public as defined in 
Section 1.38 of the Agreement). 
 
For example, if the Pre-Money Valuation is equal to […***…], Ligand would be entitled to […***…], or approximately 
[…***…], of the total […***…], while the other holders of Viking Securities would be entitled to […***…], or 
approximately […***…], of the total […***…]; if the total […***…], is equal to […***…], and the price per share in the 
Financing Transaction is […***…] per share, then in this example Ligand would receive […***…] shares under this 
Agreement and the other holders of Viking Securities would hold […***…] shares as of immediately prior to the 
Financing Transaction.
 

(b) In the event the Pre-Money Valuation is greater than […***…], the aggregate number of shares of Viking 
Securities issued to Ligand and Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to this Agreement shall be equal to:

[…***…]
 
For the purposes of the dollar amounts, the shares of Viking common stock shall be valued at the price per share 
provided in Section 5.1(b) (in the case of an initial public offering, the IPO Price per share to the public as defined in 
Section 1.38 of the Agreement). 
 
Example 1: For example, if the Pre-Money Valuation is equal to […***…], Ligand would be entitled to […***…] of the 
Pre-Money Valuation, plus […***…] of the Pre-Money Valuation above […***…] which totals […***…] of the […***…] 
Pre-Money Valuation, or approximately […***…] of the total […***…].  The other holders of Viking Securities, on the 
other hand, would be entitled to […***…] of the Pre-Money Valuation, plus […***…] of the Pre-Money Valuation 
above […***…], which totals […***…] of the […***…] Pre-Money Valuation, or approximately […***…] of the total […
***…]; if the total […***…] 

 



 

[…***…], is equal to […***…], and the price per share in the Financing Transaction is […***…] per share, then in this 
example Ligand would receive […***…] shares under this Agreement and the other holders of Viking Securities 
would hold […***…] shares as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction.
 
Example 2: For example, if the Pre-Money Valuation is equal to […***…], Ligand would be entitled to […***…] of the 
Pre-Money Valuation, plus […***…] of the Pre-Money Valuation above […***…], which totals […***…] of the […***…] 
Pre-Money Valuation, or approximately […***…] of the total […***…].  The other holders of Viking Securities, on the 
other hand, would be entitled to […***…] of the Pre-Money Valuation, plus […***…] of the Pre-Money Valuation 
above […***…], which totals […***…] million of the […***…] Pre-Money Valuation, or approximately […***…] of the 
total […***…]; if the total […***…], is equal to […***…], and the price per share in the Financing Transaction is […
***…] per share, then in this example Ligand would receive […***…] shares under this Agreement and the other 
holders of Viking Securities would hold […***…] shares as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction.

 



 

Exhibit 10.3
 
 

***Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it both (i) is not material and (ii) is the type 
that the company treats as private or confidential. Such omitted information is indicated by brackets (“[...***...]”) in this 

exhibit.***
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to Master License Agreement (this “Amendment”) is dated as of April 7, 2015 by and 
between Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey 
Pines Road, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Metabasis”) and Ligand 
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey Pines 
Road, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037 (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Ligand”) on the one hand, and Viking 
Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation organized having its place of business at 11119 North Torrey Pines Road, Suite 
50, La Jolla, CA 92037, on the other hand (including its successors and permitted assigns, “Viking,” and together with 
Ligand and Metabasis, the “Parties”).

This Amendment amends and modifies that certain Master License Agreement, between Metabasis and Ligand on 
the one hand and Viking on the other hand, dated May 21, 2014, as amended by the First Amendment to Master License 
Agreement, dated September 6, 2014 (as amended, the “Agreement”), as follows:

1.Schedule 6 of the Agreement shall be replaced in its entirety with the Amended Schedule 6 attached hereto.  
As of immediately prior to the consummation of any Financing Transaction, Viking will take all steps necessary, 
including without limitation any repurchase, recapitalization, reclassification, stock split, reverse stock split or 
similar transaction, necessary to effectuate the provisions of Schedule 6.

2.Schedule 7 of the Agreement shall be replaced in its entirety with the Amended Schedule 7 attached hereto.  

3.All of the other provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

4.This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, and all of which 
together will be deemed to be one and the same instrument.  A facsimile or a portable document format (PDF) 
copy of this Amendment, including the signature pages, will be deemed an original.

[Signatures Follow]
1

 



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this First Amendment to Master License Agreement to be 
executed and delivered by their respective duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc. Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

By: /s/ John Higgans  By: /s/ Brian Lian  
Name: John Higgans  Name: Brian Lian 
Title: Chief Executive Officer  Title: President and CEO 

Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

By: /s/ John Higgans  
Name: John Higgans 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 
 
 

2
 



 

AMENDED SCHEDULE 6

ISSUANCE OF VIKING SECURITIES

Licensed Program Viking Securities
to be Issued To:

Dollar Amount of Viking 
Securities

to be Issued:

Number of Shares of 
Viking Securities

DGAT-1 Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
EPOR Program Ligand […***…] (1)
SARM Program Ligand […***…] (1)
TR-Beta Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
FBPase Program Metabasis […***…] (1)
TOTAL  $29,000,000  

** Includes the Exercise Fee

(1) The aggregate number of shares of Viking Securities issued to Ligand and/or Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to Section 
5.1(b) and this SCHEDULE 6 shall be as follows.

(a) In the event the valuation of the Company as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction, based on the 
number of shares of capital stock of Viking outstanding calculated on a Fully-Diluted Basis (as defined below) as of 
immediately prior to the Financing Transaction (and prior to giving effect to the issuance of any shares of Viking 
Securities in the Financing Transaction) (the “Pre-Money Valuation”), is up to or equal to […***…], the aggregate 
number of shares of Viking Securities issued to Ligand and Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to this Agreement (for 
purposes of this subsection (a), the “MLA Shares”) shall be equal to:

[…***…]

Notwithstanding the previous sentence, and subject to the subsequent sentence, in the event the MLA Shares, 
when added to any shares of Viking Securities that Ligand purchases in the Financing Transaction, represents in 
excess of 49.90% of the outstanding Viking Securities immediately following the Financing Transaction, including 
without limitation any shares issued in connection with the Financing Transaction (the “Ownership Cap”), then the 
number of MLA Shares acquired hereunder shall be reduced by a number of shares (for purposes of this subsection 
(a), the “Cutback Shares”) which results in Ligand owning a number of Viking Securities immediately after the 
Financing Transaction not exceeding the Ownership Cap.

Amended Schedule 6-1
 

 



 

Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in the event the Financing Transaction is a Public Offering and the 
underwriters are granted and exercise an option to purchase additional shares (the “Overallotment Shares”), then 
Viking shall issue to Ligand at the time of the closing of the Overallotment Shares, a number of additional shares of 
Viking Securities equal to the number of Overallotment Shares, but not to exceed the number of Cutback Shares; 
provided that in no event shall the aggregate number of (i) MLA Shares, plus (ii) the shares of Viking Securities that 
Ligand purchases in the Financing Transaction, plus (iii) the shares of Viking Securities that Ligand receives upon 
the closing of the Overallotment Shares exceed the Ownership Cap.

For purposes of this Amended Schedule 6, “Fully-Diluted Basis” means the total number of shares that (i) includes 
(A) all then-outstanding shares and shares issuable under then-outstanding equity awards and warrants (if any) as 
of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction (and prior to giving effect to the issuance of any shares of Viking 
Securities in the Financing Transaction), (B) shares (and options to purchase shares) issuable pursuant to 
consulting agreements then in effect, (C) shares issuable to holders of then-outstanding convertible notes (but 
excluding convertible notes held by Ligand) and (D) any outstanding shares of common stock issued prior to the 
Financing Transaction, as may be adjusted pursuant to any repurchase, recapitalization, reclassification, stock split, 
reverse stock split or similar transaction, as well as the shares of Viking Securities to be issued to Ligand pursuant 
to Section 5.1(b) of the Agreement and this Schedule 6, and (ii) excludes (W) shares of common stock issuable 
pursuant to employment agreements and employee offer letters then in effect, (X) any other shares of common 
stock and equity awards issued or issuable in, upon or following the closing of the Financing Transaction, (Y) shares 
reserved pursuant to Viking’s equity incentive plan (unless the shares are subject to an award outstanding under the 
plan as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction), and (Z) shares reserved pursuant to Viking’s employee 
stock purchase plan.

For the purposes of the dollar amounts, the shares of Viking common stock shall be valued at the price per share 
provided in Section 5.1(b) (in the case of an initial public offering, the IPO Price per share to the public as defined in 
Section 1.38 of the Agreement).

For example, if the Pre-Money Valuation is equal to […***…], Ligand would be entitled to […***…], or […***…], of 
the total […***…] shares, while the other holders of Viking Securities would be entitled to […***…], or […***…], of 
the total […***…] shares; if the IPO Price […***…], is equal to […***…] per share, then in this example Ligand 
would receive […***…] shares as MLA Shares and the other holders of Viking Securities would hold […***…] shares 
as of immediately prior to the Financing Transaction. 
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Next, in this example, if Ligand purchases […***…] in a Public Offering with an aggregate size of […***…] with the 
same […***…] per share IPO Price, Ligand would receive […***…] shares in the Public Offering for an aggregate 
ownership of […***…] shares and the other holders of Viking Securities would initially be allocated […***…] shares 
in the Public Offering for an aggregate ownership of […***…] shares.  With a post-Public Offering valuation of […
***…], the number of Viking Securities outstanding after giving effect to the issuance […***…] shares in the Public 
Offering would be […***…]. Investors in the Public Offering other than Ligand would own […***…] shares (that is, […
***…]). To prevent Ligand from exceeding the Ownership Cap, and based on the aggregate ownership of the 
holders of Viking Securities other than Ligand, Ligand could not hold more than […***…] shares (that is, […***…]) 
and thus the Cutback Shares would equal […***…], or […***…] shares. The other holders of Viking Securities as of 
immediately prior to the Public Offering would own […***…] shares of common stock (that is, […***…]).

Finally, in this example, if the underwriters exercised their overallotment option for the full […***…] Overallotment 
Shares (that is, […***…] of the initial […***…] shares offered at […***…] per share for an aggregate offering price of 
[…***…]), then Ligand would receive an additional […***…] shares, which is the number of shares required to 
increase Ligand’s ownership to […***…].  At the end of this example, Ligand would own […***…] shares (that is, […
***…]) and the other holders of Viking Securities would hold […***…] shares, of which investors in the Public 
Offering other than Ligand would own […***…] shares and the other holders of Viking Securities as of immediately 
prior to the Public Offering would own […***…] shares.

 (b) In the event the Pre-Money Valuation is greater than […***…], the aggregate number of shares of Viking 
Securities issued to Ligand and Metabasis (collectively) pursuant to this Agreement (for purposes of this subsection 
(b), the “MLA Shares”) shall be equal to: 

[…***…]

 

 

 

 

Notwithstanding the previous sentence, and subject to the subsequent sentence, in the event the MLA Shares, 
when added to any shares of Viking Securities that Ligand purchases in the Financing Transaction, represents in 
excess of the Ownership Cap, then the number of MLA Shares acquired hereunder shall be reduced by a number of 
shares (for purposes of this subsection (b), the “Cutback Shares”) which results in Ligand owning a number of 
Viking Securities immediately after the Financing Transaction not exceeding the Ownership Cap.
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Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in the event the Financing Transaction is a Public Offering and the 
underwriters are granted and exercise an option to purchase Overallotment Shares, then Viking shall issue to 
Ligand at the time of the closing of the Overallotment Shares, a number of additional shares of Viking Securities 
equal to the number of Overallotment Shares, but not to exceed the number of Cutback Shares; provided that in no 
event shall the aggregate number of (i) the MLA Shares, plus (ii) the shares of Viking Securities that Ligand 
purchases in the Financing Transaction, plus (iii) the shares of Viking Securities that Ligand receives upon the 
closing of the underwriter’s option to purchase additional shares exceed the Ownership Cap.

For the purposes of the dollar amounts, the shares of Viking common stock shall be valued at the price per share 
provided in Section 5.1(b) (in the case of an initial public offering, the IPO Price per share to the public as defined in 
Section 1.38 of the Agreement).
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AMENDED SCHEDULE 7
 

LICENSED PRODUCT MILESTONES AND ROYALTIES[1]

 
 

 
A. Development and Commercial Milestones. 

 1. FBPase Program: Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first, second, third and fourth different Indication of a Licensed Product containing an FBPase 
Compound to achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which 
addresses and achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any 
other) milestone event as to another one or more of the Indications) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate 
or its Sublicensee. 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the fourth 
Indication

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.1 for all 
Licensed Products containing an FBPase Compound and all Indications are $240,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.1 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to four times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if an Indication is discontinued after 
a milestone payment has been made.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________

[1] Note to draft: milestones and royalties are to be paid to Ligand or Metabasis as applicable for each Licensed Program. 
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 2. DGAT-1 Program: Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first and second different Indication of a Licensed Product containing a DGAT-1 Compound to 
achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which addresses and 
achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any other) 
milestone event as to another one or more of the Indications) whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate or its 
Sublicensee. 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the 
second Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.2 for all 
Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound are $156,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.2 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to two times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if the Development of a particular 
Licensed Product is discontinued after a milestone payment has been made.

 3. EPOR Program: Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first, second and third different Indication of a Licensed Product containing an EPOR Compound to 
achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which addresses and 
achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any other) 
milestone event as to another Indication) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate or its Sublicensee.
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Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the third 
Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.3 for all 
Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound are $144,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.3 shall be due and 
payable only (or up to three times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if the Development of a particular 
Licensed Product is discontinued after a milestone payment has been made.

 4. SARM Program: Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with 
respect to the first and the second different Indication of a Licensed Product containing a SARM Compound to 
achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which addresses and 
achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any other) 
milestone event as to another Indication) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate or its Sublicensee. 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the 
second Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.4 for all 
Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound are $170,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.4 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to two times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if an Indication is discontinued after 
a milestone payment has been made.
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 5. TR-Beta Program: Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments 
with respect to the first, the second and the third different Indication of a Licensed Product containing a TR-Beta 
Compound to achieve the following milestone events (without regard to whether the Licensed Product which 
addresses and achieves a milestone event with respect to a respective Indication also achieved the same (or any 
other) milestone event as to another one or more of the Indications) and whether achieved by Viking, its Affiliate 
or its Sublicensee. 

 
Milestone event payable for each Indication up to the third 
Indication
 

Milestone Payment

[…***…] […***…]
 

For the avoidance of doubt, the total maximum milestone payments payable under this Section A.5 for all 
Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound are $225,000,000.

With respect to each milestone event, the milestone payments to be made under this Section A.5 shall be due and 
payable only once (or up to three times, as the case may be) as indicated, even if an Indication is discontinued 
after a milestone payment has been made.

 6. Payment of Development, Commercial and Special Milestones. Viking shall promptly, but in no event later 
than […***…] days following each achievement of a milestone event set forth in this Section A, notify Ligand in 
writing of the achievement of such milestone event and shall pay the relevant milestone payment within […***…] 
days thereafter.
 
B. Sublicense Milestone Payments. Viking shall pay Metabasis a one-time, non-refundable milestone payment 
of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000) upon the occurrence of a First Commercial Sale of 
an FBPase Compound by a Sublicensee (which, for clarity, shall not include a Sublicense to a contract 
manufacturer in connection with Commercialization).
 
Viking shall promptly, but in no event later than […***…] days following the achievement of the milestone event 
set forth in this Section B, notify Ligand in writing of the achievement of such milestone event and shall pay the 
milestone payment within […***…] days thereafter.
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C. Sales Milestone Payments.
 
 1. DGAT-1. Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect 
to Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a DGAT-1 Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

 

 2. FBPase. Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect 
to Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a FBPase Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]
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 3. EPOR. Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect to 
Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing an EPOR Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

 
 4. SARM. Viking shall pay Ligand the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect to 
Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]
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 5. TR-Beta. Viking shall pay Metabasis the following one-time, non-refundable milestone payments with respect 
to Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound as follows: 

 
Milestone event payable 
 

Milestone Payment

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

The end of the […***…] during which cumulative Net Sales for 
all Licensed Products containing a TR-Beta Compound reach or 
surpass […***…]

[…***…]

 
 6. Payment of Sales Milestones. Viking shall include in its report delivered each […***…] under Section 5.5 of 
this Agreement a notation regarding the achievement of such milestone event and for which category or 
categories of Licensed Products it has been achieved. Viking shall pay the relevant milestone payment 
concurrently with the payment of royalties based on the applicable […***…] report.
 
D. Royalty Payments.
 
 1. DGAT-1. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Metabasis a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any DGAT-1 Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a DGAT-1 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
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By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Metabasis for such Net Sales would 
be […***…], calculated as follows:

   […***…]

 
 2. FBPase. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Metabasis a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any FBPase Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a FBPase 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
 

By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Metabasis for such Net Sales would 
be […***…], calculated as follows:

   […***…]
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 3. EPOR. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Ligand a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any EPOR Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing an EPOR 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
 

By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Ligand for such Net Sales would be 
[…***…], calculated as follows:

[…***…] 
 
 4. SARM. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Ligand a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any SARM Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below:
 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a SARM 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
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By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Ligand for such Net Sales would be 
[…***…], calculated as follows:

[…***…] 
 

 5. TR-Beta. Viking shall, during the applicable Royalty Term, pay to Metabasis a royalty on aggregate annual 
worldwide Net Sales by Viking and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of all Licensed Products with one or more Valid 
Claims Covering any TR-Beta Compound contained in such Licensed Products, at the percentage rates set forth 
below: 

Annual worldwide Net Sales of Licensed Products Containing a TR-Beta 
Compound per Calendar Year (U.S. Dollars)

Incremental Royalty 
Rate

For Net Sales of such a Licensed Product from […***…] up to and including […
***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] 
and less than or equal to […***…]

[…***…]%

For that portion of Net Sales of a Licensed Product that is greater than […***…] […***…]%
 

By way of illustration, assume in a Calendar Year that aggregate worldwide annual Net Sales of all such Licensed 
Products total $950,000,000. The total royalties due and payable by Viking to Metabasis for such Net Sales would 
be […***…], calculated as follows:

[…***…] 
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 6. Royalty Payable if no Valid Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in each country where  there is no Valid Claim 
Covering the applicable Compound contained in the Licensed Products that would be infringed by the sale of such Licensed 
Product in such country absent a license with respect  to Licensor Patents under this Agreement, then the applicable royalty 
rate set forth in this Section D above as applied to the sale of such Licensed Product in each such country shall be […***…] 
as follows:  (a) with respect to Licensed Products containing a SARM Compound or a TR-Beta Compound, by […***…] (i.e., 
the applicable royalty rate shall be […***…] the rates set forth in the tables above) and such […***…] royalty shall be 
payable for the remaining Royalty Term for such Licensed Products; and (b) with respect to all other Licensed Products, by 
[…***…] (i.e., the applicable royalty rate shall be […***…] the rates set forth in the tables above) and such […***…] royalty 
shall be payable for the remaining Royalty Term for all other Licensed Products. 
 
7. Required Third Party License. If Viking, after arm’s-length negotiation, obtains a license from a Third Party to an issued 
and unexpired Patent the claims of which would be infringed by Viking making, using, selling, offering for sale or importing a 
Licensed Product, Viking may offset […***…] of the applicable Licensed Product in the applicable country; provided that in 
no event shall the royalty rates payable to Licensor with respect to the applicable Licensed Product in the applicable country 
be reduced by more than […***…].
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Brian Lian, Ph.D., certify that:

1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Viking Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by 
this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date:  July 24, 2024  By: /s/ Brian Lian, Ph.D.
   Brian Lian, Ph.D.

   Chief Executive Officer

 
 



 

 
EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Greg Zante, certify that:

1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Viking Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by 
this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date:  July 24, 2024  By: /s/ Greg Zante
   Greg Zante
   Chief Financial Officer
 
 



 

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Viking Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended June 30, 2024 as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to their knowledge that:

(1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

 
By: /s/ Brian Lian, Ph.D.  By: /s/ Greg Zante
 Brian Lian, Ph.D.   Greg Zante
 Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer
 July 24, 2024   July 24, 2024
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification accompanies the Report, is not deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language 
contained in such filing.




